Flood Risk Assessment of the Crocodile River, Mpumalanga

By: Siyasanga Sauka

Student No: 0504584n

Supervisor: Prof. Jasper Knight

A dissertation submitted to the School of Geography, Archaeology and Environmental Studies, Faculty of Science at the University of the Witwatersrand, Johannesburg, in fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science.

Johannesburg, 2016

DECLARATION

I declare that this dissertation is my own, unaided work. It is being submitted for the degree of Master of Science at the University of the Witwatersrand, Johannesburg. It has not been submitted before for any degree or examination in any other university.

Signed by: Miss S. Sauka (0504584n)

ABSTRACT

The Crocodile River East in Mpumalanga Province, South Africa, has seen three major floods in a twenty-four-month period, specifically January 2011, January 2012 and January 2013. The damage included the loss of life, damage and/or loss of public or private properties, agricultural land loss, and damage to biodiversity and river geomorphology.

The purpose of this study was to understand the consequences and risks to livelihoods and river basin systems due to flooding of the river. The study focused on a segment of the Crocodile River East, between Riverside and Tekwane.

The study used historic hydro-climatic data for the Crocodile River to determine the critical threshold for past flood events and to predict the extent of future flood events. Hydrological modelling coupled with the HEC-RAS hydraulic model enabled the simulation of these future flood events. The use of orthophotos and digital elevation models (DEMs) allowed for a spatial representation of the areas affected during the flood events. Flood hazard maps and flood risk maps were then developed for the identified flood events within a Geographical Information System (GIS). The maps enabled the identification of high risk and flood prone areas along this segment of the Crocodile River Basin.

The results showed that when discharge reaches 241.75 m³/s, both locations (Riverside and Tekwane) are at risk to flooding. This is therefore the threshold for which the two locations are likely to be flooded.

This study provides a methodology to determine the spatial extent of past and modelled future river flood events. As such, outcomes of this study may aid in the understanding of flood hazard extent and flood prone areas, and may thus help catchment management authorities and institutions in flood reconstruction and flood risk management. The employed methodology can aid effective spatial planning, and can also be extended at the basin scale through integration with the existent flood warning system to gain an estimate of flood extent and flood risk.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I want to thank Prof. Jasper Knight for his valuable support and constantly guiding me throughout this research. In particular, I would like to thank him for providing critical and valuable comments and advice that informed this research. In spite of my relocation, he was accommodative and extremely adaptable, for which I will forever be grateful for. His help has been indispensable and I cannot imagine how I would have achieved this research without his guidance, patience and support.

I would like to thank the NASA Land Processes Distributed Active Archive Centre User Services and the Customer Services Department at the USGS Earth Resources Observation and Science (EROS) for their assistance with obtaining Digital Elevation Models (DEMs) for my research. Your assistant with the various packages and with navigating the USGS website was indispensable.

And lastly, I would also like to thank the Department of Water Sanitation (DWS) for making hydrological and meteorological data available on their website, without which this study would have been impossible.

CONTENTS PAGE

ABSTRACTII		
ACKN	OWLEDGEMENTS	
LIST C	DF FIGURES	/11
LIST C	DF TABLESI	Χ
1. IN	ITRODUCTION	1
1.1	Problem Statement	3
1.2 1.2.1 1.2.2	Research Question, Aims and Objectives Research Question Research Aims Research Objectives	5556
1 3	Research Methodology	6
1.0	Structure of Dissertation	8
1.4		0
2. LI	TERATURE REVIEW1	0
2.1	Introduction	0
2.2	Flood Typology	1
2.2.1	Flood Prone Areas	2
2.2.2	2 Flood Frequency	2
2.3	Causes of Floods Weather Systems	13
2.3.2	2 Land-Use and River Basin Characteristics 1	5
2.4	Flood Risk 1	8
2.4.1	Flood Risk Framework1	8
25	Flood Distribution and Flood Manning	26
2.5.1	Hydrological Modelling	<u>27</u>
2.5.2	2 Hydraulic Modelling	32
2.5.4	Flood Hazard Mapping	39
2.6	Floods under Changing Climate Futures	11
2.6.1	Southern Africa	12
2.6.2	2 South Africa2 3 Mpumalanga Province	14 16
2.6.4	Limitations and Uncertainties of Future Climate Projections	18
2.7	Conclusions	19
3. S [.]	TUDY AREA	50
3.1	General Description of Study Area	50
3.2	Physical Properties of the Study Area	52
3.2.1	Topography	52
3.2.2	2 Geology	4כ

3. 3.	.2.3 .2.4	Soil Typology Ecology	. 55 . 56
3. 3.	.2.5 .2.6	Land Cover and Land Use Typology	. 56 . 57
23	Clim	natological Properties of the Study Area	58
3.	.3.1	Rainfall	. 58
3.	.3.2	Temperature	. 60
3.4	Hyd	rological Properties of the Study Area	. 61
3.5	Con	clusions	. 62
4.	DATA	ACQUISITION, ANALYSIS AND METHODOLOGY	.63
4.1	Hyd	ro-Climatic Data	. 63
4.	.1.1	Data Acquisition	. 63
4.	.1.2	Data Analysis	. 65
4.	.1.3	Data Processing	.72
4.2	Тор	ographical Data	. 72
4.	.2.1	Data Acquisition	.72
4. 4	.2.2	Data Processing	. 74
4.0	.2.0		. 70
4.3 4	Lan	Data Acquisition	. 76 76
4.	.3.2	Data Analysis	.70
4.	.3.3	Data Processing	. 79
4.4	Floo	od Mapping	. 80
4.	.4.1	Segment Identification	. 80
4.	.4.2	Historical Flood Map	. 83
4.	.4.3	Hydraulic Modelling Overview	. 83
4.5	Floo	d Risk Identification	. 85
4. 1	.5.1 5.2	Assessing Kisk	28. 88
4.	.J.Z Con	Identification of Flood Nisk Areas	. 00 . 88
4.0	001		. 00
5.	HISTO	DRIC FLOOD ASSESSMENT OF THE CROCODILE RIVER	. 87
5.1	Bac	kground	. 87
5.2	Ider	tified Flood Events	. 87
5.	.2.1	The February 2009 Flood	. 88
5.	.2.2	The January 2012 Flood	. 90
5.3	Con	clusions	. 92
6.	DETE	RMINING FUTURE FLOOD EVENTS FOR THE CROCODILE RIVE	ER
	93		
6.1	Esti	mating Future Rainfall Events	. 93
6.2	Esti	mating Runoff during High Rainfall Events	. 93
6.3	Rair	nfall and Hydrological Scenarios	. 95
6.4	Con	clusions	. 97
7			00
1.	LOC		33

Introduction	
Previous Flood Events 7.2.1 Base Scenario X (in February 2009) 7.2.2 Base Scenario Y (in January 2012) 7.2.3 Scenario Z (in January 2012)	
Future Flood Events7.3.1Flood Event: Scenario X17.3.2Flood Event: Scenario X27.3.3Flood Event: Scenario Y17.3.4Flood Event: Scenario Y2	
Synthesis: Flood Extent	104
Conclusions	105
SPATIAL FLOOD RISK ASSESSMENT	106
	106
Future Food Risk Profile	107
8.2.1 Segment 1: Tekwane	
8.2.2 Segment 2: Riverside	109
Discussion	111
Conclusions	112
CONCLUSIONS	113
Limitations of Research	114
Revisiting the Research Aims	116
Recommendations for Further Research	117
REFERENCES	118
PENDIX A: SUPPORTING INFORMATION	143
Estimating Future Floods – The Rainfall-Runoff Relationship	143
Data for Flood Scenarios	145
PENDIX B: FLOOD HAZARD AND SPATIAL RISK MAPPING	
Hydraulic Modelling	
Spatial Risk Assessment	153
	Introduction Previous Flood Events

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure Page
Figure 1.1: Flowchart Representation of the Methodology used in this Study
Figure 2.4: Flood Risk as the Combination of Hazard and Vulnerability (Eleutério, 2012)
Figure 2.5: Types of flood hazard maps - (a) historical (event) maps, (b) extent maps and (c) flood depth maps. (Source: De Moel et al., 2009). 40 Figure 2.6: Current and Projected Mean Annual Precipitation by 2100 (Source: Davis, 2010). 47 Figure 3.1: Location of the Crocodile River (East) in North-East South Africa 50 Figure 3.2: The Incomati Catchment.
Figure 3.3: The Crocodile River (East) in South Africa
 (m.a.s.l.)) (Data Source: USGS, 2014)
Figure 3.11: Mean Annual Precipitation (MAP) in the Crocodile Catchment (Data Source: WRC, 2011)
Gallery, 2015)
Figure 3.13: The Natural Mean Annual Runoff (million m ³ /a) for the Sub-Catchments in the Crocodile Catchment (Data Source: WRC, 2011)
Figure 4.1: Weather and Gauging Stations in the Crocodile Catchment
Figure 4.3: Daily Rainfall for the X2E010 Weather Station at Witklip Dam (1 Aug 2004 - 30 Apr 2014)
Figure 4.4: Daily Rainfall for the X2E013 Weather Station at Kwena Dam (1 Aug 2004 - 30 Apr 2014)
Figure 4.5: Daily Water Levels at the X2H006 Gauging Station at Karino (1 Aug 2004 - 30 Apr 2014)
- 30 Apr 2014)
30 Apr 2014)
2004 - 30 Apr 2014)

Figure 4.9: The Two ASTER DEMs (Red Squares) used for this Research (Data Source):
USGS, 2014)	74
Figure 4.10: The Two Converted DEMs (Red Squares) used for this Research	75
Figure 4.11: Location of Segment along the Crocodile River (Pink Line). The Red Squar	е
Indicates Tekwane and the Orange Square Indicates Riverside	80
Figure 4.12: Location of the Selected Segment along the Crocodile River (Pink Line)	81
Figure 4.13: Satellite Map of the Selected Segment along the Crocodile River (Pink Line	.)
	81
Figure 4 14: Google Map Imagery and the Longitudinal Profile of Location 1 (Tekwane)	• ·
along the Crocodile River	82
Figure 4.15: Google Man Imagery and the Longitudinal Profile of Location 2 (Riverside)	02
along the Crocodile River	82
Figure 4.16: Process flow diagram for using ArcGIS_HEC-GeoRAS and HEC-RAS	02
(Adapted from LISACE 2009)	81
Figure 4.17: Approach for Conducting a Flood Pick Assossment involving (1) a Hazard	04
Component and (2) a Vulnerability Component	05
Figure 5.1: Deily reinfell during the Echrycry 2000 Elect (in mm)	00
Figure 5.1. Daily fairlian during the February 2009 Flood (in finiti)	00
Figure 5.2: Discharge (flow) rates and water levels during the February 2009 flood	89
Figure 5.3: Extract from a news report on the February 2009 flood (Source: IoL News,	~~
2009)	89
Figure 5.4: Daily rainfall during the January 2012 flood (in mm)	90
Figure 5.5: Discharge (flow) rates and water levels during the January 2012 flood	90
Figure 5.6: Extract from a Media Briefing by the Department of Water Affairs on the	
January 2012 Flood (Source: Mpumalanga Provincial Gov., 2012)	91
Figure 5.7: Images of the January 2012 Flood: a) Crocodile River at Malelane Gate; b)	
Crocodile Bridge Gate (Source: SAGR Forum, 2012)	92
Figure 6.1: Median impact of climate change on the average annual catchment runoff for	r
the period 2040–2050. The Crocodile (East) catchment is circled in red (Source: DEA,	
2013)	94
Figure 6.2: The seven scenarios for hydraulic modelling (given as m ³ /s)	97
Figure 7.1: Flood extent map for the Base Scenario X	00
Figure 7.2: Flood extent map for the Base Scenario Y1	01
Figure 7.3: Flood extent map for the Scenario Z1	01
Figure 7.4: Flood extent map for the Scenario X11	02
Figure 7.5: Flood extent map for the Scenario X2	02
Figure 7.6: Flood extent map for the Scenario Y1	03
Figure 7.7: Flood extent map for the Scenario Y2	03
Figure 7.8: Change in the area flooded (i.e. flood extent) under each scenario	04
Figure 8.1: Spatial Flood Risk Profile for Tekwane, with the Crocodile River shown as a	
white line	08
Figure 8.2. Spatial Flood Risk Profile for Riverside, with the Crocodile River shown as a	00
white line	09
Figure 8.3: Daily discharge readings for all 6 gauging stations (shown as points) and the	20
7 flood scenarios (shown as straight lines)	11
Figure A 1: Ratios of MAR to MAP over South Africa. Illustrating the Low Conversion	
Rate of Rainfall to Runoff (Schulze, 2011) The Inkomati catchment is circled in red. 1	лл
Tate of Raman to Ruhon (Schulze, 2017). The inkomati catchment is circled in red	44

LIST OF TABLES

TablePage
Table 2.1: Flood Typology11
Table 2.2: Meteorological Processes responsible for Floods in South Africa14
Table 2.3: Runoff Estimation Methods
Table 2.4: Hydraulic Models
Table 4.1: Weather Stations in the Inkomati WMA (Data obtained from DWS's HIS at
www.dwaf.gov.za/hydrology/. Accessed: 31 May 2014)64
Table 4.2: Gauging Stations along the Crocodile River (East) (Data obtained from DWS's
HIS at www.dwaf.gov.za/hydrology/. Accessed: 31 May 2014)64
Table 4.3: Description of Quality Codes for Data Entries (Data obtained from DWS's HIS
at www.dwaf.gov.za/hydrology/. Accessed: 31 May 2014)65
Table 4.4: Analysis of All Data Records for Weather Stations (Data Range: 02 October
1929 – 10 April 2014)
Table 4.5: Analysis of All Water Level and Discharge Rate Data Records for Gauging
Stations (Data Range: 02 October 1929 – 10 April 2014)
Table 4.6: Summary of the Data Quality of All Stations (Data Range: 02 October 1929 –
10 April 2014)
Table 4.7: Topographical data sources in South Africa 72
Table 4.8: Aerial and Satellite Imagery Available for South Africa. The imagery used for
this dissertation is indicated in italics
Table 4.9: Approach for Conducting a Risk Assessment (Text adapted from: Gilard, 1996;
Shrestha et al., 2002; Manadhar, 2010)85
Table 6.1: Estimating a Percentage Increase in Runoff 95
Table 6.2: Peak runoff for the scenarios for hydraulic modelling (values are given as m ³ /s)
Table 7.1: The area flooded under each scenario (values are given as km ²) 104
Table 8.1: Risk Rating System
Table A.1: Two Base and Four Flood Scenarios for Hydraulic Modelling (Values for Flood
X (Feb 2009) and Flood Y (Jan 2012) are given as m ³ /s)145

CHAPTER 1 - INTRODUCTION

1. INTRODUCTION

Within the next 50 years, the number of people facing water stress will increase dramatically (Arnell, 2004). This is because economic development, human settlement patterns, population distribution and infrastructure requirements are drawn to places where fresh water resources are abundant. However, freshwater ecosystems, especially river systems, have experienced rapid degradation due to the past century of water resources development and are particularly vulnerable to the added effects of climate change (Palmer *et al.*, 2008; Pittock *et al.*, 2008; Vorosmarty *et al.*, 2010).

Freshwater ecosystems in Africa are at risk from anthropogenic land use change, over-extraction of water and diversions from rivers and lakes, and increased pollution and sedimentation loading in water bodies (Vörösmarty *et al.*, 2005; Vié *et al.*, 2009; Darwall *et al.*, 2011). Climate change is also beginning to affect freshwater ecosystems (Niang *et al.*, 2014). Small variations in climate can cause wide fluctuations in the thermal dynamics of freshwaters (Odada *et al.*, 2006; Stenuite *et al.*, 2007; Verburg and Hecky, 2009; Moss, 2010; Olaka *et al.*, 2010), seasonal flow, and climate extremes (i.e. floods and droughts).

There are numerous factors that result in the fluctuation of hydrological systems. These include changes in weather patterns, land use and agricultural practices, infrastructure developments along the river basin, surface and groundwater dynamics, temperature variability and evaporation, as well as changes in the intensity and frequency of rainfall. The inter-connected nature of hydrological systems results in a cause and effect relationship between the fore-mentioned factors. For example, impacts of land use practices on surface water can be divided into (i) impacts on the overall water availability or the mean annual runoff, and (ii) impacts on the seasonal distribution of water availability (such as impacts on peak flows) (Kiersch, 2001).

Student No: 0504584n

According to the 2014 IPCC Africa Report (Niang *et al.*, 2014), the weather patterns on the African continent are predicted to become more variable, with extreme events becoming more frequent and severe. This includes an increase in inland flooding, as well as the inundation of coastal areas due to sea-level rise. Future precipitation projections show changes in the scale of the rainfall probability distribution, indicating that extremes of both signs may become more frequent in the future (Kay and Washington, 2008). Climate extremes are attributed to changes in relative humidity and increased global mean temperature, which affects parameters such as wind velocities, soil moisture and erosion, vegetation cover and precipitation patterns; these factors ultimately influence the occurrence of floods, hurricanes, droughts, storms and landslides.

In recent years, there has been a significant increase in floods around the world, in both developed and developing countries. Not only the frequency, but the severity of floods has increased to such an extent that 100-year floods are becoming annual occurrences (UNISDR, 2004; Wisner *et al.*, 2004; Shamaoma *et al.*, 2006; Alho *et al.*, 2008; Klijn, 2009). There has also been an increase in the number of El Niño-related high rainfall events, coastal inundation, and storm surges. Changes in tropical cyclone landfall from the southwest Indian Ocean have resulted in intense floods in Eastern Africa during the 20th Century (Kay and Washington, 2008).

As a result of changing weather patterns, people, assets and river basin characteristics will be exposed to water-related disasters at an increasing rate. This is of concern as development strategies are currently not able to counter current climate risks. There is increased knowledge of maladaptation risks from narrowly conceived development interventions and sectoral adaptation strategies that decrease resilience in other sectors or ecosystems. Given multiple uncertainties in the African context, successful adaptation will depend on building resilience (Niang *et al.*, 2014).

Therefore, in order to understand the risks to human livelihood and river basin characteristics that may be caused by flood events, this study focuses on providing a spatial representation that identifies flood prone areas along the Crocodile River Basin in Mpumalanga Province, South Africa. The approach taken in this study is

2

to initially define the flood risk paradigm and the climate change impacts on water resources. By using historic hydro-climate data and future rainfall projections, future hydrological scenarios were created and used to predict possible future flood events. The use of the HEC-RAS hydraulic model allowed for the spatial distribution of previous and predicted flood events to be simulated. Flood maps were then created within a Geographical Information System (GIS) for each of the studied future flood events. This enabled the identification of areas at risk during flooding of the Crocodile River Basin under certain future climatic scenarios.

The outcomes of this study may be valuable to catchment management authorities and institutions for decision making processes such as identifying possible flood extent and flood prone areas.

1.1 **Problem Statement**

A high proportion of people have settled on or near river banks. This is because water resources provide drinking water, and allow for the development of essential products and services such as agriculture, energy and transportation. This growth in population and settlements has resulted in the development and growth of urban and rural centres along river banks, and ultimately floodplains.

Naturally occurring rainfall events in the lowlands may be augmented by human interventions in the floodplains, such as road and river embankments (Kiersch, 2001). Highly populated floodplains are potentially dangerous to occupants during flood events, and can result in a loss of life and infrastructure. In order to minimise the risk to formal and informal settlements, current and future spatial and land-use planning should be informed by effective flood hazard assessment and flood zone planning. It is essential to steer developments and critical infrastructure away from hazard-prone areas through better land use planning and zoning (Asian Development Bank, 2013).

Flood events can have disastrous impacts in developing countries, which is mainly due to inadequate flood adaptation capacity. The consequential damages may include loss of life and public or private properties, agricultural land loss, and economic or monetary loss due to the shutdown of business and industry (Khan and Igbal, 2012). In Pakistan, the major source of frequent flooding is the Indus River system that comprises the major rivers of Pakistan (Khan and Igbal, 2012). It is reported that in Asia between 1996 and 2005, 472 flood-disasters killed 42,570 people and affected 1.3 billion people, resulting in economic losses estimated at USD\$ 129 billion (Satterthwaite, 2007). Similarly, over the same period, there were 290 flood-disasters in Africa alone, which left 8,183 people dead and 23 million people affected, resulting in economic losses of USD\$ 1.9 billion (Musungu *et al.*, 2012).

According to Midgley *et al.* (2005), floods are a major natural hazard in South Africa. Climate change could cause floods to increase due to fewer but more severe rainfall events (Midgley *et al.*, 2005). According to the Southern Africa Risk and Vulnerability Atlas (2011), climate change is likely to alter the magnitude, timing, and distribution of storms that produce flood events. Therefore, an increasing occupancy of floodplains and river banks may increase the risk of, damage and loss of life caused by flood events.

In South Africa, the principal state organisation, the Department of Water and Sanitation (DWS), is responsible for water resource management, planning, and guidance for water-related events including flooding. Local scale water management is performed by catchment management agencies (CMAs), which often have constraints such as large management areas and not enough resources. Thus, flood mapping is currently limited to historical maps created from previous flood events. Rural and sparsely located areas that are not considered as economic hubs or development zones are even more neglected, although some of these areas are prone to flood hazards and are highly influenced by flood events. These areas have even fewer flood assessments, flood maps, records of data and land-use change, and spatial planning systems.

In the recent past, the Crocodile River East in Mpumalanga Province has seen three major floods in a twenty-four-month period, in January 2011, January 2012 and in January 2013. The frequent flood events can be attributed to rainfall events from Indian Ocean cyclones that result in larger than usual volumes of water flowing into the river. This caused flooding of parts of the river basin, with associated erosion, loss of life and damage to infrastructure. Under climate change, similar flood events are likely. Understanding the spatial distribution of past flood events and projected future flood events is, therefore, the focus of this research.

1.2 Research Question, Aims and Objectives

The main objective of this research was to assess the spatial distribution of previous flood events along the Crocodile River Basin, to predict how future flood events are likely to be distributed, and to provide a spatial representation of flood-prone areas along the river basin.

1.2.1 Research Question

The research project was framed by the following research question:

What is the spatial extent of historic flood events on the Crocodile River Basin and which areas along the river banks are most at risk during future flood events of varying magnitudes?

1.2.2 Research Aims

Based on the above research question, this project had the following aims:

Aim 1: To evaluate the extent of previous flood events and identify the characteristics of the rainfalls that caused them.

Aim 2: To determine how these previous flood events have affected the Crocodile River Basin (e.g. impacts on settlements, human and physical characteristics).

Aim 3: To develop discharge and water level scenarios for possible future flood events for the Crocodile River, based on these historical events.

Aim 4: To develop flood maps for these future scenarios that identify flood-prone areas along the Crocodile River Basin.

Aim 5: To determine how future flood events are likely to affect the settlement patterns, human and physical characteristics of the Crocodile River Basin.

1.2.3 Research Objectives

In order to reach the above-mentioned research aims, the following research objectives have been set:

Objective 1: Conducting a high-level assessment of flood reports that highlight the flood events and flood prone areas over a 10-year period (August 2004 - April 2014). (*This objective is linked to Research Aim 1*)

Objective 2: Using the identified flood events and the discharge and water levels associated with these events to define the several characteristics of floods in the Crocodile River. (*This objective is linked to Research Aim 1*)

Objective 3: Creating flood maps of the Crocodile River Basin for these previous flood events. (*This objective is linked to Research Aim 2*)

Objective 4: Defining discharge and water level scenarios for possible future flood events for the Crocodile River, in the context of climate change. (*This objective is linked to Research Aim 3*)

Objective 5: Creating flood maps of the Crocodile River Basin for possible future flood events of various magnitudes. (*This objective is linked to Research Aim 4*)

Objective 6: Highlighting specific high-risk areas on the flood map by conducting a high-level spatial risk assessment of the Crocodile River Basin. *(This objective is linked to Research Aim 5)*

This research may be valuable in increasing knowledge of flood risk assessment, projecting future flood events under climate variability, predicting flood prone areas and guiding planning and decision making.

1.3 Research Methodology

This research was aimed at understanding flood events over the previous decade (2004 to 2014), the spatial distribution of flood events, as well as understanding the potential risk to the Crocodile River Basin under scenarios of increased rainfall. A graphical representation of the methodology that was used to meet the aims of this research is provided in Figure 1.1.

The historic rainfall and hydrological data for the Crocodile River Basin over the last decade (2004 to 2014) were sourced from the Hydrological Information System (HIS), a database belonging to the Department of Water and Sanitation (DWS), and analysed. In parallel, a review of written records of flood events on the river was used to identify and assess previous flood events over the last decade. The rainfall and hydrological characteristics of the identified past flood events were then assessed. These data, together with spatial data (i.e. topographic data), were then used as input data for hydraulic modelling, which was used to simulate the spatial distribution of these past flood events. For future flood events, current rainfall and hydrological scenarios. This was based on a rainfall-runoff assessment of the past data. The projected hydrological data, together with the spatial data for hydraulic modelling. This enabled the simulation of the spatial extent of future scenarios of flood events.



Figure 1.1: Flowchart Representation of the Methodology used in this Study

The use of orthophotos and digital elevation models (DEMs) allowed for spatial representation of flood extent during individual flood events. Flood hazard maps were then developed for the identified flood events. The flood hazard maps, together with detailed topography and other spatial data (e.g. land-use), were used

to develop flood risk maps for each of the identified flood events along the Crocodile River Basin.

The study focused on a 30 km segment of the Crocodile River East, between Riverside and Tekwane. This research did not take into account all natural processes affecting the catchment such as landslides or geology, but instead focused mainly on rainfall and runoff variability. A detailed analysis of the social characteristics of the basin was also not conducted with respect to vulnerability. These analyses require a wider and more complex framework, which was beyond the scope of this research.

Lastly, although data were available for more than 10 years for some gauging and weather stations (as illustrated in Chapter 4), the limited written records of flood events on the river made it difficult to analyse previous floods events. Therefore, a more recent time period was selected (i.e. 2004 to 2014) as this would enable a comparison and analysis between flood records and the hydro-climatic data.

1.4 Structure of Dissertation

Following this introductory chapter (Chapter 1), the remainder of this research will consists of eight chapters.

Chapter 2 provides the theoretical framework for the research project. This includes an investigation into different types of floods, focusing primarily on river floods, the flood risk framework, as well as the flood risk assessment framework. A description of the uses of hydraulic modelling and GIS for flood risk mapping is conducted. In addition, the climate change implications on flooding in South Africa, particularly the Mpumalanga province, will be explored.

In Chapter 3, an overview of various characteristics that influence flooding on the Crocodile River Basin is provided. This includes a description of the topography, geology, soils, ecology, land-use types and settlement patterns. In addition, the climatic and hydrological properties of the basin are discussed.

Chapter 4 provides a description of data acquisition, analysis and processing for the rainfall, hydrological characteristics (namely discharge and water levels), landuse characteristics and topography (i.e. DEMs). This includes an assessment of the decadal trend in rainfall experienced at weather stations in the Inkomati-Usuthu Water Management Area (WMA), as well as the runoff (i.e. discharge and water levels) readings at gauging stations along the Crocodile River. In addition, a description of the analytical approaches and software that were used to collect and analyse the data and the quality of the data is provided.

Chapter 5 provides an assessment of historic flood events. Two flood events are discussed, and their associated rainfall and hydrological characteristics are analysed. In addition, a brief description of the impacts of the floods is provided.

Chapter 6 provides an estimate of future flood events through the development of hydrological and flood scenarios. In addition, a brief description of the methodology employed for estimating flood events is provided.

Chapter 7 provides flood extent maps for the identified past and future flood events. This is based on the use of a hydraulic model and GIS to provide a spatial representation of the extent of the two previous flood events. The flood maps highlight flood prone areas along the Crocodile River.

Chapter 8 contains a discussion of the results and highlights the findings from the research. This discussion is focused on the flood risk maps of the locations along the segment of the Crocodile River.

In Chapter 9, the conclusions of the research are provided. The chapter also includes the limitations to the study, including data accuracy and completeness, and the availability of high-resolution DEMs. In addition, recommendations are made for aspects to be considered for further research.

Lastly, several appendices have been provided. The appendices provide additional information that supports the material provided in this dissertation.

9

CHAPTER 2 - LITERATURE REVIEW

2. LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1 Introduction

Floods are natural phenomena that are defined as the temporary inundation of normally dry land areas resulting from overflowing of the natural or artificial confines of a river or other body of water, including groundwater (Wisner *et al.*, 2004; Martini and Loat, 2007; EC, 2009a; Klijn, 2009). Hydrologists define floods as a peak in the water level due to an increase in discharge (Els, 2011). Nurritasari *et al.* (2015) defines floods as water inundation over the sub-catchment caused by overflowed water. The inundated water will recede through run off to a lower area or channel (Nurritasari *et al.*, 2015).

As stated by Eleutério (2012), floods are one of the most damaging natural events in the world. Statistics show a continuous increase of hydrological disaster events since 1980. In 2008, the Munich Re's database documented 750 loss events, with 292 of which being floods and landslides (Taubenböck *et al.*, 2011). The most adverse consequence of flooding is the impact on human health, resulting in psychological problems, injuries and loss of human life. There is also an additional loss of goods and disruption of activities and infrastructure as well as ecosystems and environmental issues which indirectly impact human livelihoods. Although floods are often viewed as negative and disastrous events, in some cases floods can generate benefits, such as in the case of the Nile floods that resulted in the fertilisation of floodplains (Eleutério, 2012).

Climate change and urbanization are arguably the most dramatic driving forces of global change. The combination of a climatologically driven increase of natural hazards, uncontrolled urban sprawl and changing urban patterns results in an increasing risk of flood events. Growing population trends, particularly in urban areas, imply a dimension of quantitative growth, a high concentration of people, and urban sprawl into potentially hazardous locations, such as mountain slopes or river floodplains. This high pressure on urban space and, hence, fast and

uncontrolled spatial growth and densification, creates settlements in inappropriate areas most likely to be exposed to natural hazards (Taubenböck et al., 2011).

2.2 Flood Typology

The flooding phenomenon is defined by meteorological, hydrological and landscape parameters; a flood event is thus caused by several factors, individually or in combination, that promote the difference between events in different contexts (Eleutério, 2012). Floods can be described according to the water source (origin), the geography of receiving area, the cause and the speed of onset. The water source of floods can originate from the ocean (coastal floods), rivers (fluvial floods), from underground (groundwater floods) and from rain (pluvial floods) (EC, 2009b; Klijn, 2009). The various types of floods are described in more detail in Table 2.1.

by water.

Pluvial floods	
Pluvial floods are caused by high to extreme rainfall that leads to the accumulation of rain water in	n Iow-
lying (relatively flat) areas. These floods have a slow onset and can be forecast days ahead, alth	nough
they can cause major damage, especially in urban areas, but rarely with fatalities (Klijn, 2009). In ad	dition
to pluvial floods, the limited or poor drainage of rain water in urban environments can lead to an inc	rease
in flooded areas even during normal rainfall periods.	
Riverine (fluvial) floods	
Riverine (fluvial) floods occur when the rate of rainfall exceeds the maximum capacity for storm	water
drains to remove the water and/or the maximum capacity for the surface to absorb water is exce	eded
(Vogel and Mgquba, 2004). Put differently, fluvial floods occur when the rainfall that is often transfo	prmed
into runoff and can normally be removed by the drainage systems, remains on the impervious su	irface
and flows as overland flow into topographic or local depressions to create temporary ponds (Els, 2	2011).
The flood onset is sometimes slow, and the river flow exceeds the carrying capacity of the river, ca	using
water to over flow onto the flood plains. This type of flood is often characterised by slow velocitie	s and
large inundated areas (Klijn, 2009). This type of event is the most devastating of all the different type	pes of
floods due to the high flow, as well as the number of people and aspects exposed to it.	
Flash floods (or fast floods)	
Flash floods (or fast floods) are caused by continuous rainfall in the same areas, or by intense ra	ainfall
over a short time period. This type of flood occurs mainly in mountainous or hilly locations, when exce	essive
rainfall occurs at the upper reaches of the river, or in urban areas where anthropogenic surfaces c	annot
absorb the surface water. The floods form when rainfall falls too fast or too abundantly for the grou	ind to
absorb it. The high velocity and debris load of flash floods (Martini and Loat, 2007; Wright, 2008)	often
results in high fatalities and severe damages (Klijn, 2009). The difficulty in forecasting them make	early
warning and evacuation very difficult (Bunn and Arthington, 2002).	
Coastal (marine) floods	
Coastal (marine) floods are caused by coastal storms or large waves caused by physical earth proc	esses
such as tsunamis. This type of flood affects large areas and causes huge losses in human life	e and
livelihoods, as the flooding is accompanied by waves, high velocity water and floating debris that	resul
in beach erosion and extensive damage to infrastructure along the coast (Wright, 2008). The on-	set of
coastal storms can usually be forecast between days to a few hours ahead (Klijn, 2009) while pos	ssible
storm surges can occur within four to eight hours after the storm has started (Wright, 2008).	
Groundwater floods (seepage	4 - 1- 2
Groundwater floods (seepage) are caused by water rising to the ground surface due to a high water	table
(Kijn, 2009). This type of flood has a slow onset, and is formed during periods where the soil is satu	irated

2.2.1 Flood Prone Areas

Environments that are vulnerable to floods include alluvial fans, low-lying inland shorelines, low-lying deltas, coasts and low-lying parts of major floodplains (Smith, 2004). Flood prone areas can be defined as the areas that are vulnerable to floods along a river, and can be either a floodway or a floodplain (Els, 2011), as illustrated in Figure 2.1.



Figure 2.1: A floodway within a floodplain (FEMA, 2006)

A floodplain represents all areas surrounding the river channel that can be inundated during the occurrence of a flood (FEMA, 2008; Wright, 2008). The probability of floods decreases as the slope of the floodplain increases (Alexander, 2000). Floodplains are, therefore "flood-prone" and are hazardous to development activities if the vulnerability of those activities exceeds an acceptable level of sustainable water resource use within the catchment (Penning-Rowsell, 1996).

A floodway is the minimum area within a floodplain that is required to provide sufficient passage for a given volume of water during periods of high rainfall that cause river basins to over flow, or during flood events. The floodway can be differentiated from the floodplain by its deep water level, high flow velocity and containing turbulent and sediment rich flow, which often causes erosion (Els, 2011). No development should take place in the floodway and only critical infrastructure such as bridges should be allowed within it (UNISDR, 2004; Wright, 2008).

2.2.2 Flood Frequency

Flood frequency analysis is used to determine the probability of the occurrence of a flood event of a particular magnitude. Flood lines are an indication of the water level of a flood with a specified annual exceedance probability (Alexander, 2000). A flood line is shown as a line on a spatial representation (e.g. map, drawing) where the water surface level intersects with the land surface. It depicts water levels likely to be reached by a flood that is predicted to recur after a certain time-period.

The recurrence interval is based on the inverse of the probability that the given flood event will occur once or more in any given year (Baer, 2008; Wright, 2008; Haarhoff and Cassa, 2009; USGS, 2009). Therefore, the recurrence interval is a statistical average for annual recurrence and not the number of years between flood occurrences of the same magnitude (Wright, 2008; Haarhoff and Cassa, 2009; NOAA, 2009). For example a 50 year flood has a 1/50 (0.02) or 2% chance of being exceeded in any one year, and does not mean that a 50 year flood will happen only once in 50 years.



Figure 2.2: Flood lines with different return periods (10-, 25- and 100-year flood lines) on a floodplain (Wright, 2008).

2.3 Causes of Floods

According to Smith (2004), the two most significant types of physical causes of flood include environmental hazards such as catchment characteristics (e.g. vegetation, slopes and soil types) and atmospheric hazards (e.g. rainfall intensity or duration) that creates a large amount of rainfall. In addition, causes of floods can also include catastrophic events such as dam burst or the effect of volcanic eruptions (Alexander, 1995), as well as tropical depressions, hurricanes and heavy rainfall from monsoons (Koutroulis and Tsanis, 2010), and technical related aspects such as poor storm water drainage system or channels that are not

optimised for high water levels. The severity of floods, on the other hand, is influenced by four factors, which include antecedent catchment status of moisture, catchment processes, fixed catchment characteristics and rainfall characteristics (Alexander, 2000).

- Antecedent moisture status is based on the moisture saturation of the catchment soil or groundwater immediately before the start of rainfall that produces floods.
- Catchment processes include channel storage, pondage storage and the rate of potential infiltration (Hewitt, 1997). Channel storage is the proportion of the overland flow which is necessary for the flood passage in the system.
 Pondage storage is the proportion of the overland flow that is trapped in pools that are caused by unevenness of the ground surface.
- Fixed catchment characteristics include land cover, shape, slope and catchment size (Alexander, 2000), geology and soils.
- Rainfall characteristics include the direction of rainfall, intensity of rainfall and the duration of rainfall.

2.3.1 Weather Systems

Meteorological causes of floods include snowmelt, rain, combined rain and melt, and ice melt. Coastal storm surges and estuarine interactions between stream flow and tidal conditions also entail partly meteorological causes (Alexander, 2000). The meteorological processes that are mainly responsible for flooding in South Africa are discussed in Table 2.2.

Table 2.2: Meteorological Processes responsible for Floods in South Africa

Mid-latitude cyclone	
A mid-latitude cyclone is a low pressure system that develops in the mid-latitudes and mov	es in an easterly
direction. They occur together with cold fronts that create a cold mass of air in fror	nt of warmer air
(Alexander, 2000; Tyson and Preston-Whyte, 2000; Halloway et al., 2010; CSAG, 2011). T	his moving mass
of warm air forces cold air to rise, causing a very unstable atmosphere, resulting in rain (A	Alexander, 2000;
Tyson and Preston-Whyte, 2000; Haarhoff and Cassa, 2009; Halloway et al., 2010; CSAG,	2011). Cyclones
are mostly responsible for winter rainfall in the Western Cape and are associated with gale	force winds and
snow on high-lying areas (Alexander, 2000; Tyson and Preston-Whyte, 2000; Halloway et a	<i>al.</i> , 2010; CSAG,
2011). In May 2010, a mid-cyclone passing through Cape Town resulted in flooding (Hallow	<i>way et al.</i> , 2010).
Cut-off low pressure systems	
Most of the major floods in South Africa are caused by cut-off low pressure systems. A cut	-off low is a mid-

latitude cyclone that becomes detached from the main circulation or pressure wave. In South Africa, a cutoff low detaches from a westerly pressure wave to the south and rotates off independently (Alexander, 2000; Tyson and Preston-Whyte, 2000; Halloway *et al.*, 2010). A cut-off low can remain stationary for days as it loses all momentum during the detachment from the westerly flow. The instability and strong convection updrafts associated with cut-off lows cause severe weather conditions (e.g. heavy rainfall, strong winds, and snow across mountains) (Alexander, 2000; Tyson and Preston-Whyte, 2000; Halloway *et al.*, 2010). Examples of floods that were caused by cut-off low pressure systems are the 1968 flood in Port Elizabeth, the 1970 flood in East London, the 1981 flood in Laingsburg, as well as the 2007 and 2008 floods in the Western Cape (Halloway *et al.*, 2010).

Convective storm

A convective storm is formed when air moves upward due to the heating of the earth surface and the lower atmosphere. These storms occur mostly in the summer when the surface temperatures are high and more often inland than in the coastal areas, due to the cooling effects of the ocean (Halloway *et al.*, 2010). It seldom causes major floods but these can occur (Alexander, 2000). Convective storms often occur with other severe weather conditions (e.g. lightning, hailstorms, and tornadoes) (McKnight and Hess, 2007), and are common to the Highveld in South Africa during the summer season. Such weather systems can be the cause of localised flooding, particularly in urban areas with low surface permeability. For example, the 2009 flood in Gauteng was caused by a convective storm.

Tropical cyclones

Tropical cyclones have a closed low pressure circulation with a pressure gradient that increases from the centre to the periphery of the system (Tyson and Preston-Whyte, 2000; CSAG, 2011). Tropical cyclones are formed from small clusters of convection clouds over the tropics and energy from high sea surface temperatures (Tyson and Preston-Whyte, 2000). This causes extremely strong winds, large waves and abnormally high tides along the coastlines (McKnight and Hess, 2007; CSAG, 2011). Tropical cyclones begin over the eastern Indian Ocean, east of Madagascar, and then move into a westerly direction (Tyson and Preston-Whyte, 2000). Their influence on the South African rainfall is very limited as they do not occur often and when they do, they only last for a few days and will never exceed a horizontal dimension of 400 to 650 km (Alexander, 2000; Tyson and Preston-Whyte, 2000). They occur mainly in the summer months over the KwaZulu-Natal and Mpumalanga regions (CSAG, 2011). The 2012 and 2013 floods that resulted in extensive damage in the Mpumalanga, Gauteng and Limpopo Provinces, as well as in Mozambique we caused by tropical cyclones.

2.3.2 Land-Use and River Basin Characteristics

The significance of the river basin as a hydrological unit of study in water resource management has been identified by many researchers in different disciplines and in different areas of the world (Gregory and Walling, 1973; ICRAF, 2001; Clark *et al.*, 2003; Dollar and Rowntree, 2003). This is because the severity of riverine floods is determined by the characteristics of the catchment area, the drainage network and the river channel (Görgens, 2003).

Gregory and Walling (1973) and Peckham (2003) describe a catchment as a physical, ecological, biological and climatic entity, where a hydrological balance can be struck when one considers inflow and outflow of moisture and energy. In other words, it provides an essential geomorphic unit for analysing hydrological input and output. A catchment (also known as a river basin) is therefore defined as an area of any size that drains into a river, stream, lake or any other water body (Goudie and Viles, 2005). A catchment originates at the top or ridge of a mountain or hill (called a watershed or divide) and runs down the slopes into the river valley. Water runoff flows into major streams and rivers of the catchment and then joins

other rivers of surrounding catchments which eventually flows into the ocean (Hill and Verjee, 2010).



Figure 2.3: Categorisation of catchments (White et al., 1992)

Hydrological changes, mainly increasing runoff and resultant flooding in the river basins, have been a motivation for increased investigation of the geometric characteristics of the drainage basin as a unit of landscape analysis (Hardy, 2005). The most commonly examined geometric characteristics are the topology of the stream networks, and quantitative descriptions of the drainage texture, pattern, shape, and relief (Baker *et al.*, 1988).

Dollar and Rowntree (2003) cite five important hydrological factors necessary to consider when evaluating a drainage basin, namely: (1) morphometry of the drainage network; (2) soil characteristics, particularly those related to infiltration; (3) geology as it is related to structure and terrain erodibility; (4) vegetation as it affects erosion, infiltration and surface detention; and (5) meteorological-climatic conditions that control the nature of rainfall input.

Channel characteristics such as slope, flood control and river regulation works influence the water level, course and velocity of water. An increase in channel slope combined with the presence of control measures and river regulation networks results in an increase in the velocity and energy of floodwaters. The speed of the surface runoff and the infiltration is determined by the basin slope. Steep slopes cause the infiltration rate to decrease while the speed of surface runoff increases, and vice versa (Smithson *et al.*, 2002).

Water flow within basins is determined by the characteristics of the basin, such as area, shape and slope. The larger the area of a basin, the more surface runoff can

be expected during a rainfall event; the smaller the basin, the more susceptible to floods it becomes (Smithson *et al.*, 2002) due to limited surface area to enable water absorption. The shape of the basin will also influence the surface runoff; an elongated basin will have less surface runoff arriving at the channel at a given time than a more circular basin during the same time period. The latter will experience possible flooding due to the simultaneous arrival of surface runoff at the same point in the channel (Hill and Verjee, 2010).

Streams come together to form a large network of streams. Within this network exists a stream order where the first order refers to the smallest streams without any tributaries (McKnight and Hess, 2007). First-order streams unite to form second-order streams and so on. The stream network develops certain drainage patterns that can be described as dendritic, trellis, radial, centripetal, annular and parallel. Complex drainage patterns can hinder the absorption of water and could cause flooding to occur (McKnight and Hess, 2007). The type of surface will determine how much of the surface runoff is temporarily retained in the network surface before it becomes part of the stream flow. Thus, a high surface storage, within the river channel, surface, lake or pond, can decrease the likelihood for flooding (Waugh, 2009).

The amount of water absorption is influenced by the network characteristics, such as pattern, surface storage, under-drainage, channel length and bifurcation ratio (Smithson *et al.*, 2002). The ratio between the numbers of streams in two sequential hierarchies of basins is referred to as the bifurcation ratio, and is an indication of the drainage characteristics of the stream network. Chances for flooding will increase if this ratio is low, since water flow can concentrate in one river (Waugh, 2009). In addition, the climate, geology, soil type and vegetation cover influence the storage capacity, infiltration and transmissibility of the catchment. The type of rock and soil in the network will determine the underdrainage, as more permeable rock and soil will allow more drainage and a reduced possibility of flooding. Under-drainage refers to the drainage of soils through drains that are placed underneath the surface (Waugh, 2009). Peak flows can increase as a result of a change if the infiltration capacity of the soil is reduced (e.g. through soil compaction or erosion, or if drainage capacity is increased) (Kiersch, 2001).

The linkage between deforestation and its associated impact on flooding has led to a growing debate among researchers, some of whom have questioned the evidence that suggests that loss of forest cover exacerbates runoff, causing flooding (Calder and Aylward, 2006; Cui *et al.*, 2007). However, there is evidence that deforestation can be linked to the erosion of river beds and a decrease in water infiltration. This can increase the velocity and energy of floodwaters.

Irrespective of whether floods are natural or human induced or a combination of both, they generally have a direct or indirect impact on people and the economy (Calder and Aylward, 2006). This is evidenced, by example, by the extensive damage to infrastructure or loss of life, the changes in water quality, or the increases in water-borne diseases during flood events.

2.4 Flood Risk

2.4.1 Flood Risk Framework

Scientific literature shows that the concept of flood risk has at least two aspects, namely a hazard and the vulnerability of a system. The concepts such as hazard, risk and vulnerability are the most commonly used terms to describe the potential threats that natural disasters pose to human life, the environment and infrastructure (Pistrika and Tsakiris, 2007). As flood risk is a function of flood hazard, the value of the properties of river systems that are exposed, and their vulnerability, the increase in flood losses must be attributed to changes in some or all of these aspects (Kron, 2003).

"Hazard" is generally associated with a causal factor, i.e., a flood event is described by its magnitude and the probability of occurrence. On the other hand, risk is linked to the exposure of a system to the said hazard. Thus, flood risk evaluation requires an understanding of climatological and hydrological conditions (i.e. the causing factor) along with the terrain characteristic (i.e. the elements at risk) (Mani *et al.*, 2013). The terms 'hazard' and 'vulnerability' are also used to question the coping capacity of various structural and non-structural measures, which are applied for protection from these threats. An understanding and quantification of the terms is essential to obtain a holistic view of the probability of a flood occurring, and likely extent (and associated impact) of floods. This requires that one understands the water body, as well as the potentially vulnerable systems.

2.4.1.1 Hazard

A hazard may be defined as a source of potential harm, or a threat or condition that may cause loss of life or initiate any failure to natural, modified or human systems. Hazards may thus be classified as either of natural origin (e.g. excessive rainfalls, floods) or of anthropogenic and technological nature (e.g. sabotage, deforestation, industrial site of chemical waste) (Pistrika and Tsakiris, 2007).

The flood hazard can be independent of natural phenomena. Natural floodplains have been modified over time in order to adapt the landscape for receiving human populations and their activities. Although the modification of water bodies helps society to protect goods from natural phenomena, anthropogenic infrastructure (e.g. dykes and embankment) may create the conditions for a hazard. These hazards can be associated with, or completely dissociated from, natural climate and hydrological aspects (Eleutério, 2012).

The most common terms that are used to differentiate between different types of hazards are 'natural' and 'anthropogenic' hazards. Floods can therefore be caused by natural or anthropogenic hazards, or by a combination of both. However, it is a recognised practice to use the classification by the UNISDR (2002), as given below.

 Natural hazards are natural processes or phenomena occurring in the biosphere that may constitute a damaging event. Natural hazards are typically classified as either geological, hydrometeorological or biological hazards. Geological hazards refer to natural earth processes or phenomena in the biosphere that include geological, neotectonic, geophysical, geomorphological, geotechnical and hydrogeological nature. Hydrometeorological hazards refer to natural processes or phenomena of atmospheric, hydrological or oceanographic nature. Biological hazards refer to processes of organic origin or those conveyed by biological vectors, including exposure to pathogenic microorganisms, toxins and bioactive substances.

- Technological hazards are dangers originating from technological or industrial accidents, dangerous procedures or certain human activities, which may cause loss of life or injury, property damage and social and economic degradation.
- Environmental degradation involves processes induced by human behaviour and activities (sometimes combined with natural hazards) that damage the natural resource base or adversely alter natural processes or ecosystems.

Floods can be caused by the existence of any of one these hazards or a combination of several hazards. Therefore, the initiating causes of a hazard may be either an external (e.g. earthquake, rainfall or human agency), an internal event (e.g. an embankment breach) with the potential to initiate a failure of the coping capacity of the system, or a combination of several factors.

Full comprehension of flood hazard requires an understanding of the frequency of the flood events as well as their magnitudes (and thus their anticipated flood damages) (Alexander, 1991). This will allow for the understanding of the flood risk, and the probability of occurrence of a flooding event, taking into account hydrometeorological and technological aspects (Eleutério, 2012).

A hazard is, therefore, a physical event that has the potential to cause human injury, damage to property or damage to the environment. However, not all hazards lead to disasters and not all incidents are regarded as disasters. A hazard only has the potential of becoming a disaster event when it occurs in populated areas where it can cause loss of life or major economic losses (Allen, 1992). A disaster is defined as a serious disruption of the functioning of a community or a society causing widespread human, material, economic or environmental losses that exceed the ability of the affected community or society to cope using its own resources (UNISDR, 2002). Disasters may be either natural, for instance a flood, or human induced such as a nuclear accident. Disasters may further be classified as slow-onset disasters, such as a drought, or as sudden disasters, such as an

earthquake (RAVA, 2002). The possibility or chance of harmful consequences, or expected loss (of lives, people injured, property, livelihoods, economic activity disrupted or environment damaged) resulting from interactions between natural or human induced hazards and vulnerable conditions are defined as the disaster risk (UNISDR, 2002).

2.4.1.2 Vulnerability

The development of human society is closely linked to the water cycle and the availability of water resources. One of the consequences is that the majority of civilisations have settled near water-bodies. Unfortunately, a great percentage of city areas are still located inside flood zones, increasing the exposure of people and goods to floods, such as in the Netherlands and Bangladesh. The concept of vulnerability is complex and controversial, and goes far beyond the simple concept of exposure of assets to floods (Green *et al.*, 1994; Barroca *et al.*, 2006; Messner and Meyer, 2006).

Risk of climate-related impacts results from the interaction of climate-related hazards (including hazardous events and trends) with the vulnerability and exposure of human and natural systems, including their ability to adapt. Thus, the vulnerability to climate change and the capacity for adaptation and mitigation are strongly influenced by livelihoods, lifestyles, behaviours and cultures (IPCC, 2014). The IPCC (2007) defines vulnerability as "the degree to which a system is susceptible to, and unable to cope with, adverse effects of climate change, including climate variability and extremes. Vulnerability is a function of the character, magnitude, and rate of climate change and variation to which a system is exposed, its sensitivity, and its adaptive capacity".

Vulnerability is a central theme in hazard research, yet there is very little consensus on its meaning or exactly how to assess it. Questions of geographical scale and social characteristic (i.e. individual, household, community, society) add to the confusion (World Bank, 2000). In the context of this study, vulnerability may be described as a set of conditions or processes resulting from physical, social, economic and environmental factors, which may increase the susceptibility of a community or location to the impacts of hazards. It is also important to remember that vulnerability is dynamic, not static; the vulnerability of a community may change due to changing climate, the improvements or degradation of social, environmental and economic conditions, as well as interventions specifically aimed at reducing vulnerability, such as disaster mitigating actions (Zschau and Küppers, 2003). A vulnerability analysis in the event of a flood hazard considers the population and structures at risk within the affected area (Pistrika and Tsakiris, 2007).

Turner *et al.* (2003) recognised that holistic studies on vulnerability that are meant to have an input into decision making should include all the hazards affecting the system, as an assessment of how the system gets exposed to the hazard, as well as the coping capacity of the system. Variations in these indicators will invariably result in different levels of vulnerability. This is mainly because the incidence of disasters tends to be higher in poor communities, which are more likely to be in areas vulnerable to hazards such as flooding. There is evidence that the low quality of infrastructure in poor communities increases their vulnerability (May, 1998).

The resilience of the various human systems will determine their resistance to floods. The IPCC (2007) defines resilience as "the ability of a social or ecological system to absorb disturbances while retaining the same basic structure and ways of functioning, the capacity for self-organisation, and the capacity to adapt to stress and change." Similarly, Greenberg *et al.* (2007) defined resilience as the ability of a society (within a physical system) to adapt and recover from a shock. Therefore, the resilience of a system to floods refers to the potential of a system to recover from the effects of flood hazard events, thus reducing the long-term negative consequences of the events. The understanding of this aspect of the risk is proving to be essential for flood management purposes.

2.4.1.3 Flood Risk

The word risk is may have multiple and different meanings. Risk as e a technical meaning refers to a chance or probability of an event happening, such as risk from exposure, a consequence or impact, an example being the risk from smoking, or a perilous situation like a nuclear power plant that creates a risk (Gerrard *et al.*,

2001). Therefore, the definition of "risk" may vary in different research contexts depending on the application of the term, and the field in which it is used.

The "common sense" understanding of the concept is the notion that risk is connected to a particular hazard, and lies in the consequences caused by that particular hazard, increasing with both its frequency and severity; it is also clear that these consequences depend on what is exposed to the hazard and its vulnerability (Fedeski and Gwilliam, 2007). Thus, risk is defined as the possibility of suffering harm from a hazard that can cause injury, disease, economic loss or environmental damage. Risk can be expressed in terms of probability, a mathematical statement about how likely it is that some event or effect will occur, or frequency, the expected number of events occurring in a unit time (Allen, 1992; Miller, 2004). Risk as a simple definition then refers to uncertain events that can damage the wellbeing of an individual or group (Scoones, 1996).

Flood risk is a complex process that combines human and natural factors. It is characterized by the conjunction of the probability of floods to take place and the potential consequences associated with them. Floods only cause damage when flood zones are occupied by vulnerable human systems (Eleutério, 2012). Therefore, even though nature is the source of many risks, including floods, human actions very often amplify the consequences (Gerrard *et al.*, 2001).

The European Union Flood Risk Management Directive (2007/EC/60) for flood management defines "flood risk" as the likelihood of a flood event, together with the actual damage to human health and life, and the environment and economic activity associated with that flood event. In this context, flood risk can be considered as the actual threat or the real source of flood hazard to the affected areas (Messner *et al.*, 2007).

As discussed above, a hazard is the presence of water in a specific place and time, and the vulnerable systems would include humans, infrastructure, environment and all kind of things that are exposed to the hazard. Therefore, flooding is a natural process that considers a flood risk as any aspects of human added value that are potentially affected by floodwater. Therefore, the main purpose of risk analysis is to understand and measure the possible consequences associated with the occurrence of flooding in areas occupied by vulnerable systems (Eleutério, 2012), and refers to the potential or likelihood of an event occurring.

2.4.2 Flood Risk Assessment

In general, approaches to flood risk assessment recognise that floods can often not be stopped from occurring, and emphasis should, therefore, be placed on reducing the vulnerability of, and the impact on, various catchment aspects such as human settlements and infrastructure. Flood assessment is thus aimed at understanding and assessing possible consequences of flood events in areas occupied by vulnerable systems (Eleutério, 2012). This approach is shared by the European Union Flood Risk Management Directive (2007/EC/60), which states that flood management plans need to consider first the harmful potential of floods, and then identify tangible measures to reduce exposure and sensitivity to floods, while improving risk governance.

Risk assessment involves determining the types of hazards involved, estimating the probability of each hazard occurring, estimating how many people are likely to be exposed to it and how many may suffer serious harm (Miller, 2004). The risk assessment process involves the use of data, hypotheses and models to estimate the probability of harm to human health, to society or to the environment that may result from exposure to specific hazards (Miller, 2004). In this context, the flood risk is considered as the combination of hazard and vulnerability, as illustrated in Figure 2.4.



Figure 2.4: Flood Risk as the Combination of Hazard and Vulnerability (Eleutério, 2012)

The impact of a flood event depends on the characteristics of both the system and the hazard. Even though each system has its own characteristics, we can consider that the vulnerability concept is also intrinsically linked to the hazard characteristics (Eleutério, 2012). Thus, a risk assessment emphasises the estimation and quantification of risk to determine acceptable levels of risk and safety; in other words, to balance the risk of a technology or activity against its social benefits to determine its overall social acceptability (Cutter, 1993).

Disaster risk is defined as the possibility or chance of harmful consequences on a system or expected loss (of lives, people, injury, livelihoods, economic activity disrupted or environmental damage) resulting from interactions between natural and human induced hazards and vulnerable conditions (UNISDR, 2002). The disaster risk assessment is a process that analyses the nature and extent of the risk by considering the potential hazard, the vulnerability and the resilience of the community that might be affected (UNISDR, 2010). In general, it is agreed that risk is a function of hazard, vulnerability, resilience, capacity to cope and exposure. Therefore, in order to ensure that populations can adequately adapt to disaster risk, it is essential that a disaster risk assessment is completed. This will allow for the identification of high-risk areas where adaptation is required.

The South African National Disaster Management Framework (Republic of South Africa, 2005) provides certain guidelines on the execution of a disaster risk assessment and specifically instructs that the level of risk associated with a hazard is estimated to determine whether it is a priority or not. This should be completed by initially collecting information regarding all existing hazards and prevailing conditions in the area, on aspects such as climate, demography, groundcover, land use, infrastructure and topography. In addition, the assessment of the hazard should be conducted, by analysing previous incidences and impacts, and predicted future hazards. Similarly, the ANCOLD Guidelines (2003), provide a methodological framework for risk identification and estimation. This framework can be generally be summarised by the following steps:

• **Risk identification**, which refers to the spatial and qualitative identification of the hazard source.

- Risk analysis or risk estimation, which involves estimation of the probability of occurrence of the hazardous phenomenon, estimation of the actual consequences, and the vulnerability estimation of the affected system over the selected hazard scenarios.
- **Risk evaluation**, which refers to identification of the local society's tolerable risk policies and criteria as well as to the comprehension of the local society's perception of the hazard impacts by decision makers.
- Risk assessment, which refers to evaluation of tolerability of estimated risks based on the local society's acceptability criteria. The comparison of the estimated risk with acceptable risk results in the decision of what risk will be acceptable in the particular affected system and what risk reduction measures may be applied. This process is also often referred to as 'risk prioritisation'.

Once the risk assessment has been conducted, the flood risk areas should be mapped in order to provide a risk profile for the area. This spatial assessment should be incorporated as part of the regional flood assessment, planning and management processes.

Flood risk assessment is a challenge in terms of providing scientific knowledge and using it to provide essential tools for land-use planning, flood management initiatives, and infrastructure investment. There is considerable disagreement over the use of risk assessment. Most of these conflicts centre on scientific issues of measurement, inference and use of quantitative data. In theory, risk assessments are objective attempts to numerically define the extent of human exposure to all the hazards they face. Unfortunately, science is not always objective; scientists tend to disagree on the interpretations of the quantitative evidence. This lies at the centre of many debates on risk assessments (Lofstedt and Frewer, 1998).

2.5 Flood Distribution and Flood Mapping

The European Union Flood Risk Management Directive (2007/EC/60) stipulates that disaster and flood risk management should be supported by the production of hazard and risk maps. Flood maps are the base of flood risk analysis and can be used to regulate land-uses as well as to support project design to alleviate floods.
Flood maps bring the spatial dimension of flood analysis and are crucial for project appraisal. Different types of flood maps are currently used to support flood management (Eleutério, 2012). The use of these different tools is crucial and has gained importance over time (Penning-Rowsell and Green, 2000).

There are several methods for flood mapping based primarily on hydrologic, meteorologic and geomorphologic approaches. In developing countries where hydro-meteorological data are commonly insufficient and inaccurate to generate flood models, the geomorphologic method may be more effective and appropriate (Wolman, 1971; Lastra *et al.*, 2008). This can be based on aerial photo interpretation and field investigation of flood extent (Ho *et al.*, 2010). A geomorphologic map provides an overview of the extent of inundation area, and changes in river channels through land reforms and sediments deposited by repeated floods. Hence, they enable an understanding of the nature of past floods and the likely characteristics of floods occurring in the future (Oya, 2002).

The availability of new technologies for the measurement of surface elevation has partially addressed the lack of high-resolution elevation data. The increasing availability of digital elevation models has given a strong impulse to the development of the so-called DEM-based hydro-geomorphic models (Williams *et al.*, 2000; Gallant and Dowling, 2003). This approach of flood investigation, i.e. flood modelling, has been verified significantly where the channel system and floodplain morphology of rivers change dynamically and have high erosive potential and substantial sediment supply (Lastra *et al.*, 2008). Moreover, as hydrological and meteorological data to develop a flood model are commonly restrictive, a method for flood hazard zonation based on the geomorphologic approach (Ho *et al.*, 2010) may have to be considered. This is studied further below.

2.5.1 Hydrological Modelling

Whenever rainfall occurs, a part of it is intercepted by trees and evaporates without reaching the surface, and the remainder appears as runoff (Maity, 2009), is stored in soil or below the surface (as groundwater), or may evaporated from the surface.

This concept is explained in detail by Horton (1933) and Beven (2004). According to Horton (1933), infiltration divides rainfall into two parts, which pursue different courses through the hydrologic system. One part goes via overland flow and stream channels to the sea as surface runoff. The other part initially goes into the soil and then through groundwater, and then finally into the stream or is returned to the air by evaporative processes. The soil therefore acts as a separating surface, and various hydrologic problems are simplified by starting at this surface and pursuing the subsequent course of each part of the rainfall as so divided, separately (Horton, 1933; Beven, 2004).

The conversion of rainfall into runoff and its routing through the slope and river come under the ambit of hydrological modelling (Knocke, 2011). According to Allaby and Allaby (1999), hydrological modelling refers to the use of small-scale physical models, mathematical analogues, and computer simulations to characterize the likely behaviour of real hydrologic features and systems.

2.5.1.1 Hydrological Models

Hydrological models have the five basic components that include governing laws, watershed geometry, input, output and boundary conditions (Knocke, 2006). The interaction between water network, soil, vegetation, geomorphology, land geology and the atmosphere is very complex and makes developing and carrying out the models very difficult (Pilgrim and Cordery, 1993).

a) Runoff Estimation

In order to estimate runoff in a river basin, various approaches have been developed that analyse the relationships between the rainfall over a catchment area and the resulting flow in a river. These approaches should, therefore, be used when attempting to obtain or predict runoff, and are discussed in Table 2.3.

Table 2.3: Runoff Estimation Methods

Conceptual models

Conceptual models incorporate the important hydrological processes using mathematical approximations. Conceptually these types of models usually involve interconnected storage volumes receiving recharge and discharge as appropriate for representations of component processes of the hydrological cycle (Kokkonen and Jakeman, 2001). The more component processes that are represented in the conceptual model, the larger the risk of over-parameterization (Tedela, 2009).

Physically-based models
Physically-based models have a theoretical basis that simulates hydrological responses based on the governing hydrodynamic and transport equations. A physically-based model is one for which parameters and variables of the governing equations are measurable in the field (Beven, 1983). Physically-based models are appealing because of the mathematical approximations of real phenomena that are derived from first principles (Tadela, 2009).
Normal some distributed or fully distributed models
Lumped, semi-distributed, or fully distributed models
hysically-based rainfall-runoff models (Tedela 2009)
 The lumped-parameter model ignores spatial heterogeneity of the catchment response to achieve an important advantage of simplicity (Ponce and Hawkins, 1996).
 Semi-distributed models lump parameters with similar properties together for simplicity and convenience (Tedela, 2009).
 Distributed models attempt to simulate most of the heterogeneous response at a local scale (Beven, 1989; O'Connell, 1991; Garbrecht <i>et al.</i>, 2001).
Metric (or empirical) models
Metric (or empirical) models are directly based on observations to characterize runoff and are formulated with little or no consideration of the hydrologic cycle (Kokkonen and Jakeman, 2001) or river systems, so that the model has no theoretical basis. Strictly limited to the range of data used to formulate the model, empirical models have two basic uses. Firstly, interpolations over the range of data used to derive the model are feasible in that the computer codes serve to estimate a response between observations. Secondly, the form and structure of metric models provide insight into the formulation of conceptual models or the derivation of physically based models, making extrapolation beyond the original observations possible (Tedela, 2009). The unit hydrograph (Sherman, 1949), formulated as a linear relationship between rainfall excess and streamflow, was one of the first metric rainfall-runoff models developed (Kokkonen and Jakeman, 2001).
of concentration, and overland flow as the dominant runoff mechanism, dictate that the rational method
be restricted to small basins (Tolland et al., 1998).
Semi-empirical models
Semi-empirical models have a strong empirical origin, but also have some conceptual basis so that these cannot be clearly classified as empirical or conceptual models. The curve number method is the best example of a semi-empirical model (Tedela, 2009). The curve number method relates watershed rainfall to runoff in engineering drainage design (McCuen, 2005), and was derived from the principle that water is conserved in a watershed during a storm (Tedela, 2009). The ad hoc popularity of the technique follows from the lumping the complexity of runoff generation into a single watershed potential maximum retention parameter easily expressed as the curve number (Nachabe, 2006). Important uses include estimation of runoff volume from gauged and ungauged watersheds, determination of hydrologic effects of changes in land use and treatment, and as a calibration parameter in watershed models (Tedela, 2009).

a) Design Storm Method

Flood design generally requires the estimation of flood discharges of a given return period at a site. If long stream flow records are available, the flood estimates can be derived directly from data by frequency analysis. If no or limited stream flow data are available, or floods associated with very large return periods are of interest, design floods are generally estimated based on design storms (Viglione and Blöschl, 2009). In this procedure, one or more storms of a given return period are used as an input to a rainfall-runoff model, and it is then assumed that the simulated peak discharge has the same return period (Viglione and Blöschl, 2009). The idea of the design-storm procedure is to estimate a flood of a selected return period from rainfall intensity-duration frequency (IDF) curves for the site of interest (Viglione and Blöschl, 2009). A flood event may be described by a multivariate function of the peak, volume and duration, as a joint distribution of their marginal distributions (Mediero *et al.*, 2010).

There are a number of "parts" that need to be considered in the design storm method which include storm rainfall intensity, storm duration, temporal and spatial storm patterns, and antecedent soil moisture conditions (Viglione and Blöschl, 2009). In addition, a pair of peak and volume values will have a different return period than that of their marginal distributions. Therefore, peaks and volumes cannot be utilized independently as thresholds to assess risk. The threshold must be defined as a given water level in the reservoir, so that the return period is the inverse of the probability of exceeding that reservoir water elevation in any given year (Mediero *et al.*, 2010). The problem is complex and a set of hydrographs can have the same design return period (Mediero *et al.*, 2010).

Alfieri *et al.* (2008) assessed the accuracy of design hyetographs in producing flood peaks with the same return period as the storms, and provided a correction factor to obtain more robust estimates of the design flood. In South Africa, the developmental effort in this regard by Alexander (2002) led to the development of a numerically calibrated version of the Rational Method (RM), known as the Standard Design Flood (SDF) method, which incorporates engineering factors of safety to accommodate the uncertainties in hydrological analyses at a regional level. The identification of representative, homogeneous flood-producing regions, which followed the boundaries of the drainage regions as depicted by the Department of Water Affairs and Forestry (DWAF) (1995) (Gericke and du Plessis, 2012). These regions are referred to as SDF basins and a total of 29 basins in South Africa were identified (Alexander, 2002). This was a major step in the development of the SDF method (Gericke and du Plessis, 2012).

This study utilised the design storm method to predict runoff for future flood events at the Crocodile River Basin. This is due to the simplicity of the model, as well as the data required for implementation.

2.5.1.2 Uncertainties in Hydrological Modelling

Large-scale hydrological modelling has become a focal point in hydrological research in recent years and is of fundamental importance for understanding continental and global water balances, impacts of climate and land-use changes, and for water-resources management (Werth and Guntner, 2010; Jung *et al.*, 2012; Li *et al.*, 2012; Mulligan, 2012). However, hydrological modelling and analysis of large spatial domains is severely constrained by data availability and quality (Arnell, 1999; Decharme and Douville, 2006; Doll and Siebert, 2002; Fekete *et al.*, 2004; Guntner, 2008; Hunger and Doll, 2008; Widen-Nilsson *et al.*, 2009; Peel *et al.*, 2010). In addition, the modellers' knowledge of the quality and limitations of large-scale datasets is often inadequate, which restricts the possibility to distinguish informative from dis-informative data. In a hydrological context, dis-informative data are data that are physically inconsistent and therefore misleading when these are met for model inference and hydrological analyses (Kauffeldt *et al.*, 2013).

Uncertainty is also created by the method that is used. The statistical methods used and the considerations made when processing existing data can also strongly influence the determination of discharge for specific frequencies (Eleutério, 2012). This will thus create uncertainty in the data and assumptions used for hydrological analysis. Therefore, uncertainty acceptance levels (or confidence intervals) for hydrological analysis and modelling should be considered when analysing flood risks and when producing flood maps.

According to the NRC (2009), flood frequency analysis of stream gauge records is the most reliable hydrological approach in flood risk evaluation process (NRC, 2009). The objective of flood frequency analysis is to provide the quantiles of maximum peak flow or daily discharge corresponding to a given return period (Chow *et al.*, 1988). The gauges record length plays a critical role on the liability of the quantiles of maximum peak flow corresponding to a given return period (NRC, 2000; Xu and Booij, 2007).

2.5.2 Hydraulic Modelling

Hydraulics has its basis in fluid mechanics and is aimed to better understand the actual behaviour of water movement in river channels based on the physical nature of the system, i.e. water flow in time and space as it moves through the system. Hydraulic modelling has the ability to replicate many features of complex river flow in various river reaches to support operational decisions of flood management and prediction (GHD, 2013). Therefore, hydrological modelling involves the technical process consisting of the reproduction of surface flow dynamics using physical and/or mathematical models (Patterson, 2013). In a river basin context, these models are used to simulate flows in river channels and on floodplains and in wetlands, to account for the operation of regulating structures (e.g. weirs); while the hydrological processes are computed from hydrological models (GHD, 2013).

2.5.2.1 Hydraulic Models

In general, hydraulic models are used in the prediction of the stream flow (output) of a catchment or river basin (system) in response to the precipitation (input). A hydraulic model is an important tool used in planning, simulation and management of runoff processes and rainfall as it is designed in a simplified way for both qualitative and quantitative modelling of any hydrological processes (Maity, 2009).

There are simple techniques in the applications of flood prediction which are available for modelling. These hydraulic models are classified according to their temporal and spatial scale, underlying modelling process and method of solution (Singh, 1995). The models simulate natural properties of river systems such as sediment, the flow of water, nutrients, microbial organisms and chemicals (Singh and Frevert, 2006). The spatial and temporal variations of both input and system are considered as the driving forces of physically-based hydraulic modelling (Pelling, 1999).

The modelling of fluids (i.e. runoff) is complex due to the three dimensions involved and the accompanying time-dependency (ADWR 2002; Munson *et al.*, 2010). Models are classified according to the number of dimensions involved in a physical space where the flow variables are considered. It is, therefore, possible to construct one-dimensional (1D), two-dimensional (2D) and three-dimensional (3D) models (ADWR, 2002; Dyhouse *et al.*, 2003; Hunter *et al.*, 2007).

Each of these applications start with some amount of rainfall over the catchment area, excess runoff that is found after the removal of all abstractions that include infiltration and surface storage, and the application of the hydraulic model that has been chosen for the simulation of runoff hydrographs (Knocke, 2006). The process of identifying and mapping possible areas at flood risk can then be identified in three steps. In a first step, return periods of discharge of particular values are determined. Inflow and outflow hydrographs are then created for these selected return periods. In a second step, water levels associated with these discharge values are determined through the use of numerical methods and numerical codes, and finally the computed elevations are used to create flood maps. Derivation of flood maps can be realized with different types of approaches, ranging from less complex (1D, quasi-2D model) to complex two and three-dimensional modelling codes (Werner and Lambert, 2007). These approaches are discussed in Table 2.4.

Table 2.4: Hydraulic Models

One-dimensional (1D) Modelling

One-dimensional flood modelling considers the flow in only one of the three coordinate dimensions (ADWR, 2002), namely along the central streamlines in the channel (Franzini and Finnemore, 2001), where streamlines intersect with cross sections at right angles which are parallel to each other (Dyhouse *et al.*, 2003). In fluid mechanics, the downstream direction of flow, parallel to the channel, is considered as the one-dimensional coordinate, thus longitudinal (ADWR, 2002). All the points in the fluid have the same velocity and direction at a specific time (Franzini and Finnemore, 2001; Munson *et al.*, 2010). The boundaries for such models are usually the catchment runoff and dry weather flow at the inlets and water levels at the outlets. This is a simplified flow analysis where the assumption is made that the velocity components in the other two directions are negligible (Franzini and Finnemore, 2001; Dyhouse *et al.*, 2003; Munson *et al.*, 2010). This analysis is suitable for most open channel hydraulic flows (Dyhouse *et al.*, 2003). These models are available in software packages such as MOUSE (DHI, 1986), SWMM (US EPA, 1988), INFOWORKS (Wallingford, 2002) and MIKE URBAN (DHI, 2004), and are widely used by research organizations, consulting companies and local authorities (Hénonin *et al.*, 2010).

One-dimensional hydraulic models have been the preferred approach for several decades since their principles are simple to apply and there is a wide selection of software packages available. Furthermore, these models require fewer data inputs and minimum computational power to perform the analysis (Pappenberg *et al.*, 2005). However, such models are not suitable to reproduce the network overflow phenomenon. As this kind of model does not simulate the surface flood routing and the water level calculated in the virtual storage is not linked to any realistic behaviour of the overflow water, it logically leads to an overestimation of flood depth (Maksimovic, 2000; Mark *et al.*, 2004).

Quasi One-dimensional (1D-1D) Modelling

A variation of the 1D model is the 1D-1D model, which involves a coupling between a 1D collection system model and a 1D representation of the surface flow path (usually streams). This modelling approach is also known as dual drainage approach (Wisner *et al.*, 1982; Stephenson, 1998; Djordjevic *et al.*, 1999). The computed runoff can be distributed either directly into the drainage system or on the surface network, depending on the local context. The exchange between the two networks is handled through coupling links (Hénonin *et al.*, 2010).

The development of this model involves large amounts of data with detailed GIS dataset including highresolution DEM (Digital Elevation Model) or DTM (Digital Terrain Model). The pre-processing and verification of both the surface flow paths and storage functions have to be done carefully and can be particularly time-consuming, although automatic GIS procedures can be used (Maksimovic and Prodanovic, 2001; Mark *et al.*, 2004; Boonya-Aroonnet *et al.*, 2007).

Two-dimensional (2D) Modelling

In two-dimensional models the velocity of the flow changes along the longitudinal and lateral directions in the channel (Janna, 2009). Thus, gradients of the velocity exist in two dimensions of the horizontal plane (Franzini and Finnemore, 2001; Janna, 2009; Munson *et al.*, 2010).

Two-dimensional models are used for the modelling of more complex flood parameters (e.g. flow velocity, flood wave propagation, inundation duration, flow direction and water rise rate). Additional data about the flood wave characteristics are required to determine the duration and peaks in the advanced modelling (Büchele *et al.*, 2006; De Moel *et al.*, 2009). The availability of more powerful computers and more accurate data have made the two-dimensional models a suitable option where more complex analysis is needed (FEI, 2007).

Quasi Two-dimensional (1D-2D) Modelling

The flow is still modelled in 1D but the surface flow is computed with a 2D engine. The 2D model is used to reproduce accurately the urban surface topography, including buildings, ponds, various structures, etc. The hydrodynamic flow computation with the 2D surface model allows calculations such as flow velocities with 2-directions components. The surface water level is no longer calculated from an interpolation formula but the result of 2D modelling of the flow behaviour (Hénonin *et al.*, 2010). This kind of coupled modelling has been used in a number of studies and is now available in commercial software packages such as INFOWORKS (Wallingford, 2006), MIKE FLOOD (DHI, 2005) and HEC-RAS.

The exchanges between the collection system and the surface are still handled through coupling links as for the 1D-1D coupling, but the nodes of the collection system network are connected to cells of the 2D surface model. Thus, an issue of such 1D-2D models is the accuracy and resolution of the 2D surface model; the accuracy of the 2D model is highly dependent of the input data resolution, i.e. topographic data resolution such as density and elevation (Prodanovic *et al.*, 1998; Mark *et al.*, 2004). GIS pre-treatments are usually required to ensure that the main topographic features will be properly taken into account into the 2D model (Hénonin *et al.*, 2010)

This study utilised the Quasi Two-dimensional (1D-2D) model to simulate the flood extent for the Crocodile River Basin. This is due to the availability of data, and the advantages offered by this modelling approach. The approach employed is discussed in Chapter 4 and Appendix B.

Three-dimensional (3D) modelling

Three-dimensional modelling considers the velocity changes in all three dimensions of the channel (Dyhouse *et al.*, 2003; Janna, 2009) and is applied at nodes in the river network. This model is normally applied to complicated reaches as it requires detailed data input, significant computer power and engineering expertise (Dyhouse *et al.*, 2003).

One-dimensional models cannot represent the true river basin and limits the modelling of the complex conditions of extreme flood events (ADWR, 2002; Merwade *et al.*, 2008; Pappenberg *et al.*, 2005), especially the simulation of flood waves (Hunter *et al.*, 2007) and the spreading flows on alluvial fans or unstable alluvial channels (ADWR, 2002). Although high quality data are available, it would

have no effect on the quality of the flood lines generated, as cross-sections across the river network are used (Merwade *et al.*, 2008).

The use of two-dimensional modelling codes provides the best approach to flood extent modelling (e.g. with MIKE 21, TELEMAC-2D). These codes have the ability to represent complex floodplains topography, dynamic wetting and drying of the floodplain, and prediction of the exchange of momentum between channel and floodplains (Horrit *et al.*, 2007). Although two-dimensional models are far more realistic than 1D models to represent the surface flow behaviour, 1D-2D models still require more computation time than 1D-1D models. Thus, 1D-2D models are currently used for off-line applications only, while 1D and 1D-1D models can be used online for real-time forecast applications. Some ongoing research projects are investigating the feasibility of 1D-2D online models use for real-time applications, focusing on model enhancements methods to reduce computation time (Hénonin *et al.*, 2010).

However, common problems regarding the two-dimensional approach are data requirements and significant computational time. Due to these inconveniences, a new method was developed: coupled one and two-dimensional unsteady hydraulic model (Patro *et al.*, 2009; Tuteja and Shaikh, 2009). The flood modelling packages include MIKE FLOOD and SOBEK 1D2D, which offer the possibility to dynamically link a 1D breach model to a 2D floodplain model (Vanderkimpen and Peeters, 2008). Similarly, HEC-RAS has the ability to perform 2D hydrodynamic flow routing within the unsteady flow analysis portion of the software package. Users can perform 1D unsteady-flow modelling, 2D unsteady-flow modelling (Full Saint Venant equations or Diffusion Wave equations), as well as combined one-dimensional and two-dimensional (1D/2D) unsteady-flow routing (Brunner, 2014).

The availability of high-resolution data and more computational power has increased the use of complex models (Hunter *et al.*, 2007). As natural flows are known to be three-dimensional, the use of three-dimensional methods may appear obvious. However, some shortcomings have been identified in the complex models. Expert knowledge is required to set up complex models according to the requirements of the end user (Dyhouse *et al.*, 2003; Hunter *et al.*, 2007) and appropriate data for the verification of these complex models are very limited

35

(Hunter *et al.*, 2007). Complex models are also more expensive (Dyhouse *et al.*, 2003).

2.5.2.2 Uncertainties in Hydraulic Modelling

The selection of hydraulic models is typically based on a trade-off among the different factors of physical realism, computational efficiency, consistency with the quantity and quality of input and observation data, and objectives of the specific study (Mukolwe *et al.*, 2014). The accuracy of the hydraulic model will depend on the modelling approach that is employed. However, Dottori *et al.* (2013) discuss a number of important issues that should be taken into account in works related to flood modelling. These include the large number of uncertainty sources in model structure and available data; the difficult evaluation of model results, due to the scarcity of observed data; computational efficiency; as well as false confidence that can be given by high-resolution outputs, as accuracy is not necessarily increased by higher precision. Dottori *et al.* (2013) also state that the extreme precision of highly resolved models and data sets may lead non-expert users to become overconfident in the model results, disregarding a number of issues that have importance in performing reliable flood analyses.

The achievement of 'as accurate as possible' characteristics of the flood hazard is a research challenge that is widely addressed (Mukolwe *et al.*, 2014). Flood mitigation methodologies to deal with prior flood warning, quantification of envisaged disasters, uncertainty in flood risk management tools and coping mechanisms are continuously being researched (e.g. Pappenberger and Beven, 2006; McCarthy *et al.*, 2007; Montanari, 2007). These initiatives are bolstered by the availability of ever-increasing computer power and new models developed to analyse hydro-meteorological inputs and generate flood warnings and estimates of flood extent and other specific hazard characteristics; new information sources such as spatial data derived from satellite imagery are also increasingly becoming available (Di Baldassarre *et al.*, 2009a, 2009b; Schumann *et al.*, 2009; Bates, 2012). These improvements in flood risk management tools and methodologies can result in a reduction of flood risk (Mukolwe *et al.*, 2014). It has been widely accepted by hydrologists that the most effective way to reduce future flood damages is to restrict development in areas that are subject to flooding (Dingman, 1984). However, the role of uncertainty in the production of flood maps and flood damage assessment is highly significant and cannot be neglected (de Blois and Wind, 1995; Merz *et al.*, 2010), which creates difficulty when planning for an uncertain future. Indeed, there are several studies that highlight the importance of hydrological uncertainty on the global uncertainty of flood damage estimations (de Blois and Wind, 1995; Merz *et al.*, 2010).

2.5.3 Geographical Information Systems

The main advantage of using Geographic Information Systems (GIS) is its ability for developing powerful models at different temporal and spatial scales, which involve complex interaction among dynamic phenomena and static geographical entities through which these entities evolved (Longley *et al.*, 1999). Therefore, the spatial dimension provided by GIS-based analyses is crucial for mapping processes and natural hazard management issues (Zerger, 2002; Köhler *et al.*, 2006). However, a great amount of data and knowledge are needed to produce and use these maps (Merz *et al.*, 2007; NRC, 2009).

GIS can be used in every step of the flood risk assessments for visualisation, data management and modelling (Robayo and Maidment 2005; Goodchild, 2006). Data preparation and results visualisation as well as data transfer methodologies can be achieved in the flexible GIS environment (Kiesel *et al*, 2013). Hydrological and hydraulic models benefit from GIS because of integration of the models and the spatial representation aspects that are offered by the software.

Three issues need to be considered when GIS is integrated with hydraulic and environmental modelling. These include considerations of the issue of systems that include user interfaces, GIS functionality, data models GIS design; issues of modelling that include developing and structuring of models; and issues of spatial data that include accuracy, resampling, common formats, access and availability (Knocke, 2006). Several complexities associated with data requirements need to be overcome in order to use GIS.

- Hydrological and geographical data can be very complex as they need to include information about possible topological connections of objects which have been recorded, together with their attributes (Ogden *et al.*, 2001).
- Weather and hydrological data comes in different formats and storage structures (Carrara *et al.*, 1999).
- Land use and infrastructural data are available, and are important as they
 provide the baseline information for a hazard assessment, as it is possible
 to map the extent of a hazard (Zschau and Küppers, 2003), and then to
 consider the land-uses and infrastructure affected.

It is, however, usually not easy to transform such data into the correct format for each specific model platform. This can require the users to use an external device, which can format the data, or to collect the required data in other formats. But, this can be overcome by using GIS (Knocke, 2006), as GIS has the ability to analyse and incorporate spatial characteristics in different formats. GIS allows for accurate spatial representation of a hazard event, thus enabling disaster management, police, medical, fire and other managerial personnel to make decisions based on data they can see and judge for themselves. This spatial or geography-based method presents essential information in a way that is more understandable than any other method (Greene, 2002).

Even though several methods are currently used to evaluate flood risks, the construction of comprehensive databases and the harmonisation of methods in national and international contexts remains great challenges for researchers and practitioners alike (Köhler *et al.*, 2006; Merz *et al.*, 2007). Often, when more complex modelling is required, the modelling is extended outside GIS by using another software package (Longley *et al.*, 2005). This is generally the approach in flood modelling, where external hydraulic software is used to determine the flood magnitude. Here, GIS is only used for visualisation and data management (Pilon 2004; Klijn 2009), as GIS technology is regarded as a computer method for the creation of digital maps, digital analysis, and creation of a database for spatial features and visualisation of spatial data. By using GIS, it is possible to understand the geographic extent of hazards as they very often occur in predictable locations. Once the possible extent of a hazard is known, it is then possible to identify communities, resources and infrastructure at risk (Zschau and Küppers, 2003).

Lastly, GIS also helps during all stages of Disaster Management of floods, including pre and post-disaster activities, mitigation, prevention and preparation (Haile, 2005). It helps in the provision of user-friendly, spatial data that are interactive and powerful.

Chau *et al.* (2013) used GIS to present a geospatial assessment of flood impacts on agricultural land in Quang Nam province, Vietnam. The study demonstrated how the results can inform economic assessments of natural disaster impacts and associated policy responses to mitigate extreme weather events. The use of GIS is supported also by Musungu *et al.* (2012), who used the spatial capabilities of the software to conduct a case study of an informal settlement in Cape Town. This study proposed a methodology of integrating community-based information obtained through a participatory multi-criteria evaluation into a GIS that can be used by the Cape Town City Council for risk assessment. This methodology ensures that different aspects are considered when conducting the risk assessment, and that the vulnerability of this study area is correctly assessed. Flood risk management approaches can, therefore, be localised and adapted to suit the specific area.

2.5.4 Flood Hazard Mapping

Flood hazard maps describe the magnitude and/or probability of a flood where the flood risk assessment provides information about the consequences of the flooding (Alho *et al.*, 2008; Zimmermann, 2008; De Moel *et al.*, 2009; Klijn 2009). Bründl *et al.* (2009) summarise flood hazard maps that indicate the locations of flood events with certain return periods. Flood hazard mapping can be integrated to analyse and map the vulnerabilities and the resulting risk to a community (Lechtenbörger, 2006; Martini and Loat, 2007).

Flood hazard maps can play an integral part in all the phases of flood risk assessment as they can communicate the extent of the flood and other flood parameters to different stakeholders. The community and disaster management role-players can better understand and visualise the characteristics of a possible future flood event when using GIS (Hardmeyer and Spencer, 2007). The requirements or needs of the stakeholders will determine the flood parameters to be mapped in the flood hazard map (Hardemeyer and Spencer, 2007; Martini and Loat, 2007; De Moel *et al.*, 2009). It is, however, important that the information gathered is communicated in an uncomplicated yet accurate format, easily understandable to experts and laymen alike (Greene, 2002). The basic types of flood hazard maps are indicated in Figure 2.5.



Figure 2.5: Types of flood hazard maps - (a) historical (event) maps, (b) extent maps and (c) flood depth maps. (Source: De Moel *et al.*, 2009).

As shown in Figure 2.5, the basic types of flood hazard maps are:

- a) historical (event) maps, indicating the locations of historical events with point symbols on a map (De Moel *et al.*, 2009).
- b) extent maps, which display the inundated areas of a flood event that can either be historical or hypothetical; different probabilities of occurrence need to be determined for the latter, namely 10 and 50 years for high, 100 years or greater for a medium, and 1000 years for low probabilities (Büchele *et al.*, 2006).
- c) flood depth maps, displaying the water depths (levels) derived from oneand two-dimensional models for river flooding (De Moel *et al.*, 2009).

Other types of flood maps include:

- flow velocity maps, indicating the velocity of the water flow determined by two-dimensional models – one-dimensional models can also be used but this will be more complex (Büchele *et al.*, 2006).
- flood wave maps, displaying the movement of waves, as determined by two-dimensional models (Büchele *et al.*, 2006).

 inundation maps, indicating the area that was or may be under water (De Moel *et al.*, 2009).

Flood hazard mapping consists of the quantification of hydraulic parameters and their intersection with digital terrain models (DTM) and land use data (Büchele *et al.*, 2006; De Moel *et al.*, 2009). Thus, the modelling of the flood hazard consists of three main steps, namely (Büchele *et al.* 2006; De Moel *et al.*, 2009):

- the collection of historical data of water levels or inundation zones and calculating the return period for certain discharge values;
- the modelling of water levels using hydraulic models, either one- or twodimensional; and
- the modelling of water levels with the DTM or DEM using one- or twodimensional models.

There is a wide variety of flood models that can be used to this end. However, modelling may be erroneous due to erroneous, incomplete or missing input data. Moreover, many of these models have been designed for large scale applications, although their results are also used on a local scale to determine flood hazard and/or risk (Pappenberger *et al.*, 2007).

Flood hazard maps can be differentiated from flood risk maps in that flood hazard maps contain information about the probability and/or magnitude of a flood event, e.g. flood extent and water depth distribution; whereas flood risk maps contain additional information about the potential consequences of floods, e.g. economic loss, human injuries and environmental impacts (de Moel *et al.*, 2009). Both flood hazard and risk maps are essential for flood risk assessment and flood management.

2.6 Floods under Changing Climate Futures

Climate variability is the natural cycle through which the earth and its atmosphere accommodate the change in the amount of energy received from the sun. Changes in temperature also influence rainfall, but the biosphere is also able to adapt to a changing climate if these changes take place long time periods (Mukheibir and Sparks, 2005). The concept of climate variability is an important factor in its own right, but especially in regard to its significance within the context of climate change (Schulze, 2011). It is therefore important to distinguish between the two concepts;

- Climate Variability signifies any deviation from the long-term expected value. It is an entirely natural phenomenon, is *reversible* and *non-permanent*. An example would be the droughts in Southern Africa which are associated with the El Niño Southern Ocean (ENSO) phenomenon. Climate variability has time scales which can range from diurnal to daily to intra-seasonal to inter-annual and to decadal (Schulze, 2011).
- Climate Change, on the other hand, is irreversible and permanent, where a (positive or negative) trend over time is superimposed over naturally occurring variability. A commonly cited example of climate change is anthropogenically forced global warming, and the associated trends in increased temperature which result from the enhanced greenhouse effect through increased atmospheric emissions of greenhouse gases. The time scale of this climate change is decades to centuries and the trend is more likely to occur in steps than linearly over time (Schulze, 2011). However, it is important to note that climate change can also be an entirely natural process. Naturally induced climate change occurs at a slower rate of change than with anthropogenically forced global warming.

2.6.1 Southern Africa

Climate is controlled by complex maritime and terrestrial interactions that produce a variety of climates across a range of regions and continents (Mukheibir and Sparks, 2005). Africa is considered to be one of the most vulnerable continents to climate variability and change because of multiple stresses and low adaptive capacity (IPCC, 2007; Davis, 2010). As the livelihoods of people in Africa, including South Africa, are often directly linked to the climate of the area (Davis, 2010), livelihoods are likely to be affected. This is because climate influences agriculture, the environment, water availability and thus the economy of primary sectordependent countries all over the world (Mukheibir and Sparks, 2005). Over Southern Africa a reduction in late austral summer precipitation has been reported over the western parts, extending from Namibia, through Angola, and toward the Congo, during the second half of the 20th Century (Hoerling *et al.*, 2006; New *et al.*, 2006). The drying is associated with an upward trend in tropical Indian Ocean Sea Surface Temperatures (SSTs). Modest downward trends in rainfall are found in Botswana, Zimbabwe, and western South Africa. Apart from changes in total or mean summer rainfall, certain intra-seasonal characteristics of seasonal rainfall such as onset, duration, dry spell frequencies, and rainfall intensity as well as delay of rainfall onset have been identified (Tadross *et al.*, 2005, 2009; Thomas *et al.*, 2007; Kniveton *et al.*, 2009).

An increasing frequency of dry spells is accompanied by an increasing trend in daily rainfall intensity, which has implications for run-off characteristics (New *et al.*, 2006). Over Southern Africa, unusually dry austral summers as occurred during 2002/2003 have become more likely, whereas unusually wet austral summers like that of 1999/2000 have become less likely due to anthropogenic climate change. There is some tentative evidence that the risk of extreme high 5-day precipitation totals (as observed in 1999/2000) have increased in the region. These results are consistent with CMIP5 models projecting a general drying trend over SAF during December–January–February (DJF) but also an increase in atmospheric moisture availability to feed heavy rainfall events when they do occur (Bellprat *et al.*, 2015).

Climate projections over Southern Africa show a drying signal in the annual mean temperature over the climatologically dry south-west, extending north-eastward from the desert areas in Namibia and Botswana (Moise and Hudson, 2008; Orlowsky and Seneviratne, 2012; James and Washington, 2013). Similarly, Lu *et al.* (2015) found that the projected temperature shows an increasing tendency over Southern Africa in the near future, especially in the eastern part, while the precipitation changes are varying between different months and sub-regions. An increase in runoff (and evapotranspiration) is projected for eastern part of Southern Africa, i.e. Southern Mozambique and Malawi, while a decrease was estimated across the driest region in a wide area encompassing Kalahari Desert, Namibia, southwest of South Africa and Angola (Lu *et al.*, 2015).

Student No: 0504584n

During the summer months, dry conditions are projected in the south-west, while projections indicate wetter conditions in the south-east of South Africa and the Drakensberg mountain range (Hewitson and Crane, 2006; Engelbrecht *et al.*, 2009). Drier winters are projected over a large area in Southern Africa by the end of the 21st century as a result of the poleward displacement of mid-latitude storm tracks (Moise and Hudson, 2008; Engelbrecht *et al.*, 2009; Shongwe *et al.*, 2009; Seth *et al.*, 2011; James and Washington, 2013). Rainfall decreases are also projected during spring months, implying a delay in the onset of seasonal rains over a large part of the summer rainfall region of Southern Africa (Shongwe *et al.*, 2009; Seth *et al.*, 2011).

The strongest climate change signals are found over humid tropical areas, i.e. north of Angola and Malawi and south of Democratic Republic of Congo (DRC). Large spatial and temporal variability of climate change signals is found in the near future over Southern Africa (Lu *et al.*, 2015). Enhanced heat wave probabilities are associated with deficient rainfall conditions that tend to occur during El Niño events (Niang *et al.*, 2014). Large uncertainties surround projected changes in tropical cyclone landfall from the south-west Indian Ocean that have resulted in intense floods during the 20th Century. Future precipitation projections show changes in the scale of the rainfall probability distribution, indicating that extremes of both signs may become more frequent in the future (Kay and Washington, 2008).

2.6.2 South Africa

South Africa is a country that experiences a wide range of different weather conditions. These include thunderstorms of the Highveld, frontal rain over the south-western Cape, berg winds along the Eastern Cape coast, and widespread flooding over north-eastern South Africa, caused by tropical cyclones making landfall over Mozambique (Archer, 2011).

Mean annual temperatures have increased by at least 1.5 times the observed global average of 0.65°C over the past five decades and extreme rainfall events have increased in frequency (Ziervogel *et al.*, 2014). Rainfall variability is particularly pronounced over the dry western parts of South Africa, where a dry year can have significant economic repercussions. Furthermore, extreme dry years

tend to be more frequent in the driest regions of the country (Mukheibir and Sparks, 2005).

Rainfall patterns over the country display well-pronounced intra-annual and interannual variability mainly due to the ENSO (Davis, 2010). In the El Niño (dry) years, the rainfall is considerably low, whereas in the La Niña (wet) years, rainfall is relatively higher (Mukheibir and Sparks, 2005). Steyn (1984) argued that there are also other influences on the climate variability of the region, such as changes in macro pressure over the interior and adjacent oceans that impact on the weather and climate and result in wet and dry spells, and the location of troughs of standing westerly waves (Steyn, 1984).

Climate change is expected to impact the earth's atmosphere through increases in temperature and resultant perturbations to rainfall regimes, including increases in rainfall variability. This may lead to increases in the intensity and frequency of extreme rainfall events of both short duration and long duration and, with that, associated flooding (IPCC, 2007). The IPCC (2007) and DEA (2013) suggest warming relative to 1986–2005 of 3-6°C by 2081-2100 in the interior, yet less certain precipitation changes in terms of both direction and magnitude (Ziervogel *et al.*, 2014). There are significant geographical differences in projected rainfall changes. Drier conditions are predicted for the south-west of the country in both seasons. Rainfall intensity is likely to increase, but will not necessarily imply an increase in total rainfall (Davis, 2010).

Many questions arise about climate change and climate variability and how they affect South Africa. South Africa's water resources, already subjected to high hydro-climatic variability both over space over time, are a key constraint to the country's continued economic development and the sustainable livelihoods of its people (Schulze, 2011). Water resources will continue to be affected, where South Africa's industrial, domestic and agricultural users are highly dependent on a reliable supply of water (Mukheibir and Sparks, 2005). A changing climate is likely to have considerable impacts on the water sector, with different regions of the country likely to be affected in many different ways. For this reason alone, local scale analyses are needed to assess potential impacts (Andersson *et al.*, 2009).

Streamflow, or channel flow, which refers to the flow of water in streams, rivers and other channels, is expected to experience changes in the concentration and timing of high and low flows due to changes in rainfall patterns (Archer, 2011), and feedbacks through land-use changes and soil characteristics. Changes in mean annual streamflow and its variability are anticipated, with an increase in variability into the intermediate future of around 20 to 30%, except in the south-Western Cape where variability is projected to decrease (Schulze, 2011).

DEA (2013) states that preliminary projections indicate changes in runoff ranging from a 20% decrease to a 60% increase by as early as 2050, while other projections indicate changes in runoff ranging from a 5% decrease to a 20% increase. Spatially, the eastern seaboard and central interior of the country are likely to experience increases while much of the Northern and Western Cape are likely to experience decreases in runoff (Ziervogel *et al.*, 2014). In the latter part of the century a strong decrease in absolute variability of annual streamflow is projected not only in the south-west, but also in the south and in parts of the north of South Africa (Schulze, 2011).

Greater evaporation rates are likely to increase drought incidence and intensity (as defined by the response of available soil moisture and available free water), possibly even in regions where total rainfall increases (Davis, 2010). A projected increase in extreme events is expected to have a negative impact on the quantity and quality of groundwater reserves and surface water. The risk that water resources face due to the increase in extreme events, droughts and heavy precipitation can be categorised by: a decrease in water quality due to saltwater intrusion; an increase in the occurrence of international water conflicts; a decrease in water quality due to run-off and erosion; and a decrease in agriculture production due to droughts (Archer, 2011).

2.6.3 Mpumalanga Province

With projected changes in global climates into the future, changes in the South African water sector will be inevitable (Schulze, 2011). For the north-eastern region of the country, which includes Gauteng, Limpopo and Mpumalanga provinces, an increase in overall rainfall is projected. Figure 2.6 illustrates the projected change

in mean annual precipitation for the north-eastern region of South Africa. CSIR (2010) states that future rainfall is expected to increase by between 85 and 303 mm per annum for the north-eastern region as a whole, and the total rainfall is expected to range from 301 mm to 758 mm per annum by 2100 (CSIR, 2010). The majority of the increased rainfall that is projected is expected to fall during the summer months (December to February). An extension of the rain season may occur into early spring due to the increase in rainfall predicted for September to November. The number of rain events is expected to increase, which could infer that the chances of floods may increase (CSIR, 2010).



Figure 2.6: Current and Projected Mean Annual Precipitation by 2100 (Source: Davis, 2010).

The majority of rain events are expected to occur in November to January, which have the highest number of rain days. The number of rain days per month is expected to increase by between 1.036 and 2.188 days. This small change in the number of rain days per month compared with the increase in rainfall demonstrates that the intensity of rain events and possibly the severity of rain events may

increase (Davis, 2010). The risk of flooding during rain events is also likely to increase.

2.6.4 Limitations and Uncertainties of Future Climate Projections

While there is sufficient confidence in the scientific community about climate change and the associated global patterns of surface temperatures that are controlled by thermodynamics, there is little confident in circulation aspects of climate change, which are primarily controlled by dynamics that exert a strong control on regional climate. Model projections of circulation-related fields (including precipitation) show a wide range of possible outcomes, even on centennial timescales (Shepherd, 2014). Projections of future climate change by Global Climate Models (GCMs) may provide insight into potential broad-scale changes in the atmosphere and ocean, such as shifts in the major circulation zones and the magnitude of sea-level rise. However, because these models are computationally expensive, they are often integrated at relatively coarse horizontal resolutions, where the regional details of climate (such as the characteristics of orographic precipitation and thunderstorms) and climate change cannot be sufficiently described (Davis, 2010). In addition, due to the costs, most studies tend to rely on a few GCMs. This, therefore, creates uncertainty in climate projections.

Daly (2006) cautioned over the tendency to equate resolution with realism in climate modelling, as climate-forcing factors assumed to be unimportant at coarser resolutions may become significant if the scale is refined. Guentchev *et al.* (2010) pointed out that developers of spatial climate data sets should always communicate the strengths and limitations of their data sets. For example, the climate projections discussed in Section 2.6.1 are based on a CSIR study that used two dynamic regional climate models (PRECIS and MM5) and future precipitation variables were obtained from ten statistically downscaled GCMs. The use of different GCMs to those employed, more GCMs, or GCMs with a higher resolution would likely provide different projections for Mpumalanga. Therefore, it is imperative that climate projections are read as estimates of what the future may look like, instead of a certainty of what future climate will be.

2.7 Conclusions

Floods are among the most recurring and devastating natural hazards, impacting human lives and causing severe economic damage throughout the world. It is understood that flood risks will not subside in the future, and with the onset of climate change, flood intensity and frequency will threaten many regions of the world (McCarthy *et al.*, 2001; Jonkman, 2005). However, because global data and models are generally tailored to relatively coarse spatial (and to a smaller degree temporal) resolutions, the local character and short timescale of floods makes prediction difficult (at the global scale). Moreover, the impact of local scale floods is dependent on the spatial overlap between a flooded area and the exposed assets and inhabitants in the region. The spatial variability of such exposures is often large, and there are many examples where they are in fact concentrated in flood-prone regions (Winsemius *et al.*, 2013).

It should be noted that flooding is not the only risk associated with climate change; it is also likely to impact the country through other feedbacks, such as changes in vegetation, land-use, urbanisation, groundwater levels and soil types. Due to the interlinkages between these spheres, changes in these characteristics will result in changes in river systems and hydrological processes, and therefore changes in the basin's responses to future rainfall, upstream dam releases, and flood events. This will have a direct impact on the magnitude of floods.

In the South African context, the major risks to water resources include decreased availability of water in rivers as a result of the net effect of increased temperatures and increased evaporation, coupled with shifts in the timing and amounts of rainfall; changes in the concentration and timing of high and low flows due to changes in rainfall; increased incidence of floods as the incidence of very heavy rain events increases; and increased risk of water pollution and decreased water quality linked to erosion and runoff (Davis, 2010). It is clear that climate change, variability and associated increased disaster risks will seriously hamper future development (Mukheibir and Sparks, 2005), and potentially harm human, natural and physical systems in high risk areas and along river banks.

CHAPTER 3 – STUDY AREA

3. STUDY AREA

3.1 General Description of Study Area

To facilitate the management of water resources, South Africa's National Water Resources Strategy (NWRS) divided the country into nineteen catchment-based water management areas (WMAs). However, as part of the second National Water Resources Strategy (NWRS 2), the nineteen WMAs have been amalgamated to nine WMAs. The Inkomati-Usuthu WMA, where the Crocodile River (East) is located (as is shown in Figure 3.1.), is the focus area for this research.



Figure 3.1: Location of the Crocodile River (East) in North-East South Africa

The Inkomati-Usuthu WMA falls almost completely in the Mpumalanga Province of South Africa. It is managed by the Inkomati-Usuthu Catchment Management Agency, and consists of four major catchments, namely the Komati, Crocodile, Sabie-Sand catchments (DWA, 2011) and the recently amalgamated Usuthu catchment. The Incomati catchment (Figure 3.2), is comprised of the Crocodile River, Inkomati River, as well as the Sabie, Komati, Massintonto, Uanetze and Mazimechope Rivers.



Figure 3.2: The Incomati Catchment

The Crocodile River, which is the focus of this research, is a perennial river that originates at Steenkampsberg, north of Dullstroom, in the western part of Mpumalanga. It has a relatively large river basin with a total river length of approximately 320 km draining a catchment area of about 10 450 km² from its source to its confluence with the Komati River. At Komatipoort, the Crocodile River and the Komati River converge to form the Incomati River which cuts through the Lebombo Mountains into Mozambique between the border towns of Komatipoort and Ressano Garcia. The Incomati River then flows across the Mozambique coastal plain for approximately 250 km before reaching the sea at the Incomati Delta at Marracuene, approximately 20 km north-east of Maputo. Its main tributaries include the Elands, Sand, White and Kaap Rivers (CSIR, 2001), while

the minor tributaries include the Nsikazi (or Sigasi) River and the Mbiyamiti River (in the Kruger National Park).

The focus of this research will, however, be on the South African portion of the Crocodile River (as shown in Figure 3.3). This is mainly due to data availability and the consistency of how data are captured and recorded. Inconsistencies in the data that are used would impact the accuracy of this research.



Figure 3.3: The Crocodile River (East) in South Africa

3.2 Physical Properties of the Study Area

3.2.1 Topography

The Crocodile River rises at an altitude of approximately 2 000 metres above sea level (m.a.s.l.) near Dullstroom in the Steenkampsberg Mountains. The upper catchment consists of steep-sided valleys, often with sharply defined cliff slopes on the eastern edge of the escarpment. From the escarpment, the Crocodile River levels out into the basin of the Kwena Dam, and then winds along the valleys of the Drakensberg Mountains (Schoemanskloof) to Montrose Falls and the confluence of the Elands River (Roux *et al.,* 1999). The topography of the catchment is illustrated in Figure 3.4. The high interior plateau and the low-lying



region have relatively flat rolling terrain, while the escarpment zone is mountainous with scarps and steep valley flanks (RHP, 2012).

Figure 3.4: Topography of the Crocodile Catchment (shown in metres above sea level (m.a.s.l.)) (Data Source: USGS, 2014)

The changes in altitude can be represented through a longitudinal profile through the main trunk of the river, which recognises changes in the longitudinal characteristics of the river. The longitudinal profile of the Crocodile River is illustrated in Figure 3.5.



Figure 3.5: Longitudinal Profile of the Crocodile River, showing the Mountainous, Foothill and Lowland Zones (Adapted from DWA, 2002)

Between Montrose Falls and Nelspruit, the Crocodile River is slightly incised into a broad, flat-bottomed valley. Further downstream the steep sided river banks are densely covered with riparian vegetation and reed beds. Downstream of its confluence with the Kaap River, the gradient of the Crocodile River flattens out until its confluence with the Komati River at the town of Komatipoort (Roux *et al.*, 1999).

3.2.2 Geology

The Crocodile River is a slow flowing river whose channel flows over mainly bedrock or sandy pools (Roux and Selepe, 2013). The geology of the Crocodile catchment is complex, as is illustrated in Figure 3.6.



Figure 3.6: Geology of the Crocodile Catchment (Data Source: WRC, 2011)

It is characterized in the south by sedimentary rocks (such as arenite) and volcanic rocks (mainly lavas) of the Barberton sequence. In the west, it is composed of a complex mixture of sedimentary rocks (such as arenite and shale), volcanic (mainly andesite) and dolomitic rocks of the Transvaal sequence. In the east, it contains a very small area of sedimentary rocks (such as shale) and volcanic rocks (mainly basalt and rhyolite) of the Karoo sequence (Mussá *et al.*, 2015).

The wider Lowveld has developed as the younger overlying sediments have been eroded away, exposing the older granitic geology. The topography associated with the granite is thus typically gently undulating, which has had a concomitant effect on the type of drainage present in the area (SANRAL, 2012). The Kruger National Park contains rocks that represent the earliest parts of South Africa's geological history. Archaean rocks present in the KNP include both Archaean granitoid intrusions and Archaean greenstone belt fragments (Robb *et al.*, 2006).

3.2.3 Soil Typology

The catchment is characterised by plains with moderate slopes and highveld grasslands on deep red to yellow sandy soils, overlying granites, quartzites and basalts (CSIR, 2013). The soils are highly variable, ranging from moderately deep clayey loam in the west, to moderately deep sandy loam in the central areas and moderately deep clayey soils in the east (Okello *et al.*, 2015). Figure 3.7 illustrates that the dominant soil textures in the catchment, are sandy loam to loamy sand (LmSa-SaLm), sandy clay to clay (SaCI-CI) and sandy clay loam (SaCILm). The type of soil in the river basin determines the saturation level of the riverbed because the soil type determines whether rainfall will infiltrate and impact the ability of vegetation to grow. (Water infiltrates sand quicker than loamy and clayey textures. Clayey textures have the lowest infiltration rate.) This will impact the characteristics of the river basin, such as the vegetation and anthropogenic factors.



Figure 3.7: Soil Types in the Crocodile Catchment (Data Source: WRC, 2011)

3.2.4 Ecology

The natural ecology of the study area consists of savannah-type vegetation, i.e. very open woodland with a grassy understorey. Dense thickets and large trees occur along drainage lines, wetlands and rivers in the study area (SANRAL, 2012). There are 3 major biomes in the study area, grassland, savanna (bushveld) and forest (Figure 3.8). The grasslands are found predominantly on the higher altitude plateaus and slopes, and the bushveld is dominant in the lower plains. Patches of afromontane forest are found on the Drakensberg Escarpment - the western half of the catchment has the largest number of exotic plantations. The area below 250 m altitude falls within the typical Bushveld (Roux and Selepe, 2013).



Figure 3.8: Ecology of the Crocodile Catchment (Data Source: WRC, 2011)

3.2.5 Land Cover and Land Use Typology

A large proportion of the study area has been modified or transformed from its natural condition (CSIR, 2001). The increase in modified areas results in changes in the relationship between land-use and environmental impacts. For example, an increase in urban areas results in an increase in surface runoff and consequently erosion and flooding, which is a result of the increase in high flows in localised areas. Therefore, the land cover types in the area, illustrated in Figure 3.9, will likely influence the possibility and magnitude of flooding.



Figure 3.9: Land Cover Types in the Crocodile Catchment (Data Source: NLC, 2009)

The area is characterised by agriculture (pasture, dryland or irrigated cultivation), conservation areas and forestry, as well as mining and industrial activities (RHP, 2012). The Kaap River sub-catchment has been intensively mined (Heath, 1999). Commercial agriculture predominates, with much of the area in the vicinity of White River being utilised for the production of subtropical fruit, in particularly citrus, as well as sugarcane (SANRAL, 2012).

In certain areas, small compartments of commercial forestry occur (SANRAL, 2012). In the low-lying region, there are large conservation areas such as the internationally renowned Kruger National Park (CSIR, 2001). In addition, there are extensive areas of exotic afforestation in the upper and middle areas of the catchment (Heath, 1999).

3.2.6 Settlement Patterns

The area is largely rural, although there are a few towns, and urbanisation is rapid (RHP, 2012). The major settlement in the catchment is Nelspruit, although parts of the area to the north-west of Nelspruit have a low population density. Other 'transformed' parts of the study area include urban areas (residential, retail and

light industrial as well as a newly-developed informal settlement component), with a number of transport links in the form of road and rail (SANRAL, 2012). Settlement patterns along the river basin are illustrated in Figure 3.10.



Figure 3.10: Settlement Patterns along the Crocodile Catchment (Data Source: NLC, 2009 and Google Imagery, 2014)

The Middle Crocodile River sub-catchment is impacted by intensive urbanisation around Nelspruit, aNyamazane and Matsulu (Heath, 1999). Approximately 1.5% of the study area is under urban development, although this is expanding rapidly. There are concerns about this in terms of loss of natural habitat and increased generation of pollution and waste (CSIR, 2001), leading to an increase in vulnerability to flood events.

3.3 Climatological Properties of the Study Area

3.3.1 Rainfall

There is a typical rainfall gradient between the escarpment and the lower lying areas, with rainfall decreasing as one moves eastward away from the escarpment into the Lowveld. The location of parts of the study area within the foothills of the escarpment means that these areas have a higher rainfall than other surrounding lower-lying areas (SANRAL, 2012). The region, therefore, has variable rainfall



distribution due to the large variation in altitude and relief. The mean annual rainfall (i.e. precipitation) over the river basin is illustrated in Figure 3.11.

Figure 3.11: Mean Annual Precipitation (MAP) in the Crocodile Catchment (Data Source: WRC, 2011)

Rainfall is highly seasonal with rainfall predominantly occurring in the summer months (SANRAL, 2012). The Highveld region experiences high rainfall, which is mostly received in the form of summer storms (RHP, 2012) as peak rainfall months are December through January (DWAF, 2004). The mean annual rainfall for the southern part of the study area ranges between 775 and 795 mm per annum. To the higher-lying ground to the north, rainfall gradient increases to around 875 mm per annum (SANRAL, 2012). On the escarpment, the rainfall is generally higher (in excess of 600-1200 mm per annum), while the low-lying areas are drier (400-600 mm per annum) (RHP, 2012).

Inter-annual fluctuations in rainfall are large, however, and extremes of flooding and drought are not uncommon (RHP, 2012). High variability is also common seasonally, and high rainfall events that result in flooding are analysed further in Chapter 4.1. This high seasonality of precipitation has implications for the hydrology of the area, and means that river flows are typically much higher in the summer months (SANRAL, 2012).

3.3.2 Temperature

The Crocodile River Basin region has variable temperature due to the large variation in altitude and relief. The area typically experiences hot summer temperatures, whilst winters are generally mild with a low incidence of frost (SANRAL, 2012). The Highveld region is cool (10-18°C), while the escarpment varies from 10-12°C to 20-22°C (Figure 3.12). In the low-lying areas temperatures are generally warmer, with an annual average of 22°C (RHP, 2012). Maximum temperatures are experienced during the summer season in January, while minimum temperatures are experienced during the winter season in June.



Figure 3.12: Average Temperature in the Crocodile Catchment (Data Source: ArcGIS Gallery, 2015)

Due to the high and dry temperatures of the region, evaporation is relatively high. Potential evaporation decreases from downstream (low altitudes) to upstream (high altitudes) (Mussá *et al.*, 2015). Average potential annual evaporation ranges from 1 600 mm in the south-west to 2 000 mm in the east. The highest evaporation occurs in January (approximately 203 mm) and the lowest in June (101 mm).

3.4 Hydrological Properties of the Study Area

The maximum of *usable surface water*, existing groundwater use and usable return flows that can be abstracted from the system (taking into account storage and natural runoff), is 859 million m³/a (RHP, 2012). This is referred to as the estimated maximum yield, as defined in the NWRS (2004).

The Crocodile Catchment has a natural mean annual runoff (nMAR) of 1 200 million m³/a. This is the *total flow* calculated for a specified period of time (i.e. 1 October to 30 September) in the catchment's natural state. The mean annual runoff (MAR) for each of the sub-catchments in the Crocodile Catchment, which is the *average flow* calculated for a specified period of time for a specified area, is illustrated in Figure 3.13.



Figure 3.13: The Natural Mean Annual Runoff (million m³/a) for the Sub-Catchments in the Crocodile Catchment (Data Source: WRC, 2011)

As illustrated in Figure 3.13, the MAR in the western and northern parts of the catchment varies between 200 and 500 million m³/a, which can be attributed to the Kwena and Witklip Dams that regulate the flow. The eastern part of the catchment, where the Kruger National Park is located, has a MAR of less than 10 million m³/a. This is mainly attributed to the forested areas, which reduce the runoff that would have flowed in the river under natural conditions.

3.5 Conclusions

While the Crocodile River catchment is characterized by a semi-arid climate, precipitation is highly seasonal. More than 80% of the annual rainfall falls during the summer half-year (October to March) and also varies over the catchment - it is higher in the middle parts and lower in the upstream and downstream regions (Mussá *et al.*, 2015). In addition, there is increasing development along the Crocodile River, including rural communities, urban areas, industries and agricultural changes. This may increase flood risk, as these natural and hydroclimatic characteristics create a possible flood hazard for the basin, which may result in flood-related impacts on settlements and industries, as well as on vegetation cover, fluvial and sediment systems). This relationship is investigated further in Chapters 5 to 8.
CHAPTER 4 - DATA ACQUISITION, ANALYSIS AND METHODOLOGY

4. DATA ACQUISITION, ANALYSIS AND METHODOLOGY

The availability of data determines the methodology and the flood parameters to be modelled in flood hazard mapping (Zimmermann, 2008). In order to perform flood modelling, the data requirements need to be determined and sourced. These data requirements include:

- Historical climate and hydrological data that describe the flood event,
- Topographic data that describe the topography of the study area,
- Land cover, land use and other spatial data that provide a spatial description of the river basin characteristics.

The data are required for hydraulic modelling to show flood parameters such as extent and depth. In addition, the accuracy of the data is important as it influences the accuracy and reliability of the resulting flood hazard maps.

4.1 Hydro-Climatic Data

4.1.1 Data Acquisition

The Department of Water and Sanitation (DWS) is the custodian of all hydrological data in South Africa, while the South African Weather Service (SAWS), the DWS, as well as agricultural organisations are custodians of meteorological data. However, as rainfall directly impacts the hydrological characteristics, namely water level and discharge (or flow) of a system, DWS also maintains meteorological data.

Monitoring information needs to be stored in an information system that is accessible and comprehensible to decision-makers and water managers (de la Harpe, 1998; Republic of South Africa, 1998). The Hydrological Services at DWS are responsible for providing hydrological data and information. Their Hydrological Information System (HIS) consists of various databases that include data on river stations, river flow and other related information. More than 800 gauging stations for river flow exist and each station has one or more monitoring points (DWA,

2009). This information system aims to provide various water role-players with information for research and development, planning, environmental impact assessments, determining water resource status, improving public safety, and disaster management (de la Harpe, 1998; Republic of South Africa, 1998).

The data for the relevant weather and gauging stations are contained on DWS's online HIS. Table 4.1 shows the weather stations in the Inkomati Water Management Area, while Table 4.2 shows the gauging stations. As several stations are currently non-operational, they have been excluded from this analysis. As stipulated above, the gauging stations record various hydrological data. For this research, the water level and discharge rates were deemed as the most suitable data entries, and the daily readings were downloaded from DWS's HIS. Table 4.1 and Table 4.2 also show the period for which there are available records for weather and gauging stations respectively.

Table 4.1: Weather Stations in the Inkomati WMA (Data obtained from DWS	5'S
HIS at <u>www.dwaf.gov.za/hydrology/</u> . Accessed: 31 May 2014)	

Station No	Name	Daily Data Availability			
X1E003	Nooitgedacht Dam	02/08/1961	30/04/2014		
X1E006	Vygeboom Dam	31/07/1970	01/04/2014		
X1E007	Driekoppies Dam	06/11/2004	30/04/2014		
X2E010	Witklip Dam	31/07/1970	30/04/2014		
X2E013	Kwena Dam	02/12/1979	30/04/2014		
X3E005	Inyaka Dam	31/07/2002	30/04/2014		

Table 4.2: Gauging Stations along the Crocodile River (East) (Data obtained from DWS's HIS at <u>www.dwaf.gov.za/hydrology/</u>. Accessed: 31 May 2014)

Station No	Name	Daily Data Availability				
X2H006	Karino	02/10/1929	30/04/2014			
X2H013	Montrose	21/01/1959	30/04/2014			
X2H016	Tenbosch	24/08/1960	30/04/2014			
X2H032	Weltevrede	15/09/1968	30/04/2014			
X2H046	Riverside	04/09/1985	30/04/2014			
X2H070	Badfontein	09/11/1979	30/04/2014			

The weather and gauging stations provided in Table 4.1 and Table 4.2 were mapped in order to obtain a spatial perspective of their distribution. As the weather stations provided in Table 4.1 are for the Inkomati WMA, several of the stations (i.e. X1E003, X1E006, X1E007 and X3E005) fall outside of the Crocodile



Catchment and were thus excluded from the analysis. The weather and gauging stations that fall within the catchment are illustrated in Figure 4.1.

Figure 4.1: Weather and Gauging Stations in the Crocodile Catchment

The analysis of the weather and gauging stations is provided below. In addition, the discussion of which weather and gauging stations will be used for the remainder of this research and the reasoning behind the selection is also provided.

4.1.2 Data Analysis

As the accuracy of the flood modelling relies on the accuracy of the data, it was essential that the quality of the data was assessed. Table 4.3 provides an overview of the quality codes that are used by DWS to describe the quality of the data. Only the applicable quality codes (i.e. codes that are relevant for the data points for the weather and gauging stations in Table 4.1 and 4.2), and the associated descriptions, have been provided in Table 4.3.

Table 4.3: Description of Quality Codes for Data Entries (Data obtained from
DWS's HIS at <u>www.dwaf.gov.za/hydrology/</u> . Accessed: 31 May 2014)

Quality Code	Description
Quality Code 1	Good continuous data
Quality Code 2	Good edited data
Quality Code 4	Unaudited

Quality Code 26	Audited Gauge Plate Readings / dip level readings
Quality Code 60	Above Rating
Quality Code 64	Audited Estimate
Quality Code 65	Unaudited Estimate
Quality Code 151	Data Missing
Quality Code 170	Permanent Gap

The quality codes show that codes 1 and 2 are the most desirable quality codes as they represent good, continuous and edited data. Codes 4 and 26 are less desirable as they represent unaudited data and gauge plate readings or dip level readings. Codes 60, 64 and 65 are undesirable as they represent data estimates. Codes 151 and 170 represent data gaps, and can therefore not be used for the analysis. Based on these quality codes, the quality of the data for each of the weather and gauging stations is shown in the Table 4.4 and Table 4.5 respectively.

Table 4.4: Analysis of All Data Records for Weather Stations (Data Range: 02October 1929 – 10 April 2014)

Station No	Total Entries	Quality Code 1	Quality Code 4	Quality Code 26
X1E003	3 560	3 287	273	0
X1E006	3 529	2 800	729	0
X1E007	3 438	0	0	3 438
X2E010	3 560	3 135	425	0
X2E013	3 560	3 287	273	0
X3E005	3 560	3 287	273	0
TOTAL	21 207	15 796	1 973	3 438

Table 4.5: Analysis of All Water Level and Discharge Rate Data Records for
Gauging Stations (Data Range: 02 October 1929 – 10 April 2014)

Station No	Total Entries	Quality Code 1	Quality Code 2	Quality Code 4	Quality Code 60	Quality Code 64	Quality Code 65	Quality Code 151	Quality Code 170
Water Level								L	
X2H006	94 484	84 909	81	9 494	0	0	0	0	0
X2H013	65 491	55 641	1 412	8 294	0	143	0	0	1
X2H016	94 405	78 641	2 556	6 613	0	0	6 593	0	2
X2H032	67 133	50 231	5	16 500	4	389	0	2	2
X2H046	96 644	84 693	785	11 160	0	0	0	3	3
X2H070	96 469	85 454	2 736	8 279	0	0	0	0	0
TOTAL	514 626	439 569	7 575	60 340	4	532	6 593	5	8
Discharge Rate									
X2H006	94 483	83 642	81	8 560	2 200	0	0	0	0
X2H013	65 491	55 641	1 412	8 294	0	143	0	0	1

X2H016	94 405	78 641	2 556	6 613	0	0	6 593	0	2
X2H032	67 133	50 231	5	16 500	4	389	0	2	2
X2H046	96 644	81 821	785	7 765	1 666	4 601	0	3	3
X2H070	96 469	85 433	2 736	8 279	21	0	0	0	0
TOTAL	514 625	435 409	7 575	56 011	3 891	5 133	6 593	5	8

Importantly, although data were available for more than 10 years for the gauging and weather stations, as discussed in Section 4.4 the limited written records of flood events on the river made it difficult to analyse previous floods events. Therefore, a more recent time period (i.e. August 2004 to April 2014) was selected to enable a comparison and analysis between flood records and the hydro-climatic data. The months of August to April were selected to coincide with the rainfall season (i.e. summer months), as discussed in Chapter 3.

The selection of the weather and gauging stations was based on the quality of the data, as well as the spatial distribution of the stations. A summary of the quality of the data (02 October 1929 to 10 April 2014) is provided in Table 4.6, while the spatial distribution is discussed below.

Station No.	Good Quality		Average Quality		Poor Quality		Total	
Station NO	Total	%	Total	%	Total	%	Entries	
Weather Stations								
X2E010	3 560	100	0	0	0	0	3 560	
X2E013	3 560	100	0	0	0	0	3 560	
Gauging Stations	(Water Leve	el)						
X2H006	84 990	90	9 494	10	0	0	94 484	
X2H013	57 053	87	8 294	13	144	0	65 491	
X2H016	81 197	86	6 613	7	6 595	7	94 405	
X2H032	50 236	75	16 500	25	397	1	67 133	
X2H046	85 478	88	11 160	12	6	0	96 644	
X2H070	88 190	91	8 279	9	0	0	96 469	
Gauging Stations	(Discharge	Rate)						
X2H006	83 723	89	8 560	9	2 200	2	94 483	
X2H013	57 053	87	8 294	13	144	0	65 491	
X2H016	81 197	86	6 613	7	6 595	7	94 405	
X2H032	50 236	75	16 500	25	397	1	67 133	
X2H046	82 606	85	7 765	8	6 273	6	96 644	
X2H070	88 169	91	8 279	9	21	0	96 469	

Table 4.6: Summary of the Data Quality of All Stations (Data Range: 02October 1929 – 10 April 2014)

The two weather stations, namely X2E010 (at Witklip Dam) and X2E013 (at Kwena Dam) have 100% of good quality data entries. The two weather stations are located relatively far apart, with Station X2E013 located in the western part of the catchment, and Station X2E010 located in the northern-central part (see Figure 4.2). As weather patterns of the entire catchment will influence the Crocodile River, both weather stations will be used for this dissertation.

The gauging stations do not all have good quality data entries. Station X2H006 (at Karino) and X2H070 (at Badfontein) have the highest number of good quality data entries for the water level (90% and 91% respectively) and discharge rate (89% and 91% respectively), while the X2H032 (at Weltevrede) has the lowest number (75% for both water level and discharge rate). Station X2H016 (at Tenbosch) has the highest number of poor quality data entries (7%) for both the water level and discharge rate.

As this research focuses on a segment of the Crocodile River (as discussed in Section 4.4.1), gauging stations that are located upstream of the segment. i.e. Station X2H013 (at Montrose), and along the segment, i.e. Station X2H006 (at Karino), were selected. The segment, weather and gauging stations that will be used for the remainder of this research are illustrated in Figure 4.2.



Figure 4.2: The Selected Segment (Red Rectangle), Weather (Pink Circles) and Gauging Stations (Purple Circles)

The X2E010 Weather Station

The daily rainfall at X2E010 weather station at Witklip Dam is illustrated in Figure 4.3. The figure illustrates that the highest daily rainfall event was 210 mm, which was experienced on the 17th of January 2012, and the second highest was 184 mm, which was experienced on the 3rd of February 2009.



Figure 4.3: Daily Rainfall for the X2E010 Weather Station at Witklip Dam (1 Aug 2004 - 30 Apr 2014)

The X2E013 Weather Station

The daily rainfall at X2E013 weather station at Kwena Dam is illustrated in Figure 4.4. The figure illustrates that the highest daily rainfall event was 74 mm, which was experienced on the 28th of December 2013, and the second highest was 66.4 mm, which was experienced on the 4th of January 2010.



Figure 4.4: Daily Rainfall for the X2E013 Weather Station at Kwena Dam (1 Aug 2004 - 30 Apr 2014)

For both weather stations, seasonal variations in the rainfall patterns are evident, with rain falling during the spring and summer seasons and almost no rainfall in the winter and autumn seasons.

The X2H006 Gauging Station

The water levels at the X2H006 gauging station at Karino (circled in purple in Figure 4.2), are illustrated in Figure 4.5, while the discharge rates are illustrated in Figure 4.6.



Figure 4.5: Daily Water Levels at the X2H006 Gauging Station at Karino (1 Aug 2004 - 30 Apr 2014)



Figure 4.6: Discharge (Flow) Rates at the X2H006 Gauging Station at Karino (1 Aug 2004 - 30 Apr 2014)

The X2H013 Gauging Station

The water levels at the X2H013 gauging station at Montrose (circled in purple in Figure 4.2), are illustrated in Figure 4.7, while the discharge rates are illustrated in Figure 4.8.



Figure 4.7: Daily Water Levels at the X2H013 Gauging Station at Montrose (1 Aug 2004 - 30 Apr 2014)



Figure 4.8: Discharge (Flow) Rates at the X2H013 Gauging Station at Montrose (1 Aug 2004 - 30 Apr 2014)

The water level and discharge series for both gauging stations exhibit significant variations although an annual cycle is evident (i.e. peaks during the spring-summer periods).

4.1.3 Data Processing

The hydro-climatic data were analysed through the use of the Microsoft Excel software package. This involved an analysis of the daily records, mean values, trends, and the development of scenarios (as discussed further in Chapter 6).

4.2 Topographical Data

4.2.1 Data Acquisition

Topographical data are required to describe a river and its surrounding area (Maidment, 2002; Martini and Loat, 2007). DEMs and contours are examples of data sources that can be used for topographical data.

In the past, expensive and time consuming ground surveys and photogrammetric data collection had to be done to collect topographic data for study areas (Heywood *et al.*, 2002). With the arrival of remote sensing, especially airborne laser altimetry (Marks and Bates, 2000) and interferometric synthetic aperture radar (SAR) (Maidment and Djokic, 2000; Smith, 2002), topographic data for flood modelling analysis can be easily obtained. In European countries, the collection of this high resolution data is done periodically (Hunter *et al.*, 2007). This is also the same for other developed countries such as those located in North America. The topographical data sources that exist in South Africa, are provided in Table 4.7.

Data Sources	Resolution or Interval	Coverage
Contours		
CD: NGI 1: 10 000 scale topographic mapping	5 m - 20 m interval	South Africa
CD: NGI 1: 50 000 scale topographic mapping	20 m interval	South Africa
DEMs Derived from Satellite Platforms		
LiDAR	1 m vertical resolution	Global
Worldview 1 & 2, GeoEye-1, Pleiades 1A/1B	1 m vertical resolution	Global
ASTER GDEM	2 m - 30 m resolution	Global
CD: NGI DEM	25 m - 50 m resolution	South Africa
SANSA	30 m resolution	South Africa
SRTM DEM	30 m - 90 m resolution	Global
GTOPO 30	1 km resolution	Global

There are several national and international topographical data sources that are available:

- The Chief Directorate: National Geo-spatial Information (CD: NGI) provides
 5 m and 20 m interval contours for partial and national coverage respectively. DEMs are available from CD: NGI at 25 m and 50 m grid with partial coverage of South Africa and a vertical accuracy of 2.5 m (CD: NGI, 2011a).
- Light detection and ranging (LiDAR) offers DEMs at 1 m resolution with a vertical accuracy of 0.15 m to 0.25 m.
- The Worldview 1 and 2, GeoEye-1, and Pleiades 1A/1B satellites offer DEMs at 1 m resolution with a vertical accuracy of 0.5 m to 2 m. The data are available from the United States Geological Survey (USGS) website.
- The Advanced Spaceborne Thermal Emission and Reflection Radiometer (ASTER) Global digital elevation model (GDEM) provides DEMs of 2 m up to 30 m resolution, with a vertical accuracy of up to 15 m. The data are available from the USGS website. (This dataset was used for this dissertation, as discussed in Section 4.2.2.)
- The South African National Space Agency (SANSA) provides DEMs at 30 m resolution, with a vertical accuracy of 5 m.
- The Shuttle Radar Topography Mission (SRTM) DEM has a 30 m to 90 m resolution, with a vertical accuracy of 10 m. The data are available from the USGS website.
- The Global 30 Arc-Second Elevation (GTOPO 30) is a global digital elevation model (DEM) that provides DEMs at 1 km resolution, with a vertical accuracy 30 m. The data are available from the USGS website.

The quality of the topographical data source is an important factor in the accuracy and reliability of the final flood hazard map (Martini and Loat, 2007; Sane and Huokuna, 2008; De Moel *et al.*, 2009), thus it is important to select the most suitable topographic data source. Martini and Loat (2007) recommends a 0.5 m vertical resolution and a 10x10 m (possibly even 5x5 m) horizontal resolution as minimum requirements for a DEM. Where contours are used to generate a DEM, the contours should at least be at 1 m vertical intervals (Martini and Loat, 2007).

4.2.2 Data Preparation

From Table 4.7 above, it is evident that very limited data at the required resolution are available for South Africa. Therefore, it will be essential to obtain data from international sources. The USGS website provides access to various DEMs. A search on this database provided two DEMs for the study area, ASTER Global DEM (GDEM) Version 2 and SRTM, which both provided 1 Arc-Second (30 x 30 m) grids. Both DEMs were downloaded and uploaded on the HEC-RAS software package. This enabled a comparison of the two models, and a selection of the most precise model. For this study, the ASTER DEMs provided the most precise representation of the study area. In addition, the file type was compatible with the software packages. The two ASTER DEMs that were downloaded for use are illustrated by the red squares in Figure 4.9.



Figure 4.9: The Two ASTER DEMs (Red Squares) used for this Research (Data Source: USGS, 2014)

The two DEMs were used for hydraulic modelling. This enables the development of flood maps based on an accurate spatial representation of the topography. To enable this, the two DEMs where converted from raster to tin format as this is the format required for input into the hydraulic modelling software. The converted DEMs are illustrated by the red squares in Figure 4.10.



Figure 4.10: The Two Converted DEMs (Red Squares) used for this Research

4.2.3 Data Processing

There are various software packages that can be used for the modelling of flood events. As flood modelling has various processing requirements, a combination of software packages is often required. This includes flood modelling software, and spatial analysis software to prepare flood maps. A detailed explanation of flood modelling software packages is provided in Section 2.5.2, while an explanation of spatial analysis and flood mapping software packages is provided in Section 2.5.3.

The software packages that were be used for this research are the HEC-RAS 4.1.0 package for flood modelling, and ArcGIS 10.3.1 for spatial analysis and flood mapping.

 HEC-RAS is a dynamically coupled modelling environment that is used for modelling 2D flow. It can be utilised with numerous software packages that are produced by the US Army Corps of Engineers (i.e. RAS Mapper and HEC-GeoRAS), and thus combines the advantages offered by the individual packages. RAS Mapper offers 2D modelling capabilities, while HEC-GeoRAS allows the preparation of geometric data for import into HEC-RAS and also enables processing of post-simulation results exported from HEC-RAS.

 ArcGIS is a collection of spatial analysis software that is produced by ESRI (e.g. ArcMap, ArcScene), and can thus be used for 3D analysis, geospatial data preparation and map creation. DEMs such as raw LiDAR data can be converted to a 3D layer by using the spatial analysis toolbox offered by the software package. In addition, the HEC-GeoRAS software package is loaded as an extension to ArcGIS, and is therefore accessed through the package.

4.3 Land Use and Land Cover Data

4.3.1 Data Acquisition

Land use refers to the human activity (e.g. industry, agriculture) associated with a specific land unit, while land cover refers to all natural features (e.g. vegetation (natural or planted), water, ice, bare rock) and anthropogenic features (e.g. buildings, roads) on the surface of the earth (Thompson, 1996). These two terms are often used interchangeably. However, in order to provide the comprehensive catchment characteristics, both sets of data need to be considered.

South Africa has four main land cover data sets available:

- The National Land Cover (NLC) 1994, was released in 1996 by the Council for Scientific and Industrial Research (CSIR). It is a manually digitised data set based on the Land Remote-Sensing Satellite (Landsat) Thematic Mapper (TM) satellite imagery collected from 1994 to 1996. This vector data set contains 31 land cover classes (Schoeman *et al.*, 2010).
- The National Land Cover (NLC) 2000 was released in 2005. It is based on the Landsat 7 Enhanced Thematic Mapper (ETM) satellite imagery for the period 2000 to 2001. This raster dataset contains 45 land cover classes (Schoeman *et al.*, 2010).
- The National Land Cover (NLC) 2009 and released during 2010. It was based on the merging of the NLC 2000 as a base layer with other more recent national land cover datasets that were developed by other state

organisations or parastatal institutions (SANBI, 2010). This raster dataset has a final classification of eight classes (SANBI, 2009).

 The Environmental Potential Atlas (ENPAT) was developed for the Department of Environmental Affairs (DEA) by the University of Pretoria in 2001. It provides land cover at a scale of 1:250 000, and was developed to provide guidance in decision-making regarding environmental impact assessments (ENPAT, 2001).

The NLC 2000 contains 45 classes and was carried out at a scale of 1:50 000 over the entire country. On the other hand, the NLC 2009 is the most recent dataset. However, the fact that the NLC 2009 only contain 8 classes does not make it suitable. Both of these datasets were downloaded and analysed, as this enabled an assessment of which dataset provided the most detailed representation of the catchment.

Other spatial information will also be required. This includes data and/or shapefiles showing vegetation, soil types, as well as spatial characteristics (including settlement patterns, land use types, administrative boundaries and socio-economic data). The data and/or shapefiles were obtained from various databases, such as the South African National Biodiversity Institute (SANBI), the Water Research Commission (WRC), ArcGIS Gallery and other online GIS databases. The Department of Water and Sanitation (DWS), Chief Directorate Surveys and Mapping (CDSM), National Geo-spatial Information (NGI), a component of Department of Rural Development and Land Reform (DRDLR).

Satellite imagery is used to capture the surface of the earth at a particular time, and can be classified into three categories according to their spatial resolution:

- low/medium resolution (30 m 1 000 m);
- medium resolution (10 m 30 m); and
- high resolution (0.1 m 10 m) (Altan *et al.*, 2010).

There is a wide range of satellite imagery available for South Africa that is distributed by local and international custodians (as shown in Table 4.8). Table 4.8 also indicates the imagery that is used for this dissertation.

Name	Horizontal Resolution or Scale	Coverage
Aerial Photo		
CD: NGI Panchromatic (Pan)	1: 20 000 - 1: 150 000	South Africa
CD: NGI Colour	1: 20 000 - 1: 30 000	South Africa
Orthophotos		•
CD: NGI Colour	1: 10 000	South Africa
Satellite Imagery (optical)		•
WorldView-3 (2014 - to date)	0.31 m	Global
GeoEye-1 (2008 - to date)	0.46 m	Global
WorldView-1 and WorldView-2 (2007 - to date)	0.46 m	Global
Pleiades-1A and Pleiades-1B (2011 - to date)	0.5 m	Global
QuickBird (2001 - 2015)	0.65 m	Global
IKONOS (1999 - date)	0.82 m	Global
SkySat-1 and SkySat-1 (2013 - to date)	0.9 m	Global
SPOT-6 and SPOT-7 (2012 - to date)	1.5 m	Global
FORMOSAT-2 (2004 - 2015)	2 m	Global
ALOS (2006 - 2011)	2.5 m	Global
CARTOSAT-1 (2005 - to date)	2.5 m	Global
SPOT-5 (2002 - 2015)	2.5 m - 5 m	Global
RapidEye (2008 - to date)	5 m	Global
SPOT-1, SPOT-2, SPOT-3 and SPOT-4 (1986 - to date)	10 m	Global
Landsat-8 OLI (Operational Land Imager) (2013 - to date)	30 m	Global
Landsat-7 and Landsat-8 Enhanced Thematic Mapper Plus (ETM+) (1999 - to date)	15 m	Global
ASTER (1999 - to date)	15 m	Global
CBERS-2 and CBERS-CCD (2003 - to date)	20 m	Global
Landsat-4 and Landsat-5 - Landsat Thematic Mapper (TM) sensor (1982 - to date)	30 m	South Africa
Landsat 1-5 Multispectral Scanner (MSS) (1972 - to date)	60 m	South Africa
Terra (MODIS) (1999 - to date)	250 m, 500 m, 1 km	Global
NOAA AVHRR (1981 - to date)	1 km	Global

 Table 4.8: Aerial and Satellite Imagery Available for South Africa. The

 imagery used for this dissertation is indicated in italics.

The type and scale of the flood hazard map will determine the geometric resolution of the imagery. For example, low resolution (250 m) Moderate Resolution Imaging Spectroradiometer (MODIS) images are used when the flood extent is large and mapped at a national scale (e.g. 1: 500 000) (Altan *et al.*, 2010). Medium resolution can be considered for monitoring food events at regional scales (e.g. 1: 25 000 to 1: 50 000), while high resolution is best suited for local applications (e.g. 1: 5 000 to 1: 25 000); both medium and high resolution imagery can be obtained from the

Chief Directorate: National Geo-spatial Information (CD: NGI). Therefore, a combination of MODIS and CD: NGI imagery will be used in this research.

A concern, however, is that high-resolution imagery is not captured daily. For example, the Landsat Thematic Mapper (TM) sensor, the Landsat Enhanced Thematic Mapper Plus (ETM+) sensor, as well as the Landsat 8 sensors collect images of the Earth with a 16-day repeat cycle. Therefore, depending on the day for which imagery is required, there is a possibility that no imagery will be available.

4.3.2 Data Analysis

Land use and land cover data, as well as any other relevant data and shapefiles, were downloaded from the relevant sources as discussed above. Through the use of the shapefiles and Google Imagery, the spatial characteristics of the area were identified and analysed. This enabled the selection of a segment for the dissertation, as discussed in Section 4.4.

An online search of satellite imagery from the CD: NGI and MODIS database was also conducted. In addition, the USGS website, which houses daily global satellite imagery was also searched. Challenges were however experienced with the available satellite imagery. This was mainly due to the fact that images for South Africa are not captured daily. Although several Landsat 7 ETM+ (30 m resolution) satellite images could be found, there were no clear images available for the day of the flood events (5 February 2009 or 19 January 2012). (The cloud cover on the days after the flood resulted in the images being unclear and unusable.) The high resolution images that were available were when the flood had already receded, and could therefore not be used to compare the flood distribution. In addition, the MODIS images that were available on the flood events were of a poor resolution, and could thus not be used to compare the flood distribution. Therefore, as no satellite imagery was found for the flood events, no data analysis was conducted.

4.3.3 Data Processing

ArcGIS is a powerful GIS software package that provides a variety of opportunities for spatial modelling and analysis, 3D visualization, and developer tools to enable high quality map production. Google Imagery also enabled a representation and identification of spatial characteristics. However, as no satellite imagery was found for the flood events, no data processing of satellite imagery was conducted.

4.4 Flood Mapping

4.4.1 Segment Identification

The methodology applied in this research was restricted by the available data (as discussed in Section 4.1 - 4.3). As discussed in Section 4.1, only a 30km segment of the Crocodile River was analysed through hydraulic modelling, and for which flood maps were created. Along the segment, two different types of locations were selected for detailed analysis, namely 1) Tekwane, a village located approximately 25 km East of Nelspruit, and 2) Riverside, a suburb situated in Nelspruit. The two locations are shown as squares in Figure 4.11, while the segment is the shown as a pink line.



Figure 4.11: Location of Segment along the Crocodile River (Pink Line). The Red Square Indicates Tekwane and the Orange Square Indicates Riverside

The enlarged (large scale) map of the segment is shown in Figure 4.12, while the satellite image is shown in Figure 4.13.



Figure 4.12: Location of the Selected Segment along the Crocodile River (Pink Line)



Figure 4.13: Satellite Map of the Selected Segment along the Crocodile River (Pink Line)

Close up Google Earth Imagery of the two locations, Tekwane and Riverside, are shown in Figure 4.14 and Figure 4.15. In addition, the longitudinal profile of the two locations are shown below the images. It should however be noted that the resolution provided by Google Earth Imagery is low and the elevations therefrom cannot therefore be used for quantitative analysis purposes.



Figure 4.14: Google Map Imagery and the Longitudinal Profile of Location 1 (Tekwane) along the Crocodile River



Figure 4.15: Google Map Imagery and the Longitudinal Profile of Location 2 (Riverside) along the Crocodile River

Tekwane is a rural population, while Riverside is urban and industrial. The relationships between elevation (as indicated in Figure 4.14 and 4.15), and the risk of flooding is investigated further in Chapters 7 and 8.

4.4.2 Historical Flood Map

In order to determine the flood events that have occurred in the previous decade (Aug 2004 - Apr 2014), it was essential to conduct a high level desktop research exercise. This included flood reports from the WRC, DWS and news reports. In addition, an online search of satellite imagery for the each of the identified flood event (as discussed in Section 4.2) was conducted. When historical flood data are used, images captured before and during the disaster are required to allow for proper identification of previously existing water levels for calibration and validation purposes (Altan *et al.*, 2010). The flood event image should preferably be captured within 8 to 24 hours after the flood event has occurred (GMES, 2010).

Sources of historical data can include dated flood maps, water level records of rivers, gauge station records (for velocity), newspaper articles about past flood events, historical reports or books about flood events, and aerial and satellite photos (FEI, 2007; Martini and Loat, 2007). However, the capturing of data on hazard events, both spatially and non-spatially, is very limited in South Africa (Halloway *et al.*, 2010). In addition, flood maps and flood reports are often not produced for flood events (Sakulski, 2007). Therefore, to enable this research, details of historical events are mainly obtained from online news websites, newspaper articles and South African Weather Services (SAWS) reports.

4.4.3 Hydraulic Modelling Overview

An overview of the approach that was employed for the hydraulic modelling is illustrated in Figure 16. There are three main phases in flood modelling analysis, namely data preparation, hydraulic analysis, and post-processing.

- Data preparation involved GIS data development and generating the RAS import file. This was performed in ArcGIS with the HEC-GeoRAS extension.
- Hydraulic analysis involved utilising the GIS import file, running the hydraulic modelling using instrumental flow data, and generating the RAS

GIS export file. This was performed within HEC-RAS. An important input into this phase was flood scenarios with varying discharge rates. These scenarios are discussed in detail in Chapter 6.

 Post-processing involved using the RAS GIS export file, processing the results and creating flood maps. This was performed in ArcGIS with the RAS Mapper extension.



Figure 4.16: Process flow diagram for using ArcGIS, HEC-GeoRAS and HEC-RAS (Adapted from USACE, 2009)

Utilising the process illustrated in Figure 4.16, the flood events were modelled and the flood hazard maps for the two locations were then created. Layers of spatial

features were added through ArcGIS, which allowed for the representation of areas on the flood maps. Useful guidance for using HEC-RAS and ArcGIS for hydraulic modelling and flood hazard mapping was provided by the HEC-RAS 4.1.0 River Analysis System User Manual (2010) and the HEC-GeoRAS User Manual (2009) developed by the US Army Corps of Engineers, as well as the Tutorial on Using HEC-GeoRAS 10.1 with ArcGIS 10.1 and HEC- RAS 4.1.0 for Flood Inundation Mapping in Steady and Unsteady Flow Conditions by Leon (2013). An overview of the hydraulic modelling process is provided in Appendix B.

4.5 Flood Risk Identification

4.5.1 Assessing Risk

The approach that was adopted for the flood risk assessment follows the approach developed by Gilard (1996), which is divided into the hazard component and the vulnerability component. However, as a detailed analysis of the social characteristics of the basin was not within the scope of this research, the vulnerability analysis only consists of a spatial vulnerability component. The results of these two analyses are then combined for the flood risk assessment (Gilard, 1996; Manadhar, 2010). This process is summarised in Figure 4.17 and Table 4.9.



Figure 4.17: Approach for Conducting a Flood Risk Assessment, involving (1) a Hazard Component and, (2) a Vulnerability Component

Table 4.9: Approach for Conducting a Risk Assessment (Text adapted from:Gilard, 1996; Shrestha et al., 2002; Manadhar, 2010)

STEP 1: Flood Hazard Analysis The hazard aspect of the flood risk is related to the hydraulic and the hydrological parameters. This implies that the same flood will affect a particular area with the same hydraulic properties regardless of the land use. Hazard level may be defined by the parameters like flood extent, flood depth and exceedance probability of a particular flood magnitude. In this study, the hazard level is determined by reclassifying the flood grid polygons bounding the water surface for different discharge rates (as defined in Appendix B).

STEP 2: Flood (Spatial) Vulnerability Analysis

The flood (spatial) vulnerability is affected by the land use characteristics of the areas under the influence of flood. That is to say, a flood of the same exceedance probability will have different levels of vulnerability according to the land-use characteristics and potential for damage. This excludes social vulnerability, as a detailed analysis of the social characteristics of the basin was not within the scope of this research. The vulnerability analysis, therefore, consists of identifying the land use areas under the potential influence of a flood of particular discharge. For this, vulnerability maps are prepared by clipping the land use themes of the floodplains with the flood area polygons for each of the flood events being modelled. This depicts the vulnerability aspect of the flood risk in the particular area in terms of the presence or absence of flooding of a particular return period.

STEP 3: Flood Risk Analysis

The flood risk analysis includes the combination of the results of both the vulnerability analysis and the hazard analysis. This is defined by the relationship between the land use vulnerability classes and the flood extent hazard classes in a particular area. For this, the flood risk maps are prepared by overlaying the flood extent grids with the land use map. The flood extent polygons prepared during the hazard analysis are intersected with the land use vulnerability classes and water extent. ArcGIS enables the identification of these classes by shading polygons red for a high risk area, orange for medium risk, and green for low risk (as defined in Section 8.1).

This process enables a spatial risk assessment for flood extent. Although the process is simple, it is deemed sufficient for this research. This is particularly important as this research has several analytical components.

4.5.2 Identification of Flood Risk Areas

The flood maps that were created for each of the identified flood events portrayed areas that were, or may be, impacted during flood events. Using ArcGIS, flood risk areas were identified on the flood maps. This was achieved through a risk rating system. Using the standard traffic light system, high risk areas are identified as red, medium risk areas are identified as orange, and low risk areas are identified as green) (as per Table 4.9. and Section 8.1). Therefore, the final output of the flood modelling exercise was numerous flood maps, showing high, medium and low risk areas along the Crocodile River basin.

4.6 Conclusions

This chapter provided an overview of the data used for this research, focusing on how the data were analysed and the various software packages utilised to enable this research. The outcome of the research, as well as the various challenges that were experienced during this research, are discussed further in Chapters 8 and 9.

CHAPTER 5 - HISTORIC FLOOD ASSESSMENT

5. HISTORIC FLOOD ASSESSMENT OF THE CROCODILE RIVER

5.1 Background

Despite the obligation imposed by the EU Floods Directive 2007/60/EC that the assessment and management of floods and flood risk should be based on a collection and assessment of information about previous flood events, in South Africa these records are often hard to find. The capturing of data on hazard events, both spatially and non-spatially, is very limited. Information can be derived from municipal and provincial reports, interviews and actual field research. However, it is constrained by protracted lag times between the occurrence of the events and the provision of funding for post-impact research. This has happened despite the recurrent and costly nature of many storms, and the fact that such studies are explicitly required by both national and provincial disaster management frameworks (Halloway *et al.*, 2010).

While the meteorological and hydrological conditions leading to floods are well documented and analysed, the spatial evolution of floods and the assessment of the impacts of floods are quite limited. Therefore, daily satellite imagery, South African Weather Services (SAWS) reports and news events are often relied on to determine the spatial distribution of floods and the impact of flood events, respectively.

The remainder of this chapter provides an overview of two previous flood events in the Crocodile catchment (i.e. February 2009 and January 2012). This includes an assessment of their meteorological and hydrological characteristics, and the flood news reports that give information on the extent and impacts of these floods.

5.2 Identified Flood Events

An online search of flood events revealed that several floods have been experienced in the Crocodile River over the past 10 years. This includes January

2006, February 2009, January 2011, January 2012 as well as January 2013. An analysis of the dataset in Section 4.1 indicated that the two highest rainfall events in the past decade were in February 2009 and January 2012. As stated above, flood events were also experienced during these two rainfall periods. These two events are particularly significant as they coincided with the highest river discharge, which resulted in significant flooding in the region. Therefore, these two flood events (i.e. February 2009 and January 2012) were investigated in more detail.

5.2.1 The February 2009 Flood

Figure 5.1 illustrates the total rainfall that was measured at the X2E010 and X2E013 weather stations over a 20-day period, from 26 January to 14 February 2009. The highest daily rainfall (i.e. 184 mm) was measured on 3 February at the X2E010 weather station.



Figure 5.1: Daily rainfall during the February 2009 Flood (in mm)

Changes in the water level and discharge (flow rate) are shown in Figure 5.2. As evident from Figure 5.2, although lower values for water levels and discharge rates are observed at the X2H013 gauging station, similar trends can be observed for both stations. The water level and discharge (flow) rate at the X2H006 and X2H013 gauging stations were the highest on 31 January and on 5 February.



Figure 5.2: Discharge (flow) rates and water levels during the February 2009 flood

On 5 February 2009, the provincial government of Mpumalanga issued a flood alert for residents in low lying areas and next to flood lines. This was due to large amounts of rain falling over the preceding days, causing larger than usual surface runoff. Communities and road users were particularly warned to move to higher road, and to be careful as roads were wet, with surface water, and some areas experienced rocks falling on to the road. As can be seen from Figure 5.3, the flood caused extensive damage in the catchment resulting in death and extensive damage to infrastructure (causing outlying communities to be cut off for a number of days). Flood hazard maps for the February 2009 flood event are shown in Chapter 7.



Figure 5.3: Extract from a news report on the February 2009 flood (Source: ioL News, 2009)

5.2.2 The January 2012 Flood

Figure 5.4 illustrates the total rainfall that was measured at the X2E010 and X2E013 weather stations over a 20-day period, from 7 January 2012 to 26 January 2012. The highest daily rainfall (i.e. 210 mm) was measured on the 17 January at the X2E010 weather station. The changes in the water level and discharge (flow rate) are shown in Figure 5.5.



Figure 5.4: Daily rainfall during the January 2012 flood (in mm)



Figure 5.5: Discharge (flow) rates and water levels during the January 2012 flood

As evident from Figure 5.5, although lower values for water levels and discharge rates are observed at the X2H013 gauging stations, similar trends can be observed

for both stations. The water levels and discharge (flow rate) at the X2H006 and X2H013 gauging stations were the highest on 17 January. Although the gauging station malfunctioned during the flood event (as shown by the straight blue line between 18 and 22 January), the study performed by the Kruger National Park (on Setting the Thresholds of Potential Concern for River Flow and Quality) estimates the discharge rate at high flow to vary between 225 m³/s at Malelane to 255 m³/s at Nkongoma (at an average of 240 m³/s, as illustrated by the dotted line in Figure 5.5). Therefore, a peak rate of approximately 240 m³/s can be estimated for the flood event.

On 19 January 2012, the Department of Water Affairs (through the provincial government of Mpumalanga) issued a flood alert for residents in low laying areas and next to flood lines. This was due to large amounts of rain falling over the preceding days, causing dams to spill over and larger than usual surface runoff at the Komati and Crocodile Rivers. Communities located in low lying areas were particularly warned to move to higher road, while some members of the population were evacuated to ensure their safety. An extract of the media release is shown in Figure 5.6.

January 19, 2012 MEDIA RELEASE FLOODING IN MPUMALANGA AND DAM LEVELS UPDATE The Department of Water Affairs is closely monitoring the situation in the Mpumalanga Province where heavy rains have caused wide spread flooding. A team from the Department has been deployed to the affected areas and is working with the local authorities and disaster management units to bring the situation under control. The levels of the Komati and Crocodile Rivers have risen substantially but have not as yet broken their banks. The Driekoppies Dam is spilling, while Maguga Dam in Swaziland along Komati River is almost 100% full. Affected communities downstream of the dams are being warned to move to safety on higher ground. Some families were evacuated by local disaster management in conjunction with other government department.

Figure 5.6: Extract from a Media Briefing by the Department of Water Affairs on the January 2012 Flood (Source: Mpumalanga Provincial Gov., 2012)

The flood caused extensive damage in the region (as well as neighbouring catchment) resulting in death and extensive damage to infrastructure, and causing outlying communities to be cut off for a number of days. Damage was particularly

severe in downstream areas, and at the Kruger National Park, resulting in road closures and restricted access to the National Park. Figure 5.7 illustrates some the areas that were inundated during the January 2012 flood event. Flood hazard maps for the January 2012 flood event are shown in Chapter 7.



Figure 5.7: Images of the January 2012 Flood: a) Crocodile River at Malelane Gate; b) Crocodile Bridge Gate (Source: SAGR Forum, 2012)

5.3 Conclusions

This chapter provided an overview of two previous flood events in the Crocodile catchment, namely the February 2009 and January 2012 events. This included an assessment of the meteorological and hydrological characteristics, research on flood reports and news reports published. It is, however, unfortunate that public flood reports for the selected flood events from state institutions (e.g. DWS, WRC, or Disaster Management Institutions) were not available. Therefore, the analysis provided above is only based on news reports and press releases from the Mpumalanga provincial department. Details such as the total number of deaths, the total damage to infrastructure or the economic losses as a result of the flood were largely not available.

An overview of previous flood events provides a useful starting point in predicting future flood events, which is conducted in Chapter 6. Spatial representation of the flood events is provided in Chapter 7.

CHAPTER 6 - DETERMINING FUTURE FLOOD EVENTS

6. DETERMINING FUTURE FLOOD EVENTS FOR THE CROCODILE RIVER

6.1 Estimating Future Rainfall Events

According to Ampitiyawatta and Guo (2009), precipitation is a good long-term indicator of changes that may impact on water resources. Furthermore, changes in precipitation patterns are very important for water resource managers who deal with water resource planning and management (Odiyo *et al.*, 2015).

Several studies, such as Hewitson and Crane (2006), Engelbrecht *et al.* (2009) and Schultz (2011), have been undertaken on rainfall changes in South Africa, including in the Mpumalanga Province. As illustrated in Section 2.6, in the northeastern region of the country, which includes the Gauteng, Limpopo and Mpumalanga provinces, an increase in overall rainfall is projected. Under future climate change scenarios, rainfall is expected to increase by between 85 and 303 mm per annum for the region as a whole, and is expected to range from 301 mm to 758 mm per annum by 2100 (CSIR, 2010). This equates to an increase in rainfall of between 20% and 40% by 2100.

The majority of the increased rainfall that is projected is expected to fall during the summer months, namely December, January and February (DJF) (CSIR, 2010). An extension of the rain season may occur in early spring with an increase in rainfall predicted between September to November. The number of rain events is expected to increase, which could infer that the chances of floods may increase based on wetter antecedent conditions (CSIR, 2010).

6.2 Estimating Runoff during High Rainfall Events

The Long-term Adaptation Scenarios (LTAS) Study conducted by the Department of Environmental Affairs (DEA) and the South African National Biodiversity Institute (SANBI) (2013) provided an estimate of the projected changes in catchment runoff. These runoff projections are illustrated in Figure 6.1.



Figure 6.1: Median impact of climate change on the average annual catchment runoff for the period 2040–2050. The Crocodile (East) catchment is circled in red (Source: DEA, 2013)

The estimates suggest that, for the Crocodile (East) catchment (i.e. red circle in Figure 6.1), an increase of 5% to 15% in annual catchment runoff is projected. The Mpumalanga Province is also noted to show the highest risks of extreme runoff related events, together with KwaZulu-Natal and the Eastern Cape. It should however be noted that these projections are annual averages, and may not be applicable at the sub-daily or daily time interval of a flood occurrence.

In order to estimate the rainfall events for this study, two scenarios were selected. Section 6.1 estimates an increase in rainfall of between 20% and 40%. However, as stated in Appendix A, which provides background context to the rainfall-runoff relationship, only a portion of the rainfall is converted to runoff (i.e. the runoff coefficient). According to the Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO), the runoff coefficient (K), can be represented mathematically as:

Therefore, to estimate runoff when rainfall and the runoff coefficient (K) is available, the following equation can be used:

$$Runoff = K \times Rainfall$$
 [Equation 2]

Alexander (2002) calculated the runoff coefficient for the Inkomati catchment to be estimated at 5% for a 2-year return period and 40% for a 100-year return period. Therefore, for the two identified rainfall scenarios (i.e. a 20% or 40% increase in rainfall), the associated estimate runoff can be determined. By applying Equation 2, i.e. multiplying the runoff coefficient with the rainfall, an estimate of the future increase in runoff can be obtained (as shown in Table 6.1).

Table 6.1: Estimating a Percentage Increase in Runoff

Projected Increase in MAP	K = 5%	K = 40%
20%	Runoff = (0.05 * 0.2) = 1%	Runoff = (0.4 * 0.2) = 8%
40%	Runoff = (0.05 * 0.4) = 2%	Runoff = (0.4 * 0.4) = 16%

An increase in runoff of 1% and 2% can be estimated for a 20% and 40% increase in rainfall respectively for a 2-year flood return period, and an 8% and 16% increase in runoff for a 20% and 40% increase in rainfall respectively for a 100-year flood return period.

The 100-year projections (i.e. an 8% and 16% increase in runoff for a 20% and 40% increase in rainfall) are similar to those provided by the LTAS Study (provided in Section 6.2), which project an increase of 5% to 15% in annual catchment runoff. Therefore, the two flood scenarios that were selected for the remainder of this dissertation are the two ranges provided in the LTAS Study, which have been accepted by the national regulating authority, namely a 5% to 15% increase in runoff for the Crocodile River catchment.

6.3 Rainfall and Hydrological Scenarios

In Chapter 5, two base scenarios, namely the February 2009 and January 2012 flood events, were identified. As shown in Figure 5.1 and Figure 5.4, the rainfall data measured at the X2E013 weather station is significantly less than that measured at the X2E010 weather station. This is because, as illustrated in Figure 3.13, the X2E013 weather station is located in an area with less MAP than the

X2E010 weather station. Due to the interconnected nature of catchment process, the runoff of the Crocodile River will be affected by the weather patterns throughout the catchment. However, as this dissertation estimates flood events by using the runoff coefficient, i.e. estimating runoff by using projected rainfall, the high rainfall measured at the X2E010 weather station will provide higher runoff estimations for flood events. Therefore, to serve the purpose of this dissertation, only the X2E010 weather station will be used.

The X2H013 gauging station is located approximately 40 km upstream of Riverside and approximately 50 km upstream of Tekwane, whereas the X2H006 gauging station is located approximately 10 km downstream of Riverside and approximately 10 km upstream of Tekwane. The peak discharge recorded at the X2H013 gauging station is 17.953 m³/s for the February 2009 flood event, and 99.419 m³/s for the January 2012 flood event. For the X2H006 gauging station, the peak discharge is 119.967 m³/s for the February 2009 flood event, and 241.750 m³/s for the January 2012 flood event. Therefore, to fulfil Objective 2 of this dissertation, which is "using the identified flood events and the discharge and water levels associated with these events to define the several characteristics of floods in the Crocodile River", only data from the X2H006 gauging station will be used to create flood scenarios. However, to ensure completeness, the 99.419 m³/s discharge recorded at the X2H013 gauging station (for the January 2012 flood event) will also be modelled. This will serve as an integral part of the spatial risk assessment, which is provided in Chapter 8.

The runoff (m³/s) for the two base runoff scenarios are shown in Figure 6.2, where X represents the February 2009 flood event, and Y represent the January 2012 flood event. The two runoff scenarios identified above (i.e. a 5% and 15% increase in runoff) were applied to each of the base scenarios, resulting in a total of four scenarios (this is explained in detail in Appendix A.2). The resulting runoff for the four future flood events is provided in Figure 6.2, where X1 and Y1 represent a 5% increase in runoff for base scenario X and Y respectively, and X2 and Y2 represent a 15% increase in runoff for base scenario X and Y respectively. In addition, as indicated earlier, the discharge recorded at the X2H013 gauging station will also be used for the hydraulic modelling. This is shown as scenario Z in Figure 6.2.



Figure 6.2: The seven scenarios for hydraulic modelling (given as m³/s)

The peak runoff value for each of the four scenarios, as well as the runoff for the two base scenarios, is provided in Table 6.2. As in Figure 6.2, X1 and Y1 represent a 5% increase in runoff for base scenario X and Y respectively, and X2 and Y2 represent a 15% increase in runoff for base scenario X and Y respectively. The 99.419 m³/s discharge recorded at the X2H013 gauging station is shown as scenario Z. The peak runoff for the seven identified flood events is provided in Table 6.2, and provided in detail in Table A.1.

Table 6.2: Peak runoff for the	scenarios for hydraulic modelling (values are
given as m³/s)	

Scenario	Base Scenario	Scenario 1	Scenario 2
Х	119.967	125.965	137.962
Y	241.750	253.838	278.013
Z	99.419		

6.4 Conclusions

This chapter provided four scenarios for future flood events. The runoff for each of the flood events was projected, based on rainfall projections. The scenarios were developed using the accepted rainfall projections provided by the LTAS study, namely a 5% to 15% increase in runoff for the Crocodile River catchment. Although the projections are based on uncertainties, and the methodology utilised is simple,

the scenarios provide an estimate of the probable magnitude of floods in the Crocodile River basin (i.e. the magnitude of future floods). These projections should not be taken as facts, but as an indication of what the future may look like.

As the water level is determined by river discharge, the associated changes in water level for each of the identified scenarios will be modelled through hydraulic software, and provided in the following chapter. In addition, the flood extent of the identified flood events, as well as the base scenarios, will be determined. A spatial flood risk assessment of the Crocodile River basin will then be provided.
CHAPTER 7 – FLOOD EXTENT MAPPING

7. FLOOD EXTENT MAPPING

7.1 Introduction

Chapter 5 provided an overview of two previous flood events in the Crocodile River Catchment (i.e. February 2009 and January 2012). Chapter 6, on the other hand, provided four scenarios for future flood events, where the runoff of each base scenario was projected based on a projected increase in rainfall. An additional scenario was also provided, based on the discharge recorded at the X2H013 gauging station.

The aim of this chapter is to simulate the flood extent and provide flood extent maps for each of the seven identified flood events. No detailed analysis is done for the seven flood events – the flood risk assessment (conducted in Chapter 8) provides a detailed analysis of the two locations selected along the segment of the Crocodile River.

For hydraulic modelling purposes, complex analyses were not possible since the required detailed data for both the topographic representation and flow are not available in South Africa. Therefore, coupled one and two-dimensional hydraulic modelling (i.e. HEC-RAS) was used to determine flood parameters such as flood extent. The detailed process that was undertaken to develop the flood extent maps is provided in Appendix B. The advantages offered by this hydraulic method are discussed in detail in Chapter 2.

7.2 Previous Flood Events

As discussed in Chapter 5, numerous floods have been observed in the Crocodile River (East) River basin. However, only two of these floods were discussed in detail in Chapter 5. The two identified flood events also happened to be the flood events with the highest observed rainfall in ten years (i.e. during August 2004 - April 2014). The remainder of this section discusses the extent of these flood events.

7.2.1 Base Scenario X (in February 2009)

As provided in Chapters 5 and 6, the peak discharge for base scenario X (in February 2009), is 119.967 m³/s. Floods were experienced in the area on 5 February. The flood extent was modelled through HEC-RAS software, and is illustrated in Figure 7.1. Although several Landsat 7 ETM+ (30 m resolution) satellite images could be found, there were no images available for 5 February 2009 or any day immediately after. The images that were available are when the flood had already receded, and could therefore not be used to compare the maximum flood extent.



Figure 7.1: Flood extent map for the Base Scenario X

7.2.2 Base Scenario Y (in January 2012)

As provided in Chapters 5 and 6, the peak discharge for base scenario Y (in January 2012), is 241,750 m³/s. Floods were experienced on 19 January. The extent of the flood was modelled through HEC-RAS software, and is illustrated in Figure 7.2. Although several Landsat 7 ETM+ (30 m resolution) satellite images could be found, there were no images available for 19 January 2012 or any day immediately after. The MODIS images that were available on 20 and 21 January were of a poor resolution, and could thus not be used to compare the flood extent. High resolution images that were available are when the flood had already receded, and could therefore also not be used to compare the maximum flood extent.



Figure 7.2: Flood extent map for the Base Scenario Y

7.2.3 Scenario Z (in January 2012)

As provided in Chapters 5 and 6, the peak discharge for scenario Z (in January 2012), is 99.419 m³/s. Floods were experienced in the area on 19 January. The extent of the flood was modelled through HEC-RAS software, and is illustrated in Figure 7.3. As identified in Section 7.2.2., satellite images for the flood event were not available.



Figure 7.3: Flood extent map for the Scenario Z

7.3 Future Flood Events

In Chapter 6, four scenarios for future flood events were developed. The runoff for each of the flood events was projected, based on the two previous flood events (i.e. February 2009 and January 2012). This was achieved by applying two runoff increase projections, namely a 5% increase in runoff and a 15% increase in runoff, resulting in 4 future flood scenarios. The four scenarios were modelled, and the remainder of this section discusses the extent of the flood events.

7.3.1 Flood Event: Scenario X1

As provided in Chapters 5 and 6, the peak discharge for scenario X1 is 125.965 m^3 /s. This scenario represents a 5% increase in runoff for base scenario X (i.e. 119.967 m^3 /s). The extent of the flood was modelled through HEC-RAS software, and is illustrated in Figure 7.4.



Figure 7.4: Flood extent map for the Scenario X1

7.3.2 Flood Event: Scenario X2

As provided in Chapters 5 and 6, the peak discharge for scenario X2 is 137.962 m^3/s . This scenario represents a 15% increase in runoff for base scenario X (i.e. 119.967 m^3/s). The extent of the flood was modelled through HEC-RAS software, and is illustrated in Figure 7.5.



Figure 7.5: Flood extent map for the Scenario X2

7.3.3 Flood Event: Scenario Y1

As provided in Chapters 5 and 6, the peak discharge for scenario Y1 is 253.838 m^3 /s. This scenario represents a 5% increase in runoff for base scenario Y (i.e. 241.750 m^3 /s). The extent of the flood was modelled through HEC-RAS software, and is illustrated in Figure 7.6.



Figure 7.6: Flood extent map for the Scenario Y1

7.3.4 Flood Event: Scenario Y2

As provided in Chapters 5 and 6, the peak discharge for scenario Y2 is 278.013 m^3 /s. This scenario represents a 15% increase in runoff for base scenario Y (i.e. 241.750 m³/s). The extent of the flood was modelled through HEC-RAS software, and is illustrated in Figure 7.7.



Figure 7.7: Flood extent map for the Scenario Y2

7.4 Synthesis: Flood Extent

The extent of each of the flood events was modelled as illustrated in Section 7.2 and 7.3. For each flood event, the total area that is likely to be flooded is provided in Table 7.1 (ranked from the smallest discharge to the lowest). The total area under water for Scenario Z is 1.92 km². This is the smallest flood extent area, and it also corresponds to the smallest discharge. The largest flood extent area is 8.77 km², which corresponds to Scenario Y2. This also corresponds to the largest discharge.

Table 7.1: The area flooded under each scenario (values are given as km²)

Scenario	Z	X	X1	X2	Y	Y1	Y2
Discharge (m ³ /s)	99.419	119.967	125.965	137.962	241.750	253.838	278.013
Area (km²)	1.92	2.24	3.44	3.73	5.78	6.68	8.77

Graphically (as shown in Figure 7.8), the change in area, based on a change in discharge, more or less follows a linear trade for all scenarios expect Scenario Y2 (i.e. 278.013 m³/s). Similarly, if you exclude Scenario X1 and X2, the change in area follows an exponential trend and not a linear trend. This means that while the area flooded during a flood event with a predetermined discharge can be roughly estimated, an accurate representation of flood extent requires a detailed hydrological and hydraulic analysis (as conducted in this dissertation).



Figure 7.8: Change in the area flooded (i.e. flood extent) under each scenario

7.5 Conclusions

This chapter provided an overview of the flood extent of identified flood events. Flood hazard maps were created for each of the identified flood events. This will enable the identification of high risk areas along the Crocodile River basin, which is discussed in Chapter 8.

A major limitation of this study was the quality of the elevation data. This created various inconsistencies in the elevation profile for the study area, which ultimately affected the simulated flood profiles. Availability of high quality data would have increased the accuracy of the flood simulation.

The aim of this chapter was also to compare the simulated extent of previous flood events with the observed distribution. However, due to the unavailability of archived satellite imagery at an adequate resolution, the flood extent for the previous flood events could not be validated.

CHAPTER 8 – SPATIAL FLOOD RISK ASSESSMENT

8. SPATIAL FLOOD RISK ASSESSMENT

8.1 Introduction

This chapter discusses the flood extent maps that were produced in Chapter 7. The aim of the chapter is to identify high flood risk areas along the Crocodile River Basin. This risk assessment is based on the likelihood of the basin area being flooded during flood events, and therefore includes the elevation of the basin (as discussed in Chapter 4), the simulated flood extent (as discussed in Chapter 7), the flood scenarios (developed in Chapter 6) and the flood frequency (as discussed in Chapters 5 and 6). This will enable a spatial risk assessment, using the methodology provided in Chapter 4 and Appendix B.

The analysis of the likelihood of an area to be flooded by a flood event of particular discharge was conducted using ArcGIS. This was done by intersecting the seven polygons that represent the discharge of the seven flood events. As illustrated in Table 8.1., when an area is intersected by seven polygons (one polygon for each of the flood events), this area is likely to be flooded by all seven flood events, and is therefore at very high risk during flood events. Similarly, an area identified as medium risk is intersected by four polygons, and is likely to be flooded by one flood event. The areas with the lowest risk are likely to be flooded by one flood event. Using the standard traffic light system, high risk areas are identified as green.

Risk Categories	Description		
Minimal	Intersected by 1 polygon		
Low	Intersected by 2 polygons		
Low-Medium	Intersected by 3 polygons		
Medium	Intersected by 4 polygons		
Medium-High	Intersected by 5 polygons		
High	Intersected by 6 polygons		
Very High	Intersected by 7 polygons		

Table	8.1:	Risk	Rating	System
-------	------	------	--------	--------

ArcGIS enables the identification of different risk categories by shading polygons based on the risk categories. As there were seven profiles modelled, seven risk categories were determined (as shown in Table 8.1). Layering the polygons on the land use map enabled an identification and discussion of flood risk for each of the two locations along the segment of the Crocodile River. Rather than create a risk map for each of the flood events, the polygons were overlain (as discussed above) and an overall risk assessment was conducted. This approach enabled a comparison between the different flood events, and a spatial risk assessment (showing the seven risk categories). For each location, a discussion of the flood risk is provided, which includes the discharge that is associated with the flood event(s).

It should be noted, due to the challenges experienced during the floodplain process of the hydraulic modelling exercise (as discussed in Appendix B.2), the standard method (i.e. developing a water surface and floodplain inundation polygon for each water surface profiles using HEC-GeoRAS) could not be used. Therefore, the water extent polygons (which are relevant for this dissertation) were created in ArcGIS manually by joining the flood extent points on each cross section.

8.2 Future Food Risk Profile

8.2.1 Segment 1: Tekwane

The spatial flood risk profile for Tekwane is illustrated in Figure 8.1. As illustrated, the left bank (i.e. the top part of the figure) is at a higher risk than the right bank. This is because the elevation of the right bank is higher than the left bank, particularly the lower right portions of the area that was modelled. The yellow area (identified as low-medium risk) illustrates areas that are at risk to flooding when discharge reaches 241.75 m³/s. The areas in orange and red are at a higher risk to flooding even when discharge is less than 137.96 m³/s. These areas are however largely unpopulated. Therefore, there is a minimal risk to the population of Tekwane when the discharge is less than 241.75 m³/s.



Figure 8.1: Spatial Flood Risk Profile for Tekwane, with the Crocodile River shown as a white line

On the right bank, the area is largely agricultural, with a low population density. However, the left bank is populated with rural settlements. Rural settlements are often more sensitive to flood events as they are often directly exposed to climatic events, such as floods. Houses are often poorly built, are poorly located, or lack flood and lightning protection, efficient water systems, or damp-proofing, which make them more vulnerable to floods (DEA, 2013).

In addition, rural households which have a lower ability to cope with flood events than their urban counterparts due to lower adaptive capacity. Households without access to electricity, water, sanitation and waste management services are more impacted by climate extremes, while factors such as poverty and unemployment reduce the ability of households to recover from climate shocks (DEA, 2013). In addition, from a spatial planning perspective, the population at Tekwane should be located at a higher elevation. This is particularly important as climate projections indicate that intense floods are likely to be a regular feature of the Crocodile River (East) (as discussed in Section 2.6).

While rural settlements inherently have a lower adaptive capacity than urban settlements, it is the ability of an individual household to cope with flood hazard that determines its overall risk to flooding (International Institute for Environment and Development, 2013). Although this is largely determined by financial

circumstances, innovative strategies to flood management have the ability of increasing the ability of rural households to cope to flood events. Therefore, further assessment of the rural settlements would provide a more detailed assessment of the flood risk to the Tekwane population.

As indicated in Chapter 2, flood risk can only be determined when the sensitivity and adaptive capacity of a system is determined. However, the assessment of the individual adaptive capacity, as well as the sensitivity of a system to a hazard, which have an influence on the overall impact and impact to a system, is not in the scope of this study.

8.2.2 Segment 2: Riverside

The spatial flood risk profile for Riverside is illustrated in Figure 8.2. As illustrated, the right bank is more at risk than the left bank in the higher reaches of the Crocodile River. This is because the elevation of the right bank is higher than the left bank, particularly the upper portion of the area that was modelled.



Figure 8.2: Spatial Flood Risk Profile for Riverside, with the Crocodile River shown as a white line

The yellow area (identified as low-medium risk) illustrates areas that are at risk to flooding when discharge reaches 241.75 m³/s. Similar risk areas can also be identified on the northern parts of Riverside along the Sand River tributary. The areas in orange and red are at a higher risk to flooding (identified as medium to very high risk), and are at risk to flooding when discharge is less than 137.96 m³/s. These areas are however largely unpopulated. Therefore, similarly to Tekwane, there is a minimal risk to the population of Riverside when the discharge is less than 241.75 m³/s.

The right bank is largely unpopulated, with small agricultural patches located close to the river banks. This means that even if these areas do get flooded, there will be a minimal impact to human livelihoods and lives. Higher elevations are largely urbanised, and have not been identified as being at risk to flooding. However, medium risk areas have been identified on the left and right portions of the river banks. These areas currently contain urban, industrial and agricultural areas.

In addition, the sensitivity of a system to flood events is also important. (Industrial sites are, for example, often deemed as more sensitive to floods than agriculture, as they are less able to absorb the impacts of flood events.) Therefore, in order to minimise the sensitivity of the area as a whole, flood management interventions need to be implemented. The determination of the individual adaptive capacity and the sensitivity of the various systems within the basin is therefore required. This is however, not in the scope of this study.

Alternatively, the adaptive capacity of the population can be increased. The overall capacity of the urban population to cope with flood events is usually deemed higher than the rural population, as there are often more options, solutions and interventions available to cope with flood events. However, as previously indicated, individual households and industrial sites will have varying adaptive capacity. Interventions such as effective storm management systems can play larger part in mitigating the impacts of flood events in urban areas. In addition, spatial planning, such as locating residential and industrial areas at a higher elevation will also be effective at minimising the impacts of flood events.

8.3 Discussion

The two locations are at risk to flooding when discharge reaches 241.75 m³/s. This is based on Section 8.2, which indicates that when discharge reaches 241.75 m³/s, areas at both Tekwane and Riverside are at risk to flooding (identified as low-medium risk – i.e. the yellow areas on the map). This is therefore the threshold for which the two locations are likely to be flooded.

While every effort was made to obtain the flow rates for various return periods for the Crocodile River (East), this was not possible. The discharge could therefore not be compared to the return periods (e.g. 50-, 100-, or 200-year). This meant that a comparison of which (if any) return periods have been exceeded could not be performed.

However, based on the data downloaded from the DWS HIS, an analysis of the daily discharge readings could be made. This enabled an analysis of how often the 241.75 m³/s discharge was exceeded in the Crocodile catchment. As provided in Figure 8.3, the 241.75 m³/s discharge was exceeded at gauging stations X2H006 (one time), X2H016 (twenty-five times) and X2H046 (three times). This means that the over one decade (2004 to 2014), 241.75 m³/s was exceeded 0.03%, 0.70% and 0.08% times at stations X2H006, X2H016 and X2H046, respectively. In total, the observed trends indicate that 241.75 m³/s was exceeded 0.14% times at various stations across the Crocodile catchment.



Figure 8.3: Daily discharge readings for all 6 gauging stations (shown as points) and the 7 flood scenarios (shown as straight lines)

Based on previous trends, there is therefore a less than 1% likelihood that the segment analysed in this dissertation will be flooded will be flooded over a 10-year period. However, as discussed in Chapter 2, a key indication from climate projections is that the likelihood of extreme flood events for the north-eastern provinces of South Africa (where the Crocodile catchment is located) will increase. This implies that the likelihood of the Crocodile river segment flooding will increase, and the magnitude of these flood events will increase. For the Crocodile river segment that was analysed, this will translate to an increase in the area that will be flooded. A spatial assessment of the areas that are at risk during flood events of varying magnitudes was conducted for this dissertation.

8.4 Conclusions

This chapter provided a spatial flood risk assessment of two locations along the Crocodile River Basin. The spatial risk assessment enabled the comparison the flood risk for seven different discharge rates, using the methodology provided in Chapter 4 and Appendix B. As discussed in Appendix B, high risk areas (identified in red) have a higher probability of being flooded, medium risk areas (identified in orange) have a lower probability than the high risk areas, while the low risk areas (identified in green) have the lowest probability of being flooded.

However, flood risk is a function of the sensitivity to flood events, as well as the ability of a system to cope with floods (i.e. its adaptive capacity). Therefore, it is important to determine the individual sensitivity, as well as adaptive capacity of all systems within a basin. This would enable the determination of the risk of the individual systems within this basin. This assessment is however beyond the scope of this study. In addition, assessment of interventions which would decrease the risk to flood are also outside of the scope of this study.

This study aimed to identify areas that are at high risk to flood events (i.e. spatial risk assessment), and not identify systems that are at high risk. Therefore, the intended outcome was achieved in this chapter.

CHAPTER 9 - CONCLUSIONS

9. CONCLUSIONS

In the recent past, the Crocodile River East in Mpumalanga Province has seen three major floods in a twenty-four-month period, in January 2011, January 2012 and in January 2013. Alarmingly, the frequency of floods is increasing around the world (Alho *et al.*, 2008) and in South Africa (Halloway *et al.*, 2010). Added to this, the Southern Africa Risk and Vulnerability Atlas (2011) indicates that climate change is likely to alter the magnitude, timing, and distribution of storms that produce flood events in the region. This is particularly the case in the Mpumalanga Province, where the likelihood of flood events is projected to increase in coming decades. Therefore, proper planning is required for effective flood risk management.

The principal state organisation, the Department of Water and Sanitation (DWS), is responsible for, among others, water resource management, planning and guidance for water related events including flooding. However, flood mapping is currently limited to historical maps created from previous flood events.

In this light, the main objective of this research was to assess the extent of previous flood events along the Crocodile River Basin, to predict future flood events and estimate how future floods are likely to be distributed, as well as to provide a spatial representation of flood prone areas along the river basin. Therefore, a key outcome of this research was flood risk maps for two locations along a segment of the Crocodile Basin. The flood risk maps provided an indication of the areas along the segment that are at a risk of being inundated during flood events.

However, flood risk is a complex process that combines human and natural factors. It is characterized by the conjunction of the probability of floods to take place and the potential consequences associated to them. Floods only cause damage when flood zones are occupied by vulnerable human systems (Eleutério, 2012). Turner *et al.* (2003) recognised that holistic studies on vulnerability that are meant to have an input in decision making should include a study of all the hazards affecting the

system, as an assessment of how the system gets exposed to the hazard, as well as the coping capacity of the system. Variations in these indicators will invariably result in variations in vulnerability. This research, however, does not conduct a detailed overview of the vulnerability of the systems along the basin, but merely identifies the areas that are at high risk. It acknowledges the fact that within a 'high risk area', for example, the vulnerability of different households will vary. This is due to the fact that the adaptive capacity and resilience of different households will vary. An assessment at this level is not in the scope of this project.

Therefore, although this research acknowledges the fact that it is essential to identify high flood risk areas (which was achieved and outlined in Chapter 8), it also acknowledge that within high flood risk areas, the risk of individual systems can vary.

9.1 Limitations of Research

There were various challenges that were experienced during this research, which limited and influenced the outcome of this dissertation. Limitations were experienced in the following areas:

 Water level and discharge data: Although numerous stations exist along the Crocodile River, data accuracy and data completeness presented challenges in conducting an accurate assessment. Peak discharge values for flood events are integral for modelling previous flood events. For one of the flood events, peak discharge values were not available. This data gap was filled with data acquired from a different source. This approach is often not desirable as different organisation utilise different data monitoring and measuring techniques. Therefore, data monitoring and measuring needs to be a priority for water management institutions.

In addition, as the analysis used data for only 10 years of data, it prevented any rigorous statistical analysis which is typical of flood risk assessment.

• **Topographical data**: The availability of high resolution topographical data to accurately represent the river channel and surrounding terrain is one of

the main impediments for flood modelling. Topographic data are fundamental to flood modelling as they are used throughout the process (Els, 2011). Although either a raster or tin format can be used for topographic representation, a tin format is often recommended for modelling processes. For this dissertation, the vertical resolution offered by the tin and the raster was not at the required scale (i.e. approximately 0.5 m). There is, therefore, a need for South Africa to invest in developing and/or acquiring high resolution DEMs.

Orthophotos and Satellite Imagery: Several challenges were experienced with the available satellite imagery. This was mainly due to the fact that daily images for South Africa are not captured. Firstly, although several Landsat 7 ETM+ (30 m resolution) satellite images could be found, there were no images available for the flood events or any day immediately after. The cloud cover on the days after the flood resulted in the Landsat 7 ETM+ satellite images being unclear and unusable. The high resolution images that were available were when the flood had already receded, and could therefore not be used to compare the flood distribution. Secondly, the MODIS images that were available for the flood events were of a poor resolution, and could thus not be used to compare the flood distribution. Lastly, the limitations in the recording of flood events in South Africa meant that there were no official archive of historical images capturing flood events. There is therefore a need for South Africa to invest in daily satellite imagery and in proving historical images capturing flood events.

Data limitations determine the flood modelling methodology that is used. Higher quality data availability will enable more detailed analysis and the use of sophisticated hydraulic modelling applications. With higher quality data, more accurate and larger scale flood modelling assessments can be conducted. This would enable the application of effective flood planning and the implementation of appropriate flood management approaches.

9.2 Revisiting the Research Aims

This section revisits each of the research aims, and discusses whether these were achieved;

Aim 1: To evaluate the extent of previous flood events and identify the characteristics of the rainfall periods that caused them. (Achieved - see Chapters 5 and 7)

Aim 2: To determine how these previous flood events have affected the Crocodile River Basin. (*Partly achieved - see Chapters 5 and 7*)

Aim 3: To develop discharge and water level scenarios for possible future flood events for the Crocodile River, based on these historical events. (Achieved see Chapter 6)

Aim 4: To develop flood maps for these future scenarios that identify flood-prone areas along the Crocodile River Basin. (*Partly achieved - see Chapters 7 and 8*)

Aim 5: To determine how future flood events are likely to affect the settlement patterns, human and physical characteristics of the Crocodile River Basin. (*Partly achieved - see Chapters 7 and 8*)

Although various challenges were experienced regarding data availability, and the accuracy of the available data, the data that was available enabled the research to be completed. A challenge was, however, experienced in terms of obtaining high-resolution daily satellite imagery. This meant that the extent of modelled historic flood events could not be compared with observed flood events. This meant that Aim 2 could only be partially completed.

This research showed that flood modelling is possible with the use of data that is currently available in South Africa. Applications such as ArcGIS, HEC-RAS and MIKE FLOOD enable good quality hydrological analysis, spatial assessment and flood mapping. This research will be instrumental in increasing knowledge of flood risk assessment, projecting future flood events under climate variability, predicting flood prone areas, and therefore guiding planning and decision making.

If South Africa can enhance the existing data sources required for hydraulic modelling, the methodology can be improved and better flood hazard maps can be created. Some African countries already have better quality historic satellite imagery and topographic data. This should encourage South Africa to improve its in-house data if it would like to become the leader in spatial information in Africa (Els, 2011).

9.3 Recommendations for Further Research

The recommendations presented in this section are based on the research findings drawn from the previous sections. In addition, while conducting this research, there were several components that were identified where opportunities for further research exist. These will increase the richness of the outcomes of flood risk assessments.

The data limitations, particularly the lack of high resolution DEMs, creates challenges in obtaining accurate flood maps. This could have a catastrophic impact for planning processes such as land-use and settlement planning. Communities that are considered as socially vulnerable, and thus have a low adaptive capacity, could be located in areas that would have been other-wise been considered as high risk. High quality DEMs enables an accurate representation of the elevation. There is therefore a need for a project, funded by government, which undertakes for high-quality DEMs to be captured across the country.

Lastly, this research conducted a spatial vulnerability assessment. It did not conduct a detailed overview of the vulnerability of the systems along the basin, but merely identified the areas that are at high risk. An identification of each of the individual components of the systems along the basin would require extensive resources, which were beyond the scope of this project. Further research in this area would increase the validity of the flood risk and vulnerability assessment of this basin.

REFERENCES

10. REFERENCES

ADWR. (2002). *Floodplain hydraulic modelling*. Phoenix: Arizona Department of Water Resources. ADWR (Arizona Department of Water Resources).

Alexander, D. (1991). Natural disasters: a framework for research and teaching. *Disasters*, 15(3), 209-226.

Alexander, W. (1995). Floods, droughts and climate change. *South African Journal* of *Science*, 91(8), 403-408.

Alexander, W. (2000). An African perspective. Floods, 2, 260.

Alexander, W.J.R. (2000). *Flood risk reduction measures*. Pretoria: Department of Civil Engineering, University of Pretoria.

Alfieri, L., Laio, F., and Claps, P. (2008). A simulation experiment for optimal design hyetograph selection. *Hydrological Processes*, 22(6), 813-820.

Alho P., Sane, M., Huokuna, M., Käyhkö, J., Lotsari, E., and Lehtiö, L. (2008). Mapping of floods. *Environmental Administration Guidelines*, 2, 59-101.

Allaby, A., and Allaby, M. (1999). *A Dictionary of Earth Sciences.* 1st Edition. Oxford University Press.

Allen, F.R. (1992). *The Management of Risk to Society from Potential Accidents.* Elsevier Applied Science.

Ampitiyawatta, A.D. and Guo, S. (2009). Precipitation trends in the Kalu Ganga Basin in Sri Lanka. *Journal of Agricultural Science*, 1, 10-18.

ANCOLD. (2003). Guidelines on Risk Assessment. ANCOLD (Australian National Committee on Large Dams).

Andersson, L, Wilke, J., Graham, P., and Warburton, M. (2009). Local Assessment of Vulnerability to Climate Change Impacts on Water Resources and Suggestions of Adaptation Strategies in the Mhlwazini / Bergville Area (Upper Thukela River basin, South Africa). Swedish Meteorological and Hydrological Institute, pp 23. Norrköping, Sweden

Archer, E., Engelbrecht, F., and Landman, W. (2010). South African Risk and Vulnerability Atlas (SARVA). Department of Science and Technology (DST), Pretoria, Pretoria

Arnell, N. W. (1999). A simple water balance model for the simulation of streamflow over a large geographic domain. *Journal of Hydrology*, 217, 314-335.

Arnell, N.W. (2004). Climate Change and Global Water Resources: SRES Emissions and Socio-Economic Scenarios. *Global Environmental Change*, 14, 31-52.

Asian Development Bank. 2013. *Moving from risk to resilience: sustainable urban development in the Pacific.* Asian Development Bank, Mandaluyong City, Philippines.

Baer, E.M. (2008). *Recurrence interval*. Northfield: Carlton College. Available from http://serc.carleton.edu/quantskills/methods/quantlit/RInt.html#calculations

Baker, V.R., Kochel, R.C., and Patto, P.C. (1988). *Flood Geomorphology.* John Wiley & Sons Inc.

Barroca, B., Bernardara, P., Mouchel, J. M., and Hubert, G. (2006). Indicators for identification of urban flooding vulnerability. *Natural Hazards and Earth System Sciences*, 6, 553-561.

Bates, P.D. (2012). Integrating remote sensing data with flood inundation models: how far have we got? *Hydrological Processes*, 26(16), 2515-2521.

Bellprat, O., Lott, F.C., Gulizia, C., Parker, H.R., Pampuch, L., Pinto, I., Ciavarella, A. and Stott, P.A. (2015). Unusual past dry and wet rainy seasons over Southern Africa and South America from a climate perspective. *Weather and Climate Extremes*, 9:36–46

Beven, K. (2004) Robert E. Horton's perceptual model of infiltration processes. *Hydrological Processes*, 18, 3447-3460.

Beven, K.J. (1983). Surface water hydrology-runoff generation and basin structure. *Reviews of Geophysics*, 21(3), 721-730.

Boonya-Aroonnet, S., Prodanović, D., and Djordjević, S. (2007). Urban pluvial flooding: development of GIS based pathway model for surface flooding and interface with surcharged sewer model. Novatech 2007, Lyon, France

Bründl, M., Romang, H.E., Bischo, N., and Rheinberger, C.M. (2009). The risk concept and its application in natural hazard risk management in Switzerland. *Natural Science and Earth System Sciences*, 9, 801-803.

Brunner, G.W. (2014). *Combined 1D and 2D Modelling with HEC-RAS*. Hydrologic Engineering Center, United States Army Corps of Engineers (USACE).

Büchele, B., Kreibich, H., Kron, A., hieken, A., Ihringer, J., Oberle, P., Merz, B., and Nestmann, F. (2006). Flood-risk mapping: contributions towards an enhanced assessment of extreme events and associated risks. *Natural Science and Earth System Sciences*, 6, 485-503.

Bunn, S.E. and Arthington, A.H. (2002). Basic principles and ecological consequences of altered flow regimes for aquatic biodiversity. *Environmental Management*, 30(4), 492-507.

Calder, I.R. and Aylward, B. (2006). Forest and floods: Moving to an Evidencebased Approach to Watershed and Integrated Flood Management. *Water International*, 31 (1), 0250-8060.

Carrara, A. Cardinali, M., Guzzetti, F., and Reichenbach, P. (1999). Use of GIS technology in the prediction and monitoring of landslide hazard. *Natural Hazards,* 20(2), 117-135.

CD: NGI. (2011a). *Maps and geo-spatial information.* CD: NGI (National Geospatial Information). Cape Town. Available from: <u>http://www.ngi.gov.za/index.php/Image-tabs-home/maps-and-geo-spatial-</u> <u>information.html</u>

CD: NGI. (2011b). *National aerial photography and imagery programme.* CD: NGI (National Geo-spatial Information). Cape Town. Available from:

http://www.ngi.gov.za/index.php/Image-tabs-home/national-aerial-photographyand-imagery-programme.html

CD: SM. (2006). *Mapping South Africa.* CD: SM (Chief Directorate: Surveys and Mapping). Cape Town.

Chau, V.N., Holland, J., Cassells, S., and Tuohy, M. (2013). Using GIS to map impacts upon agriculture from extreme floods in Vietnam. *Applied Geography*, 41, 65-74.

Chow, V.T., Maidment, D.R., and Mays, L.W. (1988). *Applied Hydrology.* McGraw-Hill, New York.

Clark, S.J., Bruce-Burgess, L., and Wharton, G. (2003). Linking form and function: towards an eco-hydromorphic approach to sustainable river restoration. *Aquatic Conservation and Freshwater Ecosystems*, 13, 436-450.

CSAG. (2011). South African weather. CSAG (Climate Systems Analysis Group). Cape Town, University of Cape Town. Available from: http://www.myweather.co.za/weatherinfo/SAWeather.html

Cui, X., Graf, H., Langmann, B., Chen, W., and Huang, R. (2007). *Hydrological Hydrological Impacts on the South Coast Tibetan Plateau*. Earth interactions. Vol. 11 Paper no. 5. Available from: <u>http://earthinteractions.org</u>

Cutter, S. (1993). *Living with Risk, the Geography of Technological Hazards.* Hodder Education Publishers.

Daly, C. (2006), Guidelines for assessing the suitability of spatial climate data sets. *International Journal of Climatology*, 26, 707-721.

Davis, C.L. (2010). *A Climate Change Handbook for North-Eastern South Africa*. Council for Scientific and Industrial Research (CSIR), Pretoria.

de Blois, C.J. and Wind, H.G. (1995). Assessment of flood damages and benefits of remedial actions: "What are the weak links?" With application to the Loire. *Physics and Chemistry of the Earth,* 20, 491-495.

de la Harpe, J. (1998). *Guide to the National Water Act*. Pretoria, Department of Water Affairs and Forestry (DWAF).

de Moel, H., van Alphen, J., and Aerts, J.C.J.H. (2009). Flood maps in Europe - methods, availability and use. *Natural Hazards and Earth System Sciences*, 9, 289-301.

DEA. (2013a). Long-Term Adaptation Scenarios Flagship Research Programme (LTAS) for South Africa. Climate Change Implications for the Water Sector in South Africa. DEA (Department of Environmental Affairs), Pretoria, South Africa.

DEA. (2013b). Long-Term Adaptation Scenarios Flagship Research Programme (LTAS) for South Africa. Climate Change Adaptation: Perspectives on Urban, Rural and Coastal Human Settlements in South Africa. DEA (Department of Environmental Affairs), Pretoria, South Africa.

Decharme, D., and Douville, H. (2006). Uncertainties in the GSWP-2 precipitation forcing and their impacts on regional and global hydrological simulations. *Climate Dynamics*, 27, 695-713.

Di Baldassarre, G., Schumann, G. and Bates, P. (2009a). Near real time satellite imagery to support and verify timely flood modelling. *Hydrological Processes*, 23(5), 79-803.

Di Baldassarre. G., Schumann, G. and Bates, P.D. (2009b). A technique for the calibration of hydraulic models using uncertain satellite observations of flood extent. *Journal of Hydrology*, 367(3-4), 276-282.

Djordjevic, S., Prodanović, D., and Maksimović, C. (1999). An Approach to simulation of Dual Drainage. *Water Science and Technology*, 39 (9), 95-103.

Doll, P., and Siebert, S. (2002). Global modeling of irrigation water requirements. *Water Resources Research*, 38, 1037-1045.

Dollar, E.S.J. and Rowntree, K.M. (2003). *Geomorphologic Research for the Conservation and Management of Southern African Rivers.* Vol 2. Managing Flow variability: The Geographical Resource. WRC Report No. 849/2/03.

Dorroei, F., Di Baldassarre, G, and Todini, E. (2013). Detailed data is welcome, but with a pinch of salt: Accuracy, precision, and uncertainty in flood inundation modelling. *Water Resources Research*, 49(9), 6079-6085, doi: 10.1002/wrcr.20406

DWA. (2002). Channel Slopes in the Olifants, Crocodile and Sabie River Catchments. Pretoria, Department of Water Affairs (DWA).

DWA. (2009). *Hydrological Services.* Pretoria, DWA (Department of Water Affairs). Available from <u>http://www.dwaf.gov.za/Hydrology/about.htm</u>

DWA. (2011). Governing Board Induction Manual, Chapter Five: The Inkomati Catchment Management Agency. Pretoria, Department of Water Affairs (DWA).

Dyhouse, G., Hatchett, J., and Benn, J. (2003). *Floodplain modelling using HEC-RAS*. Michigan, Haestad Press.

EC, (2009a). *Glossary.* EC (Environment Canada). Quebec. Available from: <u>http://www.ec.gc.ca/Water</u>

EC, (2009b). *Project Floodsite*. EC (European Community). Oxfordshire, Samui Design and Management Ltd. Available from: <u>http://www.floodsite.net</u>

Eleutério, J. (2012). *Flood risk analysis: impact of uncertainty in hazard modelling and vulnerability assessments on damage estimations.* PhD thesis, University of Strasbourg.

Els, Z. (2011). *Data availability and requirements for flood hazard mapping in South Africa*. MSc thesis, Stellenbosch University, Cape Town, South Africa.

Engelbrecht F.A., McGregor, J.L., and Engelbrecht C.J. (2009). Dynamics of the conformal-cubic atmospheric model projected climate-change signal over southern Africa. *International Journal of Climatology*, 29(7), 1013-1033.

ENPAT. (2001). *Environmental Potential Atlas for South Africa.* Pretoria: Department of Environmental Affairs (DEA). ENPAT (Environmental Potential Atlas). Available from: <u>http://www.environment.gov.za/enviro-info/enpat.htm</u>

Fedeski, M.H., and Gwilliam, J.A. (2007). Urban sustainability in the presence of flood and geological hazards: the development of a GIS-based vulnerability and risk assessment methodology. *Landscape and Urban Planning*, 5(12), 1-12.

FEI. (2007). *Flood mapping.* Helsinki, Finland's Environmental Administration. Available from: <u>http://www.ymparisto.fi</u>

Fekete, B.M., Vorosmarty, C.J., Roads, J.O., and Willmott, C.J. (2004). Uncertainties in precipitation and their impacts on runoff estimates. *Journal of Climate*, 17, 294-304.

FEMA. (2008). Guide to emergency management and related terms, definitions, concepts, acronyms, organisations, programs, guidance, executive orders and legislation. Washington, FEMA (Federal Emergency Management Agency). Available from:

http://www.training.fema.gov/emiweb/edu/docs/terms%20and%20definitions/Ter ms%20and%20Definitions.pdf

Franzini, J.B. and Finnemore, E.J. (2001). *Fluid Mechanics with Engineering Applications*. 10th ed. New York, The McGraw-Hill Companies Inc.

Garbrecht, J., Garbrecht, J., DeBarry, P.A., and Johnson, L.E. (2001). GIS and distributed watershed models. Data coverages and sources. *Journal of Hydrologic Engineering*, 6(6), 506-514.

Gericke, O.J., and du Plessis, J.A. (2012). Evaluation of the standard design flood method in selected basins in South Africa. *Journal of the South African Institution of Civil Engineering*, 54 (2), 2-14.

Gerrard, S., Turner, R.K., and Bateman, I.J. (2001). *Environmental Risk Planning and Management.* Elgar Reference Collection.

GHD. (2013). Hydrology versus Hydraulics: Optimising Tools in the Management of the Murray-Darling. Chapter 5. Water Saving in NSW River Basins. Rivers Report for Water for Rivers.

Gilard, O. (1996). Flood Risk Management: Risk Cartography for Objective Negotiations. *Proceedings of the 3rd IHP/IAHS George Kovacs Colloquium*, UNESCO, Paris.

GMES. (2010). *Floods.* GMES (Global Monitoring for Environment and Security). Frascati, European Space Agency. Available from: <u>http://www.emergencyresponse.eu/gmes/docs_wsw/RUB_119/ssp_gmes_datash</u> <u>eet_01_floods_vi.pdf</u> Goodchild, M.F. (2006). GIS and disasters: Planning for catastrophe. *Computers, Environment and Urban Systems,* 30, 227-229.

Görgens, A. (2003). *Floods and stormwater. Vol 1: Design flood hydrology.* Stellenbosch: Institute for Water and Environmental Engineering, University of Stellenbosch.

Goudie, A. and Viles, H. (2005). *The Earth Transformed: An introduction to human impacts on the environment*. Victoria: Blackwell Publishing.

Green C., van der Veen, A., Wierstra, E., and Penning-Rowsell, E. (1994). *Vulnerability refined: Analysing full flood impacts.* [In: Fordham M. (eds): Floods across Europe: Flood hazard assessment, modelling and management. Middlesex University Press, London, 32-68.] University Press, London.

Greenberg, M.R., Lahr, M., and Mantell, N. (2007). Understanding the economic costs and benefits of catastrophes and their aftermath: A review and suggestions for the U.S. Federal government. *Risk Analysis*, (27), 83-96.

Greene, R.W. (2002). *Confronting Catastrophe: A GIS handbook.* ESRI Press, Cambridge University Press.

Gregory, K.J. and Walling, D.E. (1973). *Drainage basin form and process.* London: Edward Arnold.

Guentchev, G., Barsugli, J. J., and Eischeid, J. (2010), Homogeneity of gridded precipitation datasets for the Colorado River basin. *Journal of Applied Meteorology and Climatology*, 49(2), 2404-2415.

Guntner, A. (2008). Improvement of global hydrological models using GRACE data. *Surveys in Geophysics*, 29, 375-397.

Haarhoff, J. and Cassa, A.M. (2009). *Introduction to Flood Hydrology*. Cape Town: Juta and Company Ltd.

Haile, A. T. (2005). *Integrating Hydrodynamic Models and High Resolution DEM (LIDAR) For Flood Modelling.* International Institute for Geo-Information Science and Earth Observation, Enschede, The Netherlands.

Halloway, A., Fortune G., and Chasi V. (2010). *Risk and Development Annual Review (RADAR): Western Cape 2010.* Cape Town: Peri-Peri Publications, Disaster Mitigation for Sustainable Livelihoods Programme.

Hardmeyer, K. and Spencer, M.A. (2007). Using risk-based analysis and geographic information systems to assess flooding problems in an urban watershed in Rhode Island. *Environmental Management*, 39, 563-574.

Hardy, R.J. (2005). Fluvial geomorphology. *Progress in Physical Geography*, 29, 411-425.

Heath, R.G.M. (1999). A catchment-based assessment of the metal and pesticide *levels of fish from the Crocodile River, Mpumalanga.* PhD Thesis, Rand Afrikaans University, Johannesburg.

Hénonin, J., Russo, B., Roquetta, D.S., Sanchez-Diezma, R., Domino, N.D.S., Thomsen, F., and Mark, O. (2010). *Urban Flood Real-Time Forecasting and Modelling: A State-of-the Art Review.* MIKE by DHI Conference, Copenhagen. 6-8 September 2010.

Hernandes, T. and Zhang, P.E. (2007). *Floodplain analysis using computational tools.* Paper presented at the World Environmental and Water Resources Congress of the Environmental and Water Resources Institute, Tampa.

Hewitson, B.C. and R.G. Crane. (2006). Consensus between GCM climate change projections with empirical downscaling: Precipitation downscaling over South Africa. *International Journal of Climatology*, 26(10), 1315-1337.

Hewitt, K. (1997). *Regions of Risk: A geographical introduction to disasters*. Longman, London.

Hill, C.D. and Verjee, F. (2010). *Flash flood early warning system reference guide 2010*. Boulder: University Corporation for Atmospheric Research (UCAR).

Ho, L.T.K, Umitsu M., and Yamaguchi Y. (2010). *Flood Hazard Mapping by Satellite Images and SRTM DEM in the Vu Gia – Thu Bon Alluvial Plain, Central Vietnam.* Commission VIII, Working Group VIII/1. International Archives of the Photogrammetry, Remote Sensing and Spatial Information Science, Volume XXXVIII, Part 8, Kyoto Japan 2010.

Hoerling M., Hurrell, J.W., Eischeid, J., and Phillips, A. (2006). Detection and attribution of twentieth-century northern and southern African rainfall change. *Journal of Climate*, 19(16), 3989-4008.

Horton, R.E. (1933). The role of infiltration in the hydrologic cycle. *Transactions, American Geophysical Union*, 14, 446-460.

Hunger, M. and Doll, P. (2008). Value of river discharge data for global-scale hydrological modelling. *Hydrology and Earth System Sciences*, 12, 841-861.

Hunter, N.M., Bates, P.D., Horritt, M.S., and Wilson M.D. (2007). Simple spatiallydistributed models for predicting flood inundation: A review. *Geomorphology*, 90, 208-225.

ICRAF. (2001). *Improved land management in the Lake Victoria Basin: Linking land and lake, research and extension, catchment and lake basin.* Final technical report, Start-up phase, July 1999-2000. International Center for Research and Agroforestry [ICRAF] and Ministry of Agriculture and Rural Development (2000).

IIED. (2013). Understanding the nature and scale of urban risk in low- and middleincome countries and its implications for humanitarian preparedness, planning and response. International Institute for Environment and Development (IIED).

IPCC. (2007). Climate Change 2007. The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. In Solomon, S., Quin, D., Manning, M., Chen, Z., Marquis, M., Averyt, K.B., Tignor, M. and Miller, H.L. (Eds) Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK. pp 996.

IPCC. (2014). Climate Change 2014: Synthesis Report. Contribution of Working Groups I, II and III to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC), Geneva, Switzerland, 151 pp.

James, R. and Washington, R. (2013). Changes in African temperature and precipitation associated with degrees of global warming. *Climatic Change*, 117(4), 859-872.

Janna, W.S. (2009). *Introduction to Fluid Mechanics*. 4th ed. Boca Raton: CRC Press.

Jonkman, S.N. (2005). Global perspectives on loss of human life caused by floods. *Natural Hazards, 34(2),* 151–175.

Jung, G., Wagner, S., and Kunstmann, H. (2012). Joint climate-hydrology modeling: an impact study for the data-sparse environment of the Volta Basin in West Africa. *Hydrology Research*, 43, 231-248.

Kauffeldt, A., Halldin, S., Rodhe, A., Xu, C.Y., and Westerbeg, K. (2013). Disinformative data in large-scale hydrological modelling. *Hydrology and Earth System Sciences*, 17, 2845-2857.

Kay, G. and Washington, R. (2008). Future southern African summer rainfall variability related to a southwest Indian Ocean dipole in HadCM3. *Geophysical Research Letters*, 35(12), doi: 10.1029/2008GL034180.

Khan, B., and Igbal, M.J. (2012). Forecasting flood risk in the Indus River system using hydrological hydrological parameters and its damage assessment. *Saudi Society for Geosciences*, 6, 4069-4078.

Kiersch, B. (2001). *Land use impacts on water resources: a literature review.* Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO) of the United Nations, Rome. Available from: http://www.fao.org/docrep/004/y3618e/y3618e07.htm

Kiesel, J., Schmalz, B., Brown, G.L., and Fohrer, N. (2013). Application of a hydrological-hydraulic modelling cascade in lowlands for investigating water and sediment fluxes in catchment, channel and reach. *Journal of Hydrology and Hydromechanics*, 61(4), 334–346.

Klijn, F. ed. (2009). Flood risk assessment and flood risk management: An introduction and guidance based on experience and findings of FLOODsite (an EU-funded Integrated Project). Delft: Deltares, Delft Hydaulics.

Kniveton, D.R., Layberry, R., Williams, C.J.R., and Peck, M. (2009). Trends in the start of the wet season over Africa. *International Journal of Climatology*, 29(9), 1216-1225.

Knocke, W. E. (2006). *Modelling flash floods in small ungauged watersheds using embedded GIS*. Virginia Polytechnic Institute and State University, Blacksburg, VA, USA.

Köhler, P., Müller, M., Sanders, M., and Wächter, J. (2006). Data management and GIS in the Center for Disaster Management and Risk Reduction Technology (CEDIM): From integrated spatial data to the mapping of risk. *Natural Hazards and Earth System Sciences*, 6, 621-628.

Kokkonen, T.S., and Jakeman. A.J. (2001). A comparison of metric and conceptual approaches in rainfall-runoff modelling and its implications. *Water Resources Research*, 37(9), 2345-2352.

Koutroulis, A.G. and Tsanis, I.K. (2010). A method for estimating flash flood peak discharge in a poorly gauged basin: Case study for the 13-14 January 1994 flood, Giofiros basin, Crete, Greece. *Journal of Hydrology*, 385(1), 150-164.

Kron, W. (2003). Flood risk = Hazard x Exposure x Vulnerability. *Journal of Lake Sciences*, 15, 185-204.

Lastra, J, Fernández, E., Díez-Herrero, A., and Marquínez, J. (2008). Flood hazard delineation combining geomorphological and hydrological hydrological methods: an example in the Northern Iberian Peninsula. *Natural Hazards*, 45, 277–293.

Lechtenbörger, C. (2006). *CEDIM-Risk Map Germany: First results.* [In: Ammann WJ, Dannenmann, S. and Vulliet, L. (eds). Risk 21 – Coping with risks due to natural hazards in the 21st century, 139-146. London: Taylor & Francis Group].

Leon, A. (2013). Tutorial on Using HEC-GeoRAS 10.1 with ArcGIS 10.1 and HEC-RAS 4.1.0 for Flood Inundation Mapping in Steady and Unsteady Flow Conditions. Oregon State University.

Li, L., Diallo, I., Xu, C.Y, and Stordal, F. (2015). Hydrological projections under climate change in the near future by RegCM4 in Southern Africa using a large-scale hydrological model. *Journal of Hydrology* 528:1-16.

Li, L., Ngongondo, C. S., Xu, C.Y., and Gong, L. (2012). Comparison of the global TRMM and WFD precipitation datasets in driving a large-scale hydrological model in Southern Africa. *Hydrology Research*, 44(5), 770-788.

Lofstedt, R.E. and Frewer, L. (1998). *The Earthscan reader in risk and modern society.* Earthscan Publications, London.

Longley, P.A., Goodchild, M.F., Maguire, D.J. and Rhind, D.W. (1999). *Geographical Information Systems, Principles, Techniques, Management and Applications*. 2nd Edition. New York: John Wiley and Sons Ltd.

Longley, P.A., Goodchild, M.F., Maguire, D.J. and Rhind, D.W. (2005). *Geographic Information Systems and Science*. 2nd edition. New York: John Wiley and Sons Ltd.

Lynch, S.D. (2004). *Development of a Raster Database of Annual, Monthly and Daily Rainfall for Southern Africa*. Water Research Commission, Pretoria, RSA, WRC Report 1156/1/04. pp 78.

Maguire, D. J. (1999). *GIS Customization.* [In Geographical Information Systems Volume 1, principles and technical issues, 2nd Edition, eds. Longley, P. A., Goodchild, M. F., Maguire, D. J. and Rhind, D. W., 359-369. New York: John Wiley and Sons.]

Maidment, D. (2002). ArcHydro: GIS for water resources. Redlands: ESRI Press.

Maidment, D. and Djokic, D. (2000). *Hydrologic and hydraulic modelling support with Geographic Information Systems*. Redlands: ESRI Press.

Maity, D. K. (2009). *Hydrological and 1 D Hydrodynamic Modelling in Manali Sub-Basin of Beas River, Himachal Pradesh, India.* International Institute for Geo-Information Science and Earth Observation (ITC), Enschede, The Netherlands.

Maksimovic, C. and Prodanovic, D. (2001). *Modelling of Urban Flooding -Breakthrough or Recycling of Outdated Concepts.* Specialty Symposium of the World Water and Environmental Resources Congress, Orlando, Florida.

Manadhar, B. (2010). *Flood Plain Analysis and Risk Assessment of Lothar Khola.* Institute of Forestry, Tribhuvan University. Pokhara, Nepal.

Mani, P., Chatterjee, C., and Kuma, R. (2013). Flood hazard assessment with multi-parameter approach derived from coupled 1D and 2D hydrodynamic flow model. *Natural Hazards*, 70(2), 1553-1574.

Mark, O., Weesakul, S., Apirumanekul, C., Aroonet, S.B., Djordjevic, S. (2004). Potential and limitations of 1D modelling of urban flooding. *Journal of Hydrology*, 299, 284-299.

Marks, K. and Bates, P. (2000). Integration of high-resolution topographic data with floodplain flow models. *Hydrological Hydrological Processes*, 14, 2109-2122.

Martini, F. and Loat, R. eds. (2007). *Handbook on good practices for flood mapping in Europe*. Emmeloord: Drukkerij Feiko Stevens.

May, J. (1998). *Poverty and Inequality in South Africa*. Office of the Executive Deputy President and the Inter-Ministerial Committee for Poverty and Inequality.

McCarthy, J., Canziani, O.F., Leary, N.A., Dokken, D.J., and White K.S. (2001). *Climate Change Impacts, Adaptation, and Vulnerability: Contribution of Working Group II to the Third Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change.* Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK. pp 1032.

McCarthy, S., Tunstall, S., Parker, D., Faulkner, H. and Howe, J. (2007). Risk communication in emergency response to a simulated extreme flood. *Environmental Hazards*, 7(3), 179-192.

McCuen, R.H. (2005). *Hydrologic Analysis and Design.* 3rd Ed. Pearson Prentice Hall, Upper Saddle River, New Jersey.

Mediero, L., Jimenez-'Alvarez, A., and Garrote, L. (2010). Design flood hydrographs between flood peak and volume. *Hydrology and Earth Systems Science*, 14, 2495–2505.

Merwade, V., Cook, A., and Coonrod, J. (2008). GIS techniques for creating river terrain models for hydrodynamic modelling and flood inundation mapping. *Environmental Modelling and Software*, 23, 1300-1311.

Merz, B., Kreibich, H., Schwarze, R., and Thieken, A. (2010). Assessment of economic flood damage. *Natural Hazards and Earth System Sciences*, 10, 1697-1724.

Merz, B., Thieken, A. H., and Gocht, M. (2007). *Flood risk mapping at the local scale: Concepts and challenges.* [In: Flood risk management in Europe: Innovation

in policy and practice. Begum, S., Stive M.J.F, and Hall J.W. (eds). Dordrecht: Springer, New York, pp 231-251].

Messner, F. and Meyer, V. (2006). *Flood damage, vulnerability and risk perception* – *challenges for flood damage research.* [In: Flood risk management: Hazards, vulnerability and mitigation measures. Schanze, J., Zeman, E., and Marsalek, J. (eds). Nato science series (5), Earth and environmental sciences, Springer Netherlands, 149-167.]

Messner, F., Penning-Rowsell, E., Green, C., Meyer, V., Tunstall, S., and van der Veen, A. (2007). *Evaluating flood damages: Guidance and recommendations on principles and methods.* FLOODsite Consortium, Wallingford, 179.

Midgley G.F., Chapman, R.A., Hewitson, B., Johnston, P., de Wit, M., Ziervogel, G., Mukheibir, P., van Niekerk, L., Tadross, M., van Wilgen, B.W., Kgope, B., Morant, P.D., Theron, A., Scholes, R.J., Forsyth, G.G. (2005). *A status quo, vulnerability and adaptation assessment of the physical and socio-economic effects of climate change in the Western Cape*. Publication No ENV-S-C 2005-073. Stellenbosch: CSIR.

Miller, G.T. (2004). *Living in the Environment.* Thirteenth Edition. Brooks/Cole Publishing. Canada.

Moise, A.F. and Hudson, D.A. (2008). Probabilistic predictions of climate change for Australia and southern Africa using the reliability ensemble average of IPCC CMIP3 model simulations. *Journal of Geophysical Research D: Atmospheres,* 113(15), doi: 10.1029/2007JD009250.

Montanari, A. (2007). What do we mean by 'uncertainty'? The need for a consistent wording about uncertainty assessment in hydrology. *Hydrological Processes*, 21(6), 841-845.

Mukheibir, P. and Sparks, D. (2005). *Climate variability, climate change and water resource strategies for small municipalities.* Report Submitted to the Water Research Commission.

Mukolwe, M.M., Di Baldassarre, G., Wemer, M., and Solomatine, D.P. (2014). Flood modelling: parameterisation and inflow uncertainty. *Water Management*, 167(10), 51-60. Mulligan, M. (2012). WaterWorld: a self-parameterising, physically-based model for application in data-poor but problem-rich environments globally. *Hydrology Research*, 44(5), 748-769. \

Munson, B.R., Young, D.F., and Okhiishi, T.H., and Huebsch, W.W. (2010). *Fundamentals of Fluid Mechanics*. 6th ed. Toronto: John Wiley and Sons Inc.

Mussá, F.E.F., Zhou, Y., Maskey, S., Masih, I., and Uhlenbrook, S. (2015). Groundwater as an emergency source for drought mitigation. *Hydrology and Earth System Sciences, 19*, 1093-1106.

Musungu, K., Motala, S., and Smit, J. (2012). Using Multi-criteria Evaluation and GIS for Flood Risk Analysis in Informal Settlements of Cape Town: The Case of Graveyard Pond. *South African Journal of Geomatics*, 1(1), 77-91.

Nachabe, M.H. (2006). Equivalence between TOPMODEL and the NRCS curve number method in predicting variable runoff source areas. *Journal of the American Water Resources Association*, 42(1), 225-235.

New Jersey Department of Environmental Protection. (2004). *Chapter 5: Computing Stormwater Runoff Rates and Volumes*. New Jersey Stormwater Best Management Practices Manual.

New, M., Hewitson, B., Stephenson, D.B., Tsiga, A., Kruger, A., Manhique, A., Gomez, B., Coelho, C.A.S., Masisi, D.N., and Kululanga, E. (2006). Evidence of trends in daily climate extremes over southern and West Africa. *Journal of Geophysical Research D: Atmospheres,* 111(14), doi: 10.1029/2005JD006289.

Niang, I., Ruppel, O.C. Abdrabo, M.A. Essel, A. Lennard, C. Padgham, J. and Urquhart, P. (2014). *Africa.* [In: Climate Change 2014: Impacts, Adaptation, and Vulnerability. Part B: Regional Aspects. Contribution of Working Group II to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Barros, V.R., Field, C.B., Dokken, D.J., Mastrandrea, M.D., Mach, K.J., Bilir, T.E., Chatterjee, M., Ebi, K.L., Estrada, Y.O., Genova, R.C., Girma, B., Kissel, E.S., Levy, A.N., MacCracken, S., Mastrandrea, P.R. and White, L.L. (eds.). Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA, pp. 1199-1265.] Nicandrou, A. (2010). *Hydrological Assessment and Modelling of the River Fani Catchment, Albania.* A thesis submitted for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy. University of Glamorgan, Faculty of Advanced Technology.

NOAA. (2009). Understanding flood recurrence intervals. Davenport: National Weather Service. NOAA (National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration). Available from:

http://test.crh.noaa.gov/dvn/?n=Understandingfloodrecurrenceintervals

NRC. (2009). *Mapping the zone: Improving flood map accuracy.* NRC (National Research Council). The National Academies Press, Washington, D.C. pp 19-20

Nurritasari, F.A., Sudibyakto, S. and Jetten, V.G. (2015). OpenLISEM Flash Flood Modelling Application in Logung Sub-Catchment, Central Java. *Indonesian Journal of Geography*, 47(2), 132-141.

O'Connell, P. E. (1991). A historical perspective. In: Recent Advances in the Modeling of Hydrologic Systems. D. Bowles and P. O'Connell, eds. Kluwer Academic Publisher, Dordrecht, The Netherlands, 3-30.

Odiyo, M.J.O., Makungo R., and Nkuna T.R. (2015). Long-term changes and variability in rainfall and streamflow in Luvuvhu River Catchment, South Africa. *South African Journal of Science*, 111 (7/8), doi: 10.17159/SAIS2015/20140169.

Ogden, F. L., Garbrecht, J., DeBarry, P.A., and Johnson, L.E. (2001). GIS and distributed watershed models, II, Modules, interface and models, *Journal of Hydrologic Engineering*, 6(6), 515-523.

Orlowsky, B. and Seneviratne, S.I. (2012). Global changes in extreme events: Regional and seasonal dimension. *Climatic Change*, 110(3-4), 669-696.

Oya, M. (2002). Applied geomorphology for mitigation of natural hazards, *Natural Hazards*, 25(1), 17-25.

Palmer, M.A., Liermann, C.A.R., Nilsson, C., Flörke, M., Alcamo, J., Lake P.S. and Bond, N. (2008). Climate Change and the World's River Basins: Anticipating Management Options. *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment*, 6, 81-89.
Pappenberg F., Beven, K., Horritt, M., and Blazkova, S. (2005). Uncertainty in the calibration of effective roughness parameters in HEC-RAS using inundation and downstream level observations. *Journal of Hydrology*, 302, 46-69.

Pappenberger, F., Beven, K.J., Frodsham, K., Romanovicz, R., and Matgen, P. (2007). Grasping the unavoidable subjectivity in calibration of flood inundation models: A vulnerability weighted approach. *Journal of Hydrology*, 333, 275-287.

Pappenberger, F., Matgen, P., and Beven, K.J. (2006). Influence of uncertain boundary conditions and model structure on flood inundation predictions. *Advances in Water Resources*, 29(10), 1430-1449.

Patterson, S. (2013). Session 3: Introduction to Hydraulic Modelling. EasternCatchment Flood Risk Assessment and Management (CFRAM) Study. Hydraulics,Hydraulic Modelling and Flood Mapping Training Course, 1st and 2nd May, 2013.Availablefrom:http://eastcfram.irish-surge-forecast.ie/wp-content/uploads/2013/05/ECFRAMS-Training_Day1_Sessions-34.pdf

Peckham, S.D. (2003). Fluvial landscape models and catchment-scale sediment transport. *Global and Planetary Change*, 39, 31-51.

Peel, M.C., McMahon, T.A., and Finlayson, B.L. (2010). Vegetation impact on mean annual evapotranspiration at a global catchment scale. *Water Resources Research*, 46(9), doi: 10.1029/2009WR008233.

Pelling, M. (1999). The political ecology of flood hazard in urban Guyana. *Geoforum*, 30(3), 249-261.

Penning-Rowsell, E.C. (1996). *The Environment and Human Society in Risks Management: Hazard Risks Models in Urban Floods.* Academic Press Inc., New York.

Penning-Rowsell, E.C., and Green, C. (2000). New insights into the appraisal of flood-alleviation benefits: flood damage and flood loss information. *Water and Environment Journal*, 14, 347-353.

Pilgrim, D.H. and Cordery, I. (1993). Chapter 9: Flood Runoff. [In: Maidment, D.R. (ed.) *Handbook of Hydrology*. McGraw-Hill, New York, USA. pp: 9.1 - 9.4].

Pilon, P.J. ed. (2004). Guidelines for reducing flood losses. New York: ISDR.

Pistrika, A., and Tsakiris G. (2007). *Flood Risk Assessment: A Methodological Framework.* Centre for the Assessment of Natural Hazards and Proactive Planning, National Technical, University of Athens.

Pittock, J., Hansen, L.J. and Abell, R. (2008). Running dry: freshwater biodiversity, protected areas, and climate change. *Biodiversity*, 9(3&4), 30-38.

Ponce, V.M. and Hawkins, R.H. (1996). Runoff curve number: has it reached maturity? *Journal of Hydrologic Engineering*, 1(1), 11-19.

Prodanovic, D., Djordjevicm S., and Maksimovic, C. (1998). GIS assisted model for dual drainage simulation. *3rd International Conference of Hydroinformatics,* Copenhagen, Denmark, pp. 535-542

RAVA. (2002). *Disaster Mitigation for Sustainable Livelihoods Programme*. RAVA (Risk and Vulnerability Assessment for the Western Cape). University of Cape Town.

Republic of South Africa. (1998). Act on National Water, Act 36 of 1998. *Government Gazette of South Africa,* 19182. August 1998.

Republic of South Africa. (2005). *National Disaster Management Act: Policy Framework*. Notice 654 of 2005. Pretoria. Government Printer.

RHP. (2012). *Biomonitoring of the Crocodile River.* River Health Programme (RHP). Department of Water and Forestry, Pretoria.

Robayo, O. and Maidment, D.R. (2005). *Map to map: converting a NEXRAD rainfall map into a flood inundation map.* Austin: Centre for Research in Water Resources. Available from http://www.crwr.utexas.edu/reports/pdf/2005/rtp05-01.pdf

Robb, L.J., Brandl, G., Anhaeusser, C.R., and Poujol, M., 2006. Archaean Granitoid Intrusions. [In: Johnson, M.R., Anhaeusser, C.R. and Thomas, R.J. (eds.). *The Geology of South Africa.* Geological Society of South Africa, Johannesburg/Council for Geoscience, Pretoria, 57-94.]

Roux, D.J., Kleynhans, C.J., Thirion, C., Hill, L., Engelbrecht, J.S., Deacon, A.R., and Kemper, N.P. (1999). Adaptive assessment and management of riverine ecosystems: The Crocodile/Elands River case study. *Water SA*, 25(4), 501-512.

Roux, F. and Selepe, M. (2013). *Ecostatus of the Crocodile River Catchment, Inkomati River System.* Submitted to the Inkomati Catchment Management Agency.

Sakulski, D. (2007). Spatial and temporal frequency and distribution of hazardous events over South African territory for the period between years 1800 and 1995 based on 'CAELUM' document. Pretoria: Cooperation Unit for Southern Africa, United Nations University.

SANBI. (2009). *Updating national land cover*. Pretoria: SANBI. Available from: <u>http://bgis.sanbi.org/landcover/Landcover2009.pdf</u>

SANBI. (2010). *National land cover 2009.* Pretoria: SANBI. Available from: <u>http://bgis.sanbi.org/landcover/project.asp</u>

Sane, M. and Huokuna, M. (2008). *Procedure for identifying automatically possible flood risk areas.* Paper presented at the Thematic Workshop for Flood Mapping of the World Meteorological Organisation, Dublin.

SANRAL. (2012). *Wetlands Report.* Proposed Construction of P166 Road in Mbombela, Mpumalanga. A Specialist Report for the South African National Roads Agency Ltd (SANRAL), prepared by SSI Environmental.

Saraiva Okello, A.M.L., Masih, I., Uhlenbrook, S., Jewitt, G.W.P., van der Zaag, P., Riddell, E. (2015). Drivers of spatial and temporal variability of streamflow. *Hydrology and Earth System Sciences*, 19, 657-673.

Satterthwaite, D., Huq, S., Pelling, M., Reid, H. and Lankao, P. (2007). *Adapting to Climate Change in Urban Areas.* International Institute for Environment and Development, London.

Schoeman, F, Newby, T.S., Thompson, M.W., and Van den Berg, E.C. (2010). *South African National Land-cover Change Map.* Publication No GW/A/2010/47. Pretoria: Institute for Soil, Climate and Water, Agriculture Research Council.

Schulze, R.E. (2011). A 2011 Perspective on Climate Change and the South African Water Sector. Water Research Commission, Pretoria, RSA, WRC Report TT 518/12.

Schulze, R.E. (2011). South Africa: A Brief Overview. [In: Schulze, R.E. 2011. A 2011 Perspective on Climate Change and the South African Water Sector. Water Research Commission, Pretoria, RSA, WRC Report TT 518/12, Chapter 1.2, 7-12.]

Schumann, G., Bates, P., Horritt, M., Matgen, P. and Pappenberger, F. (2009). Progress in integration of remote sensing-derived flood extent and stage data and hydraulic models. *Reviews of Geophysics*, 47(4), 1-20, RG4001, doi: 10.1029/2008RG000274.

Scoones, I. (1996). *Hazards and Opportunities: Farming livelihoods in Dryland Africa: Lessons from Zimbabwe*. International Institute for Environment and Development, London.

Seth, A., Rauscher, S.A. Rojas, M., Giannini, A., and Camargo, S.J. (2011). Enhanced spring convective barrier for monsoons in a warmer world? *Climatic Change*, 104(2), 403-414.

Shamaoma, H., Kerle, N., and Alkema, D. (2006). *Extraction of flood-modelling related base-data from multi-source remote sensing imagery.* Paper delivered at ISPRS Commission VII Mid-term Symposium - Remote Sensing: From Pixel to ProcessesII conference, Enschede.

Shepherd, T.G. (2014). Atmospheric circulation as a source of uncertainty in climate change projections. *Nature Geoscience*, 7, 703-708.

Sherman, L. K. (1949). The unit hydrograph method. [In: *Physics of the Earth*, O. E. Menizer, ed. Dover Publications, Inc., New York, New York, 514-525.]

Shongwe, M.E., van Oldenborgh, G.J., van den Hurk, B.J.J.M., de Boer, B., Coelho, C.A.S., van Aalst, M.K. (2009). Projected changes in mean and extreme precipitation in Africa under global warming. Part I: Southern Africa. *Journal of Climate*, 22(13), 3819-3837.

Shrestha, R. R., Theobald, S., and Nestmann, F. (2002). *Flood Risk Modeling of Babai River in Nepal.* International Conference on Flood Estimation, International Commission for the Hydrology of Rhine Basin, Berne.

Singh, P. V. (1995). Watershed modelling. [In: *Computer Models of Watershed Hydrology*, ed. V. P. Singh, 1-22. Colorado: Water resources publications.]

Singh, V. and Frevert, D. (2006). *Watershed Models.* Taylor and Francis, Boca Raton, Fla. 680 pp.

Smith, K. (2004). *Environmental hazards: assessing risk and reducing disaster.* Routledge Physical Environment Series. London, New York. Routledge

Smith, L.C. (2002). Emerging applications of Interferometric Synthetic Aperture Radar (InSAR) in Geomorphology and Hydrology. *Annals of the Association of American Geographers*, 92, 385-398.

Smithson, P., Addison, K., and Atkinson, K. (2002). *Fundamentals of the Physical Environment*. London: Routledge.

Steyn, P.C.L. (1984). *The relationship between the 300hPa circulation patterns and rainfall classification in the Bethlehem region Bethlehem.* Project Report No.24. Pretoria, South African Weather Bureau.

Tadross, M., Hewitson, B.C.M and Usman, M.T. (2005). The inter-annual variability on the onset of the maize growing season over South Africa and Zimbabwe. *Journal of Climate*, 18(16), 3356-3372.

Tadross, M., Suarez, P., Lotsch, A., Hachigonta, S., Mdoka, M., Unganai, L. Lucio, F., Kamdonyo, D., and Muchinda, M. (2009). Growing-season rainfall and scenarios of future change in southeast Africa: Implications for cultivating maize. *Climate Research,* 40(2-3), 147-161.

Taubenböck, H., Wurm, M., Netzband, M, Zwenzner, H., Roth, A., Rahman, A., and Dech, S. (2011). Flood risks in urbanized areas – multi-sensoral approaches using remotely sensed data for risk assessment. *Natural Hazards and Earth Systems Science*, 11, 341-444.

Tedela, N.H. (2009). *Rainfall-Runoff Relationships for Small, Mountainous, Forested Watersheds in the Eastern United States.* A PhD Dissertation Submitted to The University of Georgia, Athens. Thomas, D.S.G., Twyman, C., Osbahr, H., and Hewitson, B. (2007). Adaptation to climate change and variability: Farmer responses to intra-seasonal precipitation trends in South Africa. *Climatic Change*, 83(3), 301-322.

Thompson, M. (1996). A standard land-cover classification scheme for remotesensing applications in South Africa. *South African Journal of Science*, 92, 34-42.

Tolland, L., Cathcart, J., and Russell, S. (1998). Estimating the Q100 in British Columbia: A Practical Problem in Forest Hydrology. *Journal of the American Water Resources Association*, 4(4), 787-794.

Turner, B.L., Kasperson, R.E., Matson, P.E., McCarthy, J.J., Corell, R.W., Christensen, L., Eckley, N., Kasperson, J.X., Luerse, A., Martellog, M.L., Polsky, C., Pulsipher, A., and Schiller, A. (2003). A framework for Vulnerability Analysis in Sustainability Science. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 100, 8074-8079.

Tyson, P.D. and Preston-Whyte, R.A. (2000). *The weather and climate of Southern Africa*. Cape Town: Oxford University Press.

UNISDR. (2002). *Living with Risk: A Global Review of Disaster Reduction Initiatives.* United Nations International Strategy for Disaster Reduction, UN Publications, Geneva, Switzerland. UN/ISDR (United Nations/International Strategy for Disaster Reduction)

UNISDR. (2004). *Living with Risk. A Global Review of Disaster Reduction Initiatives.* ISDR (International Strategy for Disaster Reduction). <u>www.unisdr.org</u>.

UNISDR. (2010). *Terminology: Basic terms and disaster risk reduction.* Geneva: ISDR (International Strategy for Disaster Reduction). Available from: http://www.unisdr.org/eng/library/lib-terminology-eng%20home.htm

US Army Corps of Engineers. (2009). *HEC-GeoRAS: GIS Tools for Support of HEC-RAS using ArcGIS. User Manual.* Hydrologic Engineering Center (HEC), California.

US Army Corps of Engineers. (2010). *River Analysis System User Manual: Version 4.1.* Hydrologic Engineering Center (HEC), California.

USGS. (2009). Floods: Recurrence intervals and 100-year floods. Virginia: USGS National Center. Available from: http://ga.water.usgs.gov/edu/100yearflood.floods.html

Vanderkimpen, P. and Peeters, P. (2008). Flood Modeling for risk evaluation - a MIKE FLOOD sensitivity analysis. *Proceedings of the International Conference on Fluvial Hydraulics*, Cesme, Izmir, Turkey, September 3-5, 2008: River flow 2008. pp. 2335-2344.

Viglione, A., and Blöschl G. (2009). On the role of storm duration in the mapping of rainfall to flood return periods. *Hydrological and Earth System Sciences*, 13, 205-216.

Vogel, C. and Mgquba, S. (2004). Living with environmental risks and change in Alexandra Township. *South African Geographical Journal*, 86(1), 30-38.

Vorosmarty, C.J., McIntyre, P.B., Gessner, M.O., Dudgeon, D. and Prusevich, A. (2010). Global Threats to Human Water Security and River Biodiversity. *Nature*, 467, 555-561.

Waugh, D. (2009). *Geography, an integrated approach*. Cheltenham: Nelson Thornes.

Werth, S., and Guntner, A. (2010). Calibration analysis for water storage variability of the global hydrological model WGHM. *Hydrology and Earth System Sciences,* 14, 59-78.

White, I.D., Mottershead, D.N., and Harrison, S.J. (1992). *Environmental Systems: An introductory text*. London: Chapman and Hall.

Widen-Nilsson, E., Gong, L., Halldin, S., and Xu, C.-Y. (2009). Model performance and parameter behavior for varying time aggregations and evaluation criteria in the WASMOD-M global water balance model. *Water Resources Research*, 45(5), pp5418, doi: 10.1029/2007WR006695.

Williams, W.A., Jensen, M.E., Winne, J.C., and Redmond, R.L. (2000). An Automated Technique for Delineating and Characterizing Valley-Bottom Settings. *Environmental Monitoring and Assessment,* 64(1), 105-114.

Winsemius, H.C. (2013). A framework for global river flood risk assessments. *Hydrology and Earth System Sciences*, 17, 1871-1892.

Wisner, B., Blaikie, P., Cannon, T., and Davis, I. (2004). *At risk: Natural hazards, people's vulnerability and disasters*. New York: Routledge.

Wisner, P.E., Kassem, A.M., and Cheung, P.W. (1982). *Analysis of dual drainage systems by OTTSWMM.* 1st International Seminar on Urban Drainage Systems, Southampton, England, pp. 2.93-2.101.

Wolman, M.G. (1971). Evaluating alternative techniques of floodplain mapping. *Water Resources Researches*, 7, 1383-1392.

World Bank. (2000). Attacking Poverty. Oxford University Press, New York.

WRC, 2011. *Water Resources of South Africa, 2005 Study. User's Guide. Version* 2. Water Research Commission (WRC), TT 513/11.

Wright, J.M. (2008). *Floodplain management: Principles and current practices.* Knoxville: University of Tennessee.

Xu, Y., and Booij, M.J. (2007). Propagation of discharge uncertainty in a flood damage model for the Meuse River. [In: *Flood risk management in Europe - Innovation in policy and practice,* edited by: Begum, S., Stive, M. J. F., and Hall, J. W., Springer, Dordrecht, 293-310.]

Zerger, A. (2002). Examining GIS decision utility for natural hazard risk modelling. *Environmental Modelling and Software*, 17, 287-294.

Ziervogel, G., New, M., Archer van Garderen, E., Midgley, G., Taylor, A., Hamann, R., Stuart-Hill, S., Myers, J. and Warburton, M. (2014). Climate change impacts and adaptation in South Africa. *Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews: Climate Change*, 5(5): 605-620.

Zimmerman, M. (2008). *Data mining for flood mapping*. Paper delivered at the World Meteorological Organisation's Expert Group Meeting on Flood Mapping, Geneva.

Zschau, J. and Küppers, A.N. (2003). *Early Warning Systems for Natural Disaster Reduction*. Springer, Berlin.

APPENDIX A: SUPPORTING INFORMATION

APPENDIX A: SUPPORTING INFORMATION

A.1 Estimating Future Floods – The Rainfall-Runoff Relationship

The overall feature of the distribution of Mean Annual Precipitation (MAP) is that it decreases fairly uniformly westwards from the escarpment across the interior plateau of South Africa (as illustrated in Figure 3.11 in Section 3.3.1). Between the escarpment and the Indian Ocean in both the southern and the eastern coastal margins, there is the expected complexity of rainfall patterns induced by irregularities of terrain (*S*chulze, 2011). According to Lynch (2004), approximately 20% of South Africa's land surface area receives less than 200 mm MAP, and 47% receives less than 400 mm MAP. Only about 9% of South Africa receives a MAP in excess of 800 mm (Lynch, 2004).

In hydrology, a fundamental truism is that the runoff response to rainfall is nonlinear, with a larger proportion of rainfall being converted to runoff when a catchment is wetter, either because a region is inherently in a high rainfall zone or because the soil water content just prior to a rainfall event may have been high as a result of previous rainfall. As the runoff-rainfall relationship is a nonlinear one, any changes in rainfall may be amplified in its runoff responses (*Schulze*, 2011). The nonlinearity of implies that there is low predictability of the behaviour of the system.

Another factor affecting the rainfall-runoff relationship is the size of the catchment. Small homogeneous catchments give simple rainfall-runoff relationships but the case is different with large catchments (of national or international scale), or with catchment of complex or variable shapes. In the intermediate scale, of both area and time, rainfall-runoff relationships are complicated due to physical factors (such as geology) and hydrological factors (such as evaporation, infiltration and groundwater flow) (Nicandrou, 2010). In addition, human activity such as engineering developments, land-use types and urbanisation also have an impact on the rainfall-runoff relationships. Runoff patterns reflect a combination of rainfall characteristics (e.g. the amount of rainfall, its intensity, the concentration of the rainfall season and the persistence of rain days, i.e. whether rain falls on consecutive days causing high runoff responses, or as isolated events) and soil characteristics (e.g. water holding capacity, drainage rates) (Lynch, 2004). In addition, runoff patterns also depend on other catchment characteristics. These include the land cover, the terrain, the drainage pattern and density.

The heterogeneous spatial and temporal distributions of rainfall result in a low overall conversion rate of rainfall to runoff; an average of ~ 9% of rainfall is converted to runoff for South Africa as a whole (Schulze, 2011). Figure A.1 shows that over much of the interior of South Africa the ratio of Mean Annual Runoff (MAR) to MAP is less than 10%, with significant tracts in the west at less than 5% and only small parts exceeding 20%. The eastern region of the country has the highest number of areas where the MAR to MAP ratio is greater than 20%. This low conversion rate is the consequence as much of an overall paucity of rainfall as it is of very high evaporative demand (Schulze, 2011). In addition, the land surface and rainfall properties also have an impact on the conversion rate. The ratio of MAR to MAP is also known as the runoff coefficient.



Figure A.1: Ratios of MAR to MAP over South Africa, Illustrating the Low Conversion Rate of Rainfall to Runoff (Schulze, 2011). The Inkomati catchment is circled in red.

As shown in Figure A.1, the runoff coefficient in the Inkomati catchment (circled in red) varies between 10% and 20%, while a smaller portion of a catchment has a runoff coefficient between 20% and 40%. This implies that a minimum of 10% and a maximum of 40% of rainfall in the catchment is converted to runoff. Therefore, in some areas, where 40% of rainfall is converted to runoff, high rainfall events are likely to increase the risk of flooding. However, it is important to note that the MAR shown above is an average, and will therefore vary spatially within the catchment. In addition, the MAR will also vary between rainfall events, as rainfall characteristics such as duration and intensity also impact the conversion of MAP to MAR.

A.2 Data for Flood Scenarios

The runoff (m³/s) for the two base runoff scenarios is shown in Table A.1, where X represents the February 2009 flood event, and Y represents the January 2012 flood event. The two runoff scenarios identified in Chapter 6 (i.e. a 5% and 15% increase in runoff) were applied to each of the base scenarios (i.e. columns 3 and 4), resulting in a total of four scenarios - where X1 and Y1 represent a 5% increase in runoff for base scenario X and Y respectively, and X2 and Y2 represent a 15% increase in Chapter 6, the 99.419 m³/s discharge recorded at the X2H013 gauging station will also be used for the hydraulic modelling (and is shown as Scenario Z). The resulting runoff for the seven identified flood events is provided in Table A.1. Four values. As multiple readings are captured each day, only four time periods are shown in Table A.1, which were taken at equal time spacing throughout the day.

DAY	TIME	Х	Y	X1	Y1	X2	Y2	Z
1	1	23.447	20.992	24.619	22.042	26.964	24.141	2.820
	2	19.576	23.734	20.554	24.920	22.512	27.294	2.935
	3	23.822	24.788	25.013	26.027	27.395	28.506	2.763
	4	33.632	23.963	35.314	25.161	38.677	27.557	2.722
2	1	30.907	23.743	32.452	24.930	35.543	27.304	2.681
	2	28.347	23.523	29.765	24.699	32.599	27.051	2.655
	3	26.660	22.612	27.992	23.742	30.658	26.003	2.629
	4	23.579	21.700	24.758	22.785	27.116	24.955	2.533
3	1	21.168	20.690	22.226	21.724	24.343	23.793	2.533
	2	20.448	19.679	21.470	20.663	23.515	22.631	2.533
	3	21.293	18.684	22.358	19.618	24.487	21.487	2.533

Table A.1: Two Base and Four Flood Scenarios for Hydraulic Modelling (Values for Flood X (Feb 2009) and Flood Y (Jan 2012) are given as m³/s)

	4	21.157	17.689	22.215	18.573	24.331	20.342	2.533
4	1	21.899	17.129	22.994	17.985	25.184	19.698	2.436
	2	25.091	17.535	26.346	18.412	28.855	20.165	2.443
	3	26.413	17.129	27.734	17.985	30.375	19.698	2.449
	4	28.654	17.975	30.086	18.873	32.952	20.671	2.526
5	1	32.507	21.443	34.132	22.515	37.383	24.659	2.862
-	2	50.442	30.053	52.964	31.555	58.009	34,561	3.009
	3	42 865	24 324	45 008	25 540	49 294	27 972	2 827
	4	74 885	23.837	78 629	25.029	86 117	27 413	2 735
6	1	88 131	23 211	92 538	24 372	101 351	26 693	2 669
Ŭ	2	89.022	22 240	93 473	23 352	102 375	25.576	2.000
	3	88 3/10	21 231	92 766	20.002	101.601	20.070	2.000
	1	82 875	20.528	87.019	21 554	95 307	23.607	2.577
7	- - 1	87.030	10.350	01 301	20.318	100.005	23.007	2.300
'	2	73 008	19.000	77 608	20.010	85.008	22.235	2.470
	2	69.542	19.075	71.090	10 740	79 922	21.930	2.449
	3	69.452	17.047	71.909	19.740	70.023	21.020	2.449
0	4	61 170	17.947	64.007	10.044	70.375	20.039	2.449
0	1	51.170	19.314	64.237	20.280	70.355	22.211	2.377
	2	54.012	20.876	56.713	21.920	62.114	24.007	2.883
	3	50.740	20.470	53.277	21.494	58.351	23.541	3.873
0	4	49.374	27.431	51.843	28.803	56.780	31.546	3.553
9	1	47.417	72.770	49.788	76.408	54.530	83.685	3.336
	2	51.629	63.684	54.211	66.868	59.374	/3.23/	3.118
	3	67.459	36.923	70.832	38.769	11.578	42.461	2.918
	4	56.338	32.610	59.155	34.241	64.789	37.502	2.776
10	1	50.334	28.541	52.850	29.968	57.884	32.822	2.603
	2	67.720	25.109	71.106	26.364	77.878	28.875	2.590
	3	92.379	23.125	96.998	24.281	106.235	26.594	2.577
	4	119.967	21.581	125.965	22.660	137.962	24.818	2.513
11	1	115.051	24.316	120.804	25.532	132.309	27.964	2.612
	2	102.596	65.719	107.725	69.005	117.985	75.576	2.992
	3	98.313	90.133	103.229	94.640	113.060	103.653	3.688
	4	95.592	113.067	100.371	118.720	109.930	130.027	5.655
12	1	95.639	136.000	100.421	142.800	109.985	156.400	12.190
	2	95.682	166.057	100.466	174.360	110.034	190.966	36.695
	3	92.506	183.783	97.131	192.973	106.382	211.351	39.270
	4	90.128	241.750	94.634	253.838	103.647	278.013	50.706
13	1	88.939	234.848	93.386	246.590	102.280	270.075	72.565
	2	87.750	219.333	92.138	230.300	100.913	252.233	99.419
	3	84.282	207.267	88.496	217.630	96.924	238.357	98.888
	4	80.814	194.500	84.855	204.225	92.936	223.675	93.972
14	1	75.924	174.667	79.720	183.400	87.312	200.867	84.649
	2	71.033	159.467	74.585	167.440	81.688	183.387	78.111
	3	64.276	154.667	67.490	162.400	73.917	177.867	76.202
	4	61.256	148.533	64.319	155.960	70.444	170.813	67.308
15	1	59.703	141.067	62.688	148.120	68.658	162.227	61.972
	2	58.150	135.800	61.058	142.590	66.873	156.170	56.011
	3	54.019	132.533	56.720	139.160	62.122	152.413	51.732
	4	50.368	125.667	52.886	131.950	57.923	144.517	48.012
16	1	47.217	121.267	49.578	127.330	54.300	139.457	39.632
	2	51.499	119.658	54.073	125.641	59.223	137.607	34.678
	3	59.163	118.853	62.121	124.796	68.037	136.681	33.338
	4	61.165	118.049	64.224	123.951	70.340	135.756	31.655
17	1	54.223	115.699	56.934	121.484	62.356	133.054	31.379
	2	50.490	115.850	53.015	121.643	58.064	133.228	30.376
	3	45.712	114.799	47.998	120.539	52.569	132.019	29.925
	4	43.127	112.850	45.283	118.493	49.596	129.778	28.683
18	1	42.486	104.449	44.610	109.671	48.859	120.116	26.291
	2	44.852	100.091	47.095	105.096	51,580	115,105	25.144
	3	66.930	95.391	70.277	100.161	76.970	109.700	25.144
	4	64,177	94,139	67,385	98,846	73,803	108,260	27.246
	•	0	000	01.000	00.010	10.000	100.200	21.210

19	1	57.267	102.416	60.130	107.537	65.857	117.778	50.766
	2	50.184	118.605	52.693	124.535	57.712	136.395	43.363
	3	47.217	128.357	49.578	134.775	54.300	147.611	41.489
	4	45.712	131.893	47.998	138.488	52.569	151.677	41.030
20	1	45.413	123.786	47.684	129.975	52.225	142.354	39.114
	2	43.126	126.479	45.282	132.803	49.594	145.451	36.255
	3	42.427	119.100	44.548	125.055	48.791	136.965	35.458
	4	40.919	111.270	42.965	116.833	47.057	127.960	32.212

APPENDIX B: FLOOD HAZARD AND SPATIAL RISK MAPPING

APPENDIX B: FLOOD HAZARD AND SPATIAL RISK MAPPING

To enable the development of flood hazard maps and spatial flood risk mapping, two broad processes were conducted, namely hydraulic modelling and spatial flood risk assessment. This appendix lays out the steps that were taken for the hydraulic modelling, and the spatial flood risk assessment. Largely, this can be summarised as follows:

- A. Hydraulic modelling, involving three broad phases:
 - Preparing data for HEC-RAS 4.1.0 hydraulic modelling using ArcGIS 10.3.1 and the HEC-GeoRAS extension
 - 2. Conducting the hydraulic analysis in HEC-RAS 4.1.0
 - 3. Processing the HEC-RAS 4.1.0 results in ArcGIS 10.3.1 and the HEC-GeoRAS extension
- B. Spatial risk assessment in ArcGIS 10.3.1

This appendix does not contain a detailed description of the steps that were taken, but merely provides a brief step-by-step process description. A detailed description can be obtained from US Army Corps of Engineers (2009, 2010), and Leon (2013).

B.1 Hydraulic Modelling

STEP 1: HEC-GeoRAS Pre-Processing

- 1. Preparation of the Raster DEM in ArcGIS
 - a. The two ASTER DEMs (as per Chapter 4.2.2) were merged to form one DEM
 - b. The coordinate system was changed from WGS 1984 to WGS 1984 World Mercator (i.e. degrees to metres)
- 2. HEC-GeoRAS Pre-processing was conducted
 - a. Setting up Layer and analysis environment in RAS Geometry
 - b. Creating RAS Layers:
 - i. river center line and 3D center line the river consisted of 5 reaches



- ii. river banks (left and right)
- iii. flow paths (channel, left and right)
- iv. cross sections and 3D layer for XS cutlines



c. Assigning Manning's n values (US Army Corps of Engineers, 2010) to cross-sections based on land use types, as per the table.

Land-use Type	Natural	Waterbodies	Cultivation	Degraded	Urban (Built-up)
Manning's n Value	0.055	0.035	0.055	0.030	0.050

3. Generate HEC-RAS Import file using HEC-GeoRAS

STEP 2: HEC-RAS Modelling

1. Importing import file into HEC-RAS



- 2. Running HEC-RAS
 - a. The flow data were entered (in m³/s), and a steady analysis was prepared for the 7 profiles (i.e. flood events identified in Section 6.3).

PF1	PF2	PF3	PF4	PF5	PF6	PF7
119.9669	241.7500	125.9652	253.8375	137.9619	278.0125	99.4190

b. Boundary conditions were defined as normal depth



- c. 7 water surface profiles were computed
- 3. The HEC-RAS export file was developed.

STEP 3: HEC-GeoRAS Post-Processing

- 1. Converting the RAS SDF to XML using HEC-GeoRAS
- 2. Setup up GeoRAS to import the converted RAS data

Convert RAS Export SDF to XML							
RAS SDF File:	C:\Users\siyasanga\Desktop\Siya\RAS2GIS\Crocodile1.RASexpc	2					
RAS XML File:	C:\Users\siyasanga\Desktop\Siya\RAS2GIS\Crocodile1.RASexpc OK Close						

- 3. Import the converted RAS data
- 4. Post-processing of RAS results and floodplain mapping using HEC-GeoRAS

a. Developing Stream Network, Cross Section and Bounding Polygon



b. Developing water surface and flood inundation polygons. The standard method (i.e. developing a water surface TIN and floodplain inundation polygon for each water surface profiles using HEC-GeoRAS) could not be used due to the resolution of the TIN (as discussed in Section 4.2.).



Using raster instead of TIN was not possible, as several challenges were experienced which could not be solved. Therefore, the water extent

polygons (which are relevant for this dissertation) were created in ArcGIS manually by using following method:



i. Extract data from the water surface extent for all 7 water profiles

ii. Create polygons for each of the 7 profiles, joining the relevant water surface extent points



B.2 Spatial Risk Assessment

This process that was undertaken for the spatial flood risk assessment is provided in Section 4.5. Briefly, this involved:

- Flood extent mapping consisting of identifying the land use areas under the potential influence of a flood of a particular discharge. For this, vulnerability maps are prepared by clipping the land use themes of the floodplains with the flood area polygons for each of the flood events.
- 2. Identifying flood prone areas For this, the flood risk maps are prepared by overlaying all the flood extent polygons with the land use map.
- 3. Spatial Risk Analysis This involved the analysis of the likelihood of an area to be flooded - i.e. the likelihood of an area to be flooded by a particular discharge (shown by polygons). This was enabled by a risk rating exercise. ArcGIS enables the identification of different risk classes by shading polygons red for a high risk area, orange for medium risk, and green for low risk. As there were 7 profiles modelled, the risk categories were determined as follows.

Risk Categori	es	Description
Minimal		Intersected by 1 polygon
Low		Intersected by 2 polygons
Low-Medium		Intersected by 3 polygons
Medium		Intersected by 4 polygons
Medium-High		Intersected by 5 polygons
High		Intersected by 6 polygons
Very High		Intersected by 7 polygons

4. A flood risk assessment, which uses the risk categories above, as well as the discharge rates associated with the polygons, and describes the areas along the Crocodile River that are at risk. This is provided in Chapter 8.